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Review of the year 2021

During 2021, we took the first stepsin Finnair's
recovery from the pandemic. We carried 29 million
passengers during the year, Our revenue improved
slightly year-on-year and totaled 838.4 million
euros, still less than 30 per cent of the 2019 level. The
comparable operating result for the year remained
heavily negative at-469.9 million euros.

The gradual recovery of passenger traffic started
inthe latter half of 2021 as vaccination coverage
improved and travel restrictions were partially
removed. Pent-up demand was reflected in
increased passenger numbers and improved
bookings starting from late summer. Our long-haul
passenger numbers also started to recover as

the United States, Thailand, Singapore, and Indla
opened for travel. We launched our direct services
from Stockholm to the United States and Thailand,
which was amajor new initiative for us. At the end
of Q4, the impacts of the Omicron variant beganto
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be visible, as many countries tightened their travel
restrictions in December.

Due fo globat supply chain disruptions, cargo
demand was exceptionally strong throughout
the year, and cargo accounted for 40 per cent of
Finnair's revenue.

We continued our comprehensive financing
measures throughout the year. In early 2021,

we signed an agreement on a 400-million-

euro hybrid loan with the State of Finland. This
facility is still undrawn, but it will have a stabilising
effect on Finnair's balance sheet. We also
implemented an over 400-million-US dollar sale
and leaseback arrangement covering four Airbus
A350 aircraft and issued a 400-million-euro bond.
The management and the board want to thank
sincerely both the state owner and all our other
investors for the trust they have placedin us. We

had ¢.116,000 shareholders ot the end 2021, and
the number grew by more than 35 per cent year-
on-year.

Qur cost savings programme proceeded well

and we reached our target of 200 million euros of
permanent annual cost savings, based on 2019
volumes. The achieved cost savings decreased our
{oss already in 2021, and their full run-rate impact
will be visible starting from 2022. Despite achieving
the target, we will continue our cost savings work
through continuous operational improvement

and efficiency.

Afterthe period, we introduced our new long-
haul customer experience, for whichwe are
renewing the cabins of all our long-haul aircraft,
bothin business and economy class, and are
introducing a new premium economy travel class.
This 200-million-euro investment has beenin

development foryears and itis essential to secure
our competitiveness. Together with the terminal
expansion at Helsinki-Vantaa airport, our cabin
renewal enables us fo offer a modern premium
product to our customers.

Our net promoter score remained at a high level,
38, for the whole year. Finnair was chosen as the
best airline in Northern Europe in the Skytrax
customer survey for the eleventh consecutive
time, for which we are grateful o our customers.
Ramping up flights after along period of low traffic
brought operational challenges, which were
further amplified by the unanticipated impacts

of the Omicron variant at the end of the year. This
was reflected in weaker on-time performance and
incongestion in our customer service channels
when many customers changed their travel dates.
This year, ensuring high-quality customer service
and on-time performance are in special focus for
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us, as they are Integral for Finnalr's recovery from
the pandemic.

During the year, we advanced our sustainability
targets. Together with other members of the
oneworld Alliance, we agreed to jointly purchase
sustainable aviation fuel. We dismantled and
recycled one of the oldest A319-aircraft in our
fleet. This provided work for our employees at
Finnair Technical Services during a period of

low traffic and gave us valuable information on
recycling opportunities of airplanes: ¢.99% of the
aircraft materials were reutilised. We successfully
continued our weight and fuel programme,
improving our flight efficiency. Our actions related
1o social responsibility consisted of e.g, supporting
the re-employment of employees who were made
redundantin 2020 and supporting the wellbeing of
employees onlong-term furloughs.

As the Omicron wave is waning, the pandemicis
changing to an endemic. We are preparing for

the trafficin summer 2022 and the opening of our
new long-haul routes to Busan, Dallas, Seattle, and
Tokyo Haneda. We estimate that, aside from China
and Hong Kong, by next summer we will be closer
to anormal operating environment.

The prolonged pandemic and the rapid changes
in our operating environment were wearing for
our personnel. Even though I'm grateful that we
were able to provide a safe and healthy working
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environment for them, we have been forced to
continue the very unfortunate furloughs as there
still has not been enough work for everyone. lwant
to deliver my special thanks o the entire Finnair
team for their commitment and for delivering a
high-quality customer experience under these
strenuous circumstances. | believe the operating
environment this year will be more positive for our
employees as we continue to take significant steps
forward in our recovery from the pandemic.

Topl Manner,
President and CEQ
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THE REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Business model and

operational environment

Finnair is a network alrline that specialises In
passenger and cargo traffic between Asia and
Europe. It also offers package tours underits
Aurinkomatkat-Suntours (later Aurinkomatkat)
brand. The cornerstone of Finnair's strategy isits
geographical position, which confers a competitive
advantage because it enables the fastest
connectionsin the growing market of air traffic
between Asia and Europe.

The Finnair Plus loyalty programme strengthens
engagement with customers and generates
valuable customer data. Itis one of Finland'’s
leading loyalty programmes with over 3.5 million
members. The number of members has grown

Finnair — Annual Report 2021

by over 50% since 2017 and Finnair was able to
increase the number despite the challenging

operational and market environment during 2021.

The programme currently has ¢, 150 partners.

Finnair's business isimpacted by the four
megatrends described in the adjacent picture.
They offer numerous opportunities, but also add
new requirements for conducting business.

Finnair's business is cyclical innature, andin
addition o long-term megatrends, it is heavily
influenced by external factors described in the
picture onthe next pagé.

Megatrendsimpacting Finnair's business

the United
iesin Asi

Read more on Finnair's website.
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Of these external factors, the COVID-19 pandemic
continued fo have asignificantly negative

impact on Finnair's business in 2021. Even though
vaccinations against the virus were available from
early 2021, many countries continued to heavily
restrict travelling. As Finnair continued to adjust
its operations, both temporary and permanent
{ayoffs impacted most Finnair personnelin 2021. In
addition, the implementation of other significant
cost adjustment measures — which were volume-
driven, but also permanent - continued in order to
minimise losses caused by limited operations as
well as fo secure the company’s competitiveness
and ability to operate from a more efficient cost
base as passenger traffic gradually started to
recover in the second half of 2021.

TheReporiof the
Board of Directors

In 2021, Finnair continued its extensive financing
programme, consisting of e.g. anunsecured and
currently undrawn hybrid loan agreement of up to
400 million euros signed with the State of Finland,
anew 400-million-euro unsecured senior bond,
which refinanced the previous senior bond of 200
million euros and a sale and leaseback transaction
of four A350 aircraft resulting in cash proceeds of
more than 400 million US dollars. The company
also reached the targeted permanent, annual cost
savings of ¢. 200 million euros by 2022, calculated
based on 2019 operational volumes. After this, it
will continue to seek savings through continuous
operationalimprovement and efficiency.

Finnalr - Annual Report 2021
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In the current three forecast scenarios, demand
and revenue are expected o recover somewhat
more slowly during 2022 than estimated in the
2020 financial statements. This is caused by the
prolonged impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
onfravel restrictions. The company, however, still
estimates inits base scenario that the capacity,
measured in ASKs, will reach 2019 levels in 2023,

Business environment
in 2021

The COVID-19 pandemic dramatically impacted
the global aviation sector also in 2021. Even though
the improved vaccination coverage enabled a
gradual ramp-up and less restricted travel starting
inthe summerto Europe, and laterin the year to
eg, the United States, Thailand, Singapore and
India, also Finnair was forced to significantly cut its
capacity and operate a limited network due to the
continued fravel restrictions and lack of demand.
The annual capacity {measured in ASKs) was
slightly lowerthan in 2020.

Measured in ASKs, the scheduled market capacity
between origin Helsinki and Finnair's European
destinations decreased by 14.5 per cent (-68.7)
compared to 2020, as the pandemic impact was
not visible before the end of Q1 2020. Demand on
European and domestic routes was soft due to the
COVID-19-related strict travel restrictions especially
in early 2021 even though the situation improved

External factors influencing airlines

CHANGES IN CONSUMER PREFERENCE, EXPECTATIONS,
PURCHASING PATTERNS AND DEMOGRAPHICS

M
 PRICEOF GLOBAL
B ETrUEL ECONOMIC CYCLES /-"'I(i
SEASONALITYIN
$£ Eﬁf&ANGE LeiSUREAND BUSINESS ()
TRAVEL
1 ! WEATHER,
AIA POLITICAL ENVIRONMENT NATURAL DISASTERS, .ﬁ.
AND REGULATION L PANDEMICS AND OTHER
| | EXTERNAL SHOCKS

starting from late summer because of improved
vaccination coverage. Direct market capacity
between Finnair’s Asian and European destinations
decreased by 34.8 per cent (-70.5) year-on-year
despite the partially opened travel to Asia during
Q4. Due to continued travel restrictions, demand
between Europe and Finnair's Asian destinations
remained soft.

Finnair engages in closer cooperation with certain
oneworld partners through participation in joint
businesses, namely the Siberian Joint Business
(SJB) on flights between Europe and Japan,

and the Atlantic Joint Businesses (AJB) on flights
between Europe and North America. During the
unprecedented circumstances, Finnairand its JB

partners were working closely fogetherin 2021

to ensure the continued delivery of efficiencies
and customer benefits, despite the severely
reduced cupaciiy and revenue. Further, Finnair
launchediits Joint Business with Juneyao Airlines in
the beginning of July. The carriers will cooperate
commercially on flights between Helsinki and
Shanghai as well as on Chinese and European
routes. The Joint Business demonstrates Finnair's
commiiment to China as a strategic market.

Aurinkomatkat's foreign package holiday offering
was suspended during H1 2021 due to the COVID-19
pandemic and related travel restrictions and
guidelines. Package holidays were produced only
for domestic destinations, which were launched
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“Finnair’s cargo revenue
increased significantly year-
on-year, and even compared to
2019."
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as anew product in autumn 2020. Aurinkomatkat's
foreign package holiday production restarted

in Q3 after a suspension of almost one year with
mainly Mediterranean destinations on offer.In Q4,
the selection was extended with destinations such
as the Canary Islands, the United Arab Emirates
and Thailand due to eased travel restrictions.

The domestic package holidays were alsoin
productionin H2. Even though demand for foreign
package holidays strengthened inH2, and was
primarily focused on the winter season 2021-
2022 as well as summer 2022, it was negatively
impacted by the Omicron variant and related
travel restrictions. The relatively strong demand for
the winter season 2022-2023 suggests, however,
that there is pent-up desire to travel.

The global air freight market was also impacted
by COVID-19 in 2021, as the scheduled passenger
traffic capacity (which provides the volume
available fo carry belly cargo) was down
compared to the pre-pandemic era. Pandemic-
related supply chain disruptions and the lack of

capacity resulted in delivery delays that continued,

however, to benefit air cargo as they resulted in
exceptionally strong demand and surging market
prices. Due to the exceptional demand, amarket
for cargo-only operations to both Asia and North
America remained viable. Finnair was gradually
able fo alsoincrease the number of scheduled

long-haul flights carrying belly cargo despite the
low passengerload factor. Finnair's cargo revenue
increased significantly year-on-year,and even
compared to 2019. Similarly, the total cargo load
factor increased significantly compared to 2020.
Finnair estimates that this cargo demand trend will
continue at least through H12022.

The US dollar, which is the most significant expense
currency for Finnair after the euro, depreciated

by 34 per cent against the euro year-on-year. The
market price of jet fuel was 69.2 per cent higherin
2021thanin the comparison period.
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Capitals

Business activities

Impact

~
/

Human
+ Competent personnel

Intellectual and social

Suppliers andpartners.

Joint businesses (AJB/SJB/ Juneyao}

and dlliance cooperation

- Distribution channels i
Public offairs -

\

Immaterial

Traffic & overflight rights
Cuslomerbase onddata
Quality cerlificalions
Route network

Brand

Financial and material

Adjusted interest-bearing debt € 2,796.6 million
Equity copital € 4757 million

Modern and efficient fleet of 84 aircraft

COOL Nordic Cargo Terminal, Helsinki Hub
Maintenance facilities

Calering facilities

Naturalresources

« Fueluse (jel and ground)

« Energy consumption of facililies

« Wateruse '
+ Purchased goods

» Moterialuse

\ y,
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// L Strategy and values
P . ,

Customerservice and products
Finnair and oneworld global network
Passenger and cargo traffic

Ancillary services

Package tours

Dynamic trovel products

Support services
Catering

Aircraft maintenance
Ground handling
Airline training

goods and services
tmproving cultural, societal and commercial

AW N e

B R

COMMITMENT WORKING
TO CARE Modern TOGETHER
premium .
offering, refailing T
and disiribufion
' Cost efficiency Sustoinability os. i
adifferentioior
SIMPLICITY COURAGE

—_ s oy

T

Increasing value for society
Enabling safe and free movement of people,

interaction

« Participating and inspiring cross-industry
collaboration

« Economic muliiplier effects for the Finnish society

Sustainable growth

Producing direct and indirect employment
(eg.tourism, inlernationat frade and foreign
investments)

Venturing out of our fraditional business
fofind solutions for our core

Producing value for shareholders' invesiments
Increased brond value

Satisfied & competent personnel
= + Equal opportunities for personnel

Q\ « Good governance
-"§ R « Safe and healthy work
\\\\\ + Support and respect of labour and human righls
. Environmentalimpact
«  Airemissions (CO2 and non-CO2)
+ Noise emissions

Liquid waste (de-icing fluids)
Moaterial woste

B RS

/
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Financial performance

in 2021

Revenuein 2021

Finnair's total revenue increased slightly from
the comparison period due to the record cargo
performance in 2021.

Unit revenue (RASK) increased by 8.2 per cent and
amounted to 693 cents (6.41). The RASK Increase
was caused by the decline in ASKs due to the
COVID-19 pandemic; therefore, the strong cargo
operations — of which cargo-only flights did not
generate any ASKs — had an outsize contribution to
theincrease.

Passenger traffic

The COVID-19 pandemic and related travet
restrictions had a significant negative impact on
almost all 2021 passenger troffic figures. As the

Finnalr - Annual Report 2021

pandemic impact was more visible starting from
the end of Q12020, passenger revenue decreased
by 20.3 per cent and traffic capacity, measured in
Available Seat Kilometres (ASK), declined by 6.5
per cent overall against the comparison period.
The number of passengers decreased by 18.2 per
centto 2,852,300 passengers, Traffic measuredin
Revenue Passenger Kilometres (RPK) decreased by
36.5 per cent and the passenger load factor (PLF)
by 20.2 percentage points to 42.8 per cent.

In Asian fraffic, the number of scheduled
passenger flights was limited in 2021 despite eg.,
Thailand, Singapore and India opening for travel
in Q4, and the number of Finnair flights to those
destinations increasing. ASKs were down by 27.5
per cent, and RPKs by 751 per cent. PLF declined
by 409 percentage points fo 21.4 per cent, causing
low passengeryields, but it was supported by

the strong cargo operations and a high cargo

load factor.

Revenue by product

EUR million 2021 2020 Change %
Passengerrevenue 420.8 5281 -20.3
Ancillary revenue 441 623 292
Cargo 3347 1777 883
Travel services 387 611 -36.7
Total 8384 8292 11

Revenue bridge by product
€ million
8292 -107.2

m

& &
& &’ o
S
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Even though the first North Atlantic passenger
flights since June 2020 were restarted inMarch
(only to New York), capacity in North Atlantic traffic
increased by 168.9 per cent year-on-year. The
Chicago and Los Angeles routes were reopened

in June 2021 and the Miami route was reopened for
the winter season. Travel restrictions from Fintand
and Sweden to the United States were eased in Q4,
when Finnair also commenced direct flights from
Stockholm to Miami, Los Angetes and New York.
RPKsincreased by 8.7 per cent Onthe otherhand,
the PLF decreased by 454 percentage points to
30.8 per cent, withlow passenger yields, but the
strong cargo operations also supported the North
Atlantic traffic.

ASKs fell by 8.2 per cent and RPKs by 2.8 per cent
but the PLF increased by 3.7 percentage points to
65.7 per cent in European traffic.

Domestic traffic capacity decreased by 19.2
percent,and RPKs by 11.4 per cent, but the PLF
increased by 5.8 percentage points to 66.0 percent.

Ancillary

Ancillary revenue, consisting of e.g., various service
fees and inflight sales, decreased by 29.2 per cent
due to the COVID-19 impact. Excess baggage and
frequent flyer programme related revenue were
the largest ancillary categories.

Finnalr - Annual Report 2021
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Cargo

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic was also
visible in Finnair’s 2021 cargo volumes, due to the
fimited number of scheduled passenger flights,
even though available scheduled cargo tonne
kilometres increased by 16.9 per cent and revenue
scheduled cargo tonne kilometres increased

by 470 per cent. Cargo-related available tonne
kilometres grew by 36.5 per cent and revenue
tonne kilometres by 589 per cent as they both
include the cargo-only flights, which were
operated mainly between Europe and Asia as well
as between Europe and North America. Finnair
was also able to continue operating scheduled

increased by as much as 88.3 per centyear-on-
year, with December being a record month as
measured by revenue.

Travel services

Travel Services' financial development has been
significantly affected by the COVID-19 pandemic
and the related travel restrictions and guidelines.
During Q1-Q2, only domestic destinations were
in production but in Q3 and Q4, international
package holidays were included in production as
demand improved significantly due to reduced
trave! restrictions. The total number of Travel
Services passengers declined by 0.7 per cent and

Revenue bridge by traffic area

€ million

233 161 42 8384

8292 e
[ =] -80 |
|464
& o>

& & Q‘@"a &z"‘\" f* S
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Asian and North Atlantic passenger flights carrying the load factor in Aurinkomatkat's allotment-based e"&‘ ¢ S

belly cargo, despite their low PLF, as these flights capacity was 891 per cent. Travel Services revenue

had high cargo load factors due to continued decreased, however, by 36.7 per cent.

strong cargo demand. As aresult, cargo revenue
Passengerrevenue and traffic data by areqa, 2021

Passengerrevenue ASK RPK PLF

Trafficarea MEUR Share%  Change% Mill.km _ Change % MilLkm _Change % % __Change %-p
Asia 753 179 -595 44630 275 956.3 751 214 -409
North Atlantic 386 92 460 22825 1689 7035 87 308 -454
Europe 2436 579 -04 46447 -8.2 30538 -28 65.7 37
Domestic 603 143 -128 7040 192 4646 -4 660 58
Unallocated 30 07 597
Total 420.8 100.0 -20.3 12,094.2 -6.5 5178.2 -36.5 428 -20.2
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Operating expenses included in
comparable ebitin 2021

Finnair's operating expensesincluded in the
comparable operating result decreased by 8.6
per cent despite the increase in revenue. Finnair
continued its significant cost adjustment initiatives
during 2021, including temporary and permanent
layoffs, which were visible in the decline in
operating expenses.

Unit cost (CASK) decreased by 1.8 per cent and
totalled 10.81 cents (11.01). CASK excluding fuel also
decreased by 1.6 percent.

Operating expensesincluded in the comparable
operating result excluding fuel decreased by 8.5
percent.

Fuel costs, including hedging results and emissions
trading costs, decreased almost inline with
capacity (measured in ASK) although the cargo-
only flights, which commencedin Q2 2020,
increased fuel consumption while they did not
generate ASKs. Fuel efficiency (as measured in
fuel consumption per ASK) weakened by 6.7 per
cent for the same reason. Fuel consumption per
RTK, which also accounts for developments in both
passenger and cargo load factors, decreased,
however, by 1.8 percent.

Staff and other crew related costs decreased
as capacity was down and, therefore, Finnair

Finnalr = Annuc! Report 2021
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continued the COVID-19-related temporary and
permanent layoffs during 2021. Further, other staff-
related savings had a decreasing impact.

Passenger and handling costs (including tour
operation expenses related to eg, hotels) were
driven down by the volume decline particularty in
passenger traffic. Sales, marketing and distribution
costs remained low, even though theyincreased
year-on-year due to increases in marketing
activities and sales intake as aresult of the
ramp-up in traffic together with stronger demand.

Aircraft materials and overhaul costs decreased
due to the decline in capacity and updated
USD-based discount rates of maintenance
reserves. Depreciation and impairment costs
remained closer fo the comparison period level.
Troffic chargesincreased as the fraffic mix was
structurally different due to the relatively increased
wide-body operations caused by cargo-only
flights, which led to additional costs.

Capacity rents, covering purchased traffic from
Norra and any wet leases or potential cargo rents,
declined more than capacity from the comparison
period due to renegotiated agreements with
Norra. Property, IT and other expenses were closer
to the comparison period level as they mainly
consist of fixed costs, even though notable cost
savings were achieved.

Operating exp includedin parable operating it
€million
2,000 A Staff and other crew 0 Sales, morketing and
related costs, distribution costs,
14729 change-12% change 35%
1500 — , 13464 O Fuelcosts, change-9% 0 Passenger andhandling
D Capacity rents, services, change -12%
1000 — change-20% Depreciationand
B Aircraftmateriols and impairment, change -7%
500 overhaul,change-12% “ Properly,IT and other
B Traffic charges, expenses, change -12%
change7%
2020 2021
Key Figures - Revenue and profitability
EUR million 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Revenue EURmill. 8384 8292 30977 28361 25684
change from previous year % n_ 732 92 104 109
Comparable operating result EURmIll. -4689 -5953 1628 2184 1704
Comparable operating result at constant 2018 EURmiIl. . 4660 -5589 2057 2184
currency and fuel price” 2019 EURmil. -4765 5755 1628
Comparable operating resuit of revenue %  -559 -71.8 53 77 6.6
Operating result EURmIll. -4544 -4645 1600 256.3 2248
Comparable EBITDA/EBITDAR of revenue % 178  -303 158 181 170
Basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS)** EUR -034 -051 0.09 013 023
%ér}iisr%venue per available seat kilometre cents/ASK 693 641 6.56 6.69 696
RASK at contant currency* 2018 cents/ASK 691 640 6.53 6.69
2019 cents/ASK 699 643 656
Unit revenue per revenue passenger cents/RPK 813 648 644 648 6.57
kilometre (yield)
Unit cost per available seat kilometre (CASK) cents/ASK ~ 10.81 1.01 6.22 618 649
CASK excluding fuel cents/ASK 906 9.21 476 481 522
CASK at constant currency and fuel price® 2018 cents/ASK 1076 1072 610 618
2019 cents/ASK 1093  10.88 6.22
y figures of constanf ey and fuel pric 0 2018 and 2019 level.
**Arights i June and July 2020 and, therefore, fi h




Roviow of tho year 2021

Resultin 2021

Finnair's 2021 result was heavily impacted by the
COVID-19 pandemic due to extensive route and
frequency cuts caused by travel restrictions in
many countries worldwide.

Because of cost adjustment initiatives, Finnair's
comparable EBITDA and comparable operating
result bothimproved year-on-year. Comparable
EBIT margin was -559 per cent (-71.8), when the
targeted over the cycle level was above 7.5 per
cent during the strategy period of 2020-2025.The
targeted level will, however, be reassessed due to
the COVID-19 impact once visibllity on the business
environment, and particularly in Asia, improves.

Unrealised changes in foreign currencies of fleet
overhaui provisions were -11.7 million euros (12.2)
due to the strengthening US dollar. Exceptional
changes in defined benefit pension plans booked
as items affecting comparability totalled 20.6
million euros and they related to amendmenisin
the collective labour agreement relating fo the
curtailment of the occupational disability pensions,
aswell as to pilots’ withdrawn early retirement
announcements. in the comparison period (132.8),
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the exceptional changes in defined benefit
pension plans related to changes in defined
benefit plans caused by the netimpact of Finnair's i
pension fund indexincrement removals, and

pilots’ early retirement costs. Otheritems affecting
comparability consist of fair value changes in
derivatives where hedge accounting is not applied,
sales gains or losses and restructuring costs tofalled
5.6 million euros (-14.3) during 2021. Due to the items
affecting comparability being clearly lowerin 2021,
the operating result was close to the 2020 level.

The net of financialincome and expenses as
well as exchange gains (mainly related to USD
denominated aircraft lease payments and
liabilities) declined significantly especially

due to lower financial expenses, whichin the
comparison period related mainly to reclassified
jet fuel and foreign exchange hedges from other
comprehensive income to profit and loss. Thus,
Finnair's result before taxes and result after taxes
improved year-on-year.

2021 operating expenses (€1,346.4 million in total) included in comparable operating result

J

EUR million 2021 2020 Change %
Staff and other crew related costs ! 2489 2835 122
Fuel costs 2114 , 2327 -91
Capacity rents 731 893 -201
Aircraft materials and overhaul . N7l 1047 -124
Traffic charges [l 1204 ! 124 71
Sales, marketing and distribution costs 381§ 282 350
Passenger and handling costs ) 1480 | 1686 122
Property, IT and other expenses : 96.8 | 109.7 1.8
Depreciation and impairment . 3198 § 3438 -70
Total ! 1,346.4 | 14729 -8.6
EUR million 2021 2020 Change%
Comparable EBITDA i -149.0 | -251.5 407
Depreciation and impairment ] -3198 1 -3438 70
Comparable operating result H -468.9 | -595.3 212
Items affecting comparability 1 144 | 1308 -89.0
Operating result N -454.4 | -464.5 2.2
Financialincome | 128 387 -670
Financiol expenses i N78 ) -255.2 538
Exchange gains and losses i -225 266 -184.5
Result before taxes | -581.9 -654.4 n
Income taxes i n76 1311 -103
Result for the period 1 -464.3 | -523.2 1n3
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Financial position
and capital expenditure

Balance Sheet

The Group’s balance sheet totalled 4,047 million
euros at the end of 2021 (3,646.5). Fleet book value
decreased by 494.0 million euros due to depreciation
and the sale and leaseback transaction of four
Airbus A350 aircroft finalised in September. Despite
depreciation, the right-of-use fleetincreased by
252.8 million euros similarly due to the same sale and
leaseback transaction as well as due to aleased
A350 aircraft that was delivered to Finnair in Q4. Both
transactionsincreased lease liabilities. Assets held for
sale totalled 18.7 million euros (none in the comparison
period) relating to four A321 aircraft.

Receivables related to revenue increased to 1109
million euros mainty due to improved ticket sales and
strong cargo operations (57.5). Net deferred tax assets
increased o 1919 million euros (84.8) resulting from
estimated taxlosses caused by the COVID-19impact

Finnair = Annual Report 2021

on Finnair's result. The pension assetsrose to 809
million euros (31.8) mainly due to actuariat gains
and the curtailment of the occupational disability
pensions whereas pension obligations remained at
the same level and were 0.7 million euros {1.5).

Deferred income and advances received
increased to 2911 million euros (133.6). This was
mainly caused by anincrease in the unflown ticket
liability amounting to 202.7 million euros (55.7) due
toimproved sales infake.

Key Figures - Capital structure

The loss for the period, as well as the hybrid bond
couponpaymentin Q3, decreased shareholders’ equity.
Shareholders’ equity alsoincludes a fairvalue reserve
thatis affected by changesin the fairvalues of jet fuel
and currency derivatives used forhedging as well as
actuarial gains and lossesrelated to pilots’ defined
benefit plans according to IAS 19. The value of theitem
atthe end of Decemberwas 16.6 million euros after
deferred taxes (-41.8) as the increase in the fair value of
hedge instruments had anincreasing effect on equity
especially duetothe increase inthe jet fuel price and
actuarial gains from defined benefit pension plans.

EURmillion 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Equity ratio % 1.8 246 249 233 352
Gearing % 3218 1532 64.3 769 242
Interest-bearing net debt EURmill. . 15309 . 13738 6210 706.7 2460
Interest-bearing net debt / 103" 55 13 14 16
Comparable EBITDA . .

Gross capital expenditure EURmill. =~ 4345 5159 4438 4740 5190
Return on capital employed (ROCE) % . -139 -15.2 63 93 136

Shareholders’ equity totalled 475.7 million euros
{896.6), or 0.34 euros per share (0.64).

Gearing

€milion %
3500

321.8%

3000
2,500
2,000
1500
1000

500

B Cashfunds

B Adjusted Interest-bearing liabilities
B Equity

= Gearing

= Equity ratio
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Cash flow
and financial
position

In 2021, the COVID-19 impact was clearly visible

in net cash flow from operating activities, which
remained negative due the negative result for

the period, lease andloaninterest costs as well

as payments related to unwound fuel and foreign
exchange hedges, even though H2 was already
positive by 151.7 million euros. Net cash flow from
investments remained positive mainty due to fleet
divestments related o the sale and leaseback
transactionin September. Net cash flow from
financing was positive due to c. 400-million-euro
proceeds from the new unsecured senior bond
that was issued in May and will mature in May
2025.0nthe other hand, approximately half of the
refinanced, old 200-million-euro unsecured senior
bond was redeemed in May, which had a negative
impact on the net cash flow from financing, and
the other half willbe repaid in March 2022 when
itmatures.

The Report of the
Board of Dircctors

The equity ratio on 31 December 2021 decreased
from the year-end 2020 mainly due tothe
negative result for the period, even though the
positive change in the hedging reserve and other
comprehensive income alleviated the impact, and
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the impact of the sale and leaseback transaction
finalised in September as well as the new
unsecured senior bond on total liabilities. Gearing,
onthe contrary, rose as interest-bearing net debt
increased and equity weakened.

The company’s liquidity was very strong at the end
of the period under review. Despite the negative
net cash flow from operating activities in 2021,
Finnair Group’s cash funds increased due fo the

divestments of more than 400 million euros mainly .

related to the sale and leaseback transaction
finalised in September and the new unsecured
senior bond of ¢. 400 million euros although it
was netted by the partial redemption of the old
unsecured senior bond.

Finnair and the State of Finland signed an
agreement on an unsecured hybrid loan of

up 10 400 million euros in Q1. Of this credit limif,
approximately 350 million euros could be used

by Finnair based on the state aid decision made
by the EU Commission in March. The remaining
approximately 50-million-euro share was
approved by the EU Commission after the period.
Finnair can access the funds, if its cash or equity
position would drop below the limits definedin
the facility agreement’s terms and conditions. In
addition, Finnair has a 200-million-euro short-term,
unsecured commercial paper programme, which
was unused at the end of December. In October,
Finnair announced that it has retired the undrawn

Cash flow
EUR million 2021 2020
Net cash flow from operating activities -253 ¢ -1,0431
Net cash flow from investing activities 3096 . 3516
Net cash flow from financing activities 734 10019
Liquidity and net debt
EUR million 31Dec2021  31Dec2020
Cash funds 12657 8237
Adjusted interest-bearing liabilities 27966 « 21975
Interest-bearing net debt 1,5309 13738
Capital structure
% 31Dec2021 _ 31Dec2020
Equity ratio 1.8 246
Gearing 3218 1532
CashFlow change 2021
Net cashflow from Netcash flow from Netcashflow from
€ milion operaling activifies, 253 Investing activifles, 43096 financing activities, 734
1600 3967
1200 — JRIEES 3006 205 a1 =
800
400
o]
e ¥ »
-’ég’ ‘f & @‘é’ 59“? &m
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6‘$ ef &5& CS’O dy"\o o"f
d’; & £ & &
A
S
Kid




Review of the year 2021

175-million-euro revolving credit facllity which was
maturing in January 2023.

Adjusted interest-bearing liabilities increased from
year-end 2020 mainly due fo the sale and leaseback
transaction finalised in September, the new senior
unsecured bond and the leased A350 aircraft that
was delivered to Finnairin Q4. The share of lease
liabilities amounted 101,381.0 million euros (1,016.2).
Interest-bearing net debt increased from the end of
2020 mainly due to the A350 aircraft deliveredin Q4,
negative net cash flow from operating activities but
also due to the strengthened US dollar.

Balance sheet

€ milion

4,000
3000
2,000

1,000

2020 2021

B Fleet
O Otherfixed assets

B Otherassets

@ Cashandcash
equivalents and other
financial assets
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Capital expenditure

Gross capital expenditure, excluding advance
payments, totalled 434.5 million euros during

2021 (5159) and was primarily related fo fleet
investments. This figure includes also changes in
the right-of-use fleet consisting of e.g., the sale and
leaseback transaction finalised in September as
wellas the A350 aircraft delivered in Q4.

Cash flow from investments (including fixed asset
investments and divestments, sublease payments
received and advance payments) totolled 377.2
million euros (-88.3).

2021 2020
8 Equity B Deferredincome
O interest-bearing and advances
liabilities. received

B Other liabiliies

Change in other current financial assets (maturity
over three months) totalled -67.5 million euros
{4399) also forming a part of the net cash flow
frominvestments, which amounted to 309.6 miflion
euros (351.6).

Cash flow from investments (including only fixed
assetinvestments and advance payments) for the
financial year 2022 relates mainly to the fleetandis
expected to total approximately -180 million euros.
Investment cash flow includes both committed
investments as well as estimates for planned, but
not yet committed, investments,

The company has 35 unencumbered aircraft,
which account for approximately 30.5 per cent of
the balance sheet value of the entire fleet 0f1971.6
million euros.*

* Fleetvalue includes right of use assets as well as
prepayments of future aircraft deliveries.

Dividend policy and the
Board's proposal for the
distribution of profit

The aim of Finnair's dividend policy is o pay, on
average, at least one-third of the earnings per
share as a dividend over an economic cycle. The
aimis o take into account the company's earnings
frend and outlook, financia! situation and capital
needs in the distribution of dividends.

In 2021, earnings per share were -0.34 euros (-0.51).
Finnair Plc's distributable equity amounted to
73,709,760.76 euros on 31 December 2021. The
Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General
Meeting that no dividend be distributed for 2021.
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Fleet

Finnair'soperatingfleet  Fleetrenewal Fleet operated by change

Finnair's fleet is managed by Finnair Aircraft Atthe end of the year, Finnair had seventeen A350 31.12.2021 Seats # 311 2_5’0"2’8 Own** Leased Ave;ﬁ‘,?ze,z%gz? Ordered
Finance Oy, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Finnair. aircraft, which have been delivered between 2015~ Narrow-body fleet '
Atthe end of the year, Finnair itself had 60 aircraft, 2021 and two A350 aircratt on order from Airbus. Airbus A319 144 6 5 ! 201

of which 25 were wide-body and 35 narrow- These aircraft are scheduled tobe delivered to Airbus A320 174 10 8 2 194

bodly aircraft. During the fourth quarter, Finnair Finnairin Q4 2024 and Q1 2025. Airbus A321 209 9 ul S 106

ook delivery of its 7th Airbus A350 aircraft which m‘;;":;;’(’)"ee' e - . —

was financed with an operating lease during the Finnair's investment commitments for property, plant “Airbus A350 297/33%6 7 3 3 m 4 ] 2

first quarter and at that time planned for delivery and equipment, totalling 355.0 million euros, include Total 60 1 2% 34 o 3
inthe second quarter of 2022. The delivery was the upcoming investments in the wide-body fleet. !

*Finnair's Air Operator Certificate (AOC).

advancedinresponse fo widebody aircraft o - ) o ** Includes JOLCO-financed (Jopanese Operating Lease with Call Opfion) and ECA (Export Credit

capacity requirements. During the fourth quarter, Finnair has the possibility o adjust the size of its fleet Agency)financed aircraft.

Finnair also purchased one Airbus A330, which was in line with demand forecasts through the staggered |
" . . Fleet operated by

already accounted for as owned, as the finance moaturities of its lease agreements and changesin Norra* h A .

lease period ended. the numberof owned aircraft, Change verage ;

! 3112.2021 Seats # 3112.2020 Own__ Leased 3112.2021  Ordered
Atthe end of 202, the average age of the fleet Fleet Operafed by N orra 12 [3 6 124
operated by Finnairwas 114 years. 12 9 3 135

Nordic Regional Airlines (Norra) operates a fleet of

(purchased traffic) 130
24 aircraft for Finnair on a contract flying basis. All the

24 0 15 9
- ;rOpeWiﬁwr@
Aircraft Finance Oy. AN — _ﬂ __m_. B =

aircraft operated by Norra are feased from Finnair

Finnalr = Annual Report 2021 ”
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Strategy implementation

In 2021, Finnair has re-evaluatedits strategy, which
is valid until 2025, due to the pandemic impact. The
company implements it in four focus areas, namely:
Capture market growth; Modern premium offering,
retailing and distribution; Cost efficiency; aswell as
Sustainability as a differentiator.

Finnair's long-term financial targets will be
re-evaluated once visibility on the business
environment, particularly in Asia, improves.

Capture market growth

Finnair continues to focus on transfer traffic
between the essential Asian mega cities and
Europe. Finnair also continues to leverage its home
hub’s unique geographical location, enabling

fast connections via the short northem route and
maximising its efficiencies. The company now
expects annual capacity growth of ¢. 3% which
isin fine with the anticipated growth of Finnair's
main markets.
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Currently committed wide-body aircraft
investments will be made. As aresult of the
negafive financialimpact of the pandemic,
Finnair will, however, postpone the narrow-
body fleet renewal investment by some years
asit concentrates on optimising the life of its
current fleet.

Modern premium
offering, retailing and
distribution

Finnair aims to be defined as a modern,
premium airline. The company’s customer
promise emphasises freedom of choice, a
smooth travel experience and sustainability.
Finnair supports the customer experience
with the help of digital services. Finnair is also
targeting more dynamic retailing, increased
share of direct sales in digital channels and
renewal of its distribution channels.

During 2021, the average monthly number of
unique Finnair website visitors started to recover
especially in H2 even though it remained the same
asin 2020 and totalled 1.1 million (1.1). The number of
active users of the Finnair mobile application grew
by 741 per cent to 326,000 from 2020. Direct salesin
Finnair's digital channels increased to 51.0 per cent
(407) of allfickets sold.

To winin the competitive airline market, Finnair
must also excel in everyday customer experience.
Finnair's Net Promoter Score (NPS), measuring
customer satisfaction, was at a good level witha
score of 38 (47)in 2021. The customers especially
appreciated Finnair's service and extensive health
and safety measures during the pandemic and
this appreciation was reflected in customers voting
Finnair the best airline in the Northern Europe

for the 11th consecutive time in the Skytrax World
Airline Awards. The drop in NPS compared to 2020
related mainly to surveys conducted in December
and was caused by the decline in on-time

performance, issues at airports caused by e.g, sick
leaves, and a backlog in customer care channels.

In 2021, Finnair renewed its pricing and introduc¢ed
one-way ticket fares for all its flights within Europe
and a completely new Business Light ticket, The
renewals increase pricing transparency and bring
customers more choice and flexibility. Finnair
also reinstated certain pre-pandemic services
astwo Finnair lounges at Helsinki Airport were
reopened and in-flight and pre-order sales were
restarted. During the period, Finnair renewed its
service concept onboard. Streamlined, more
uniform inflight selection supports the company’s
sustainability targets and helps to cut the amount
of food waste.

After the period, Finnair revealed the long-
prepared, new long-haul experience inwhich the
company invested ¢. 200 million euros. It covers
allFinnair's wide-body aircraft and, as aresult,
business and economy classes are refurbished
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and a completely new premium economy class
isintroduced.

Finnair also continued its COVID-19-related actions
which were started in 2020. The company oftered
acomplimentary Corona Cover to its customers. It
compensates {0 a great extent potential COVID-19
related costs accrued during an international trip.
Further, Finnair introduced affordable PCR and
rapid antigen testing services, which are available
at Finnair's headquarters near Helsinki Airport.
Finnair also prolonged Book with Confidence
sales until 28 February 2022 and, after the period,
further until 31 May 2022 Moreover, the company
infroduced a digital service, with which customers
can confirm their COVID-19-certificates before
theirjourney from Finland to selected European
countries, and a digital travel requirements

map presenting the latest travel requirements
and guidelines.

Cost efficiency

In 2021, it was confirmed that Finnair will achieve
the targeted permanent, annual cost savings of
¢.200 million euros by 2022, calculated based
on 2019 operational volumes. It will also continue
to seek savings through continuous operational
improvement and efficiency.

Particular focus will be on fuel efficiency and
on-time performance, which have assignificant
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impact on both cost and productivity as well

as customer experience. In terms of on-time
performance and fuel efficiency, Finnair aims to
being among the industry leaders. The company’s
on-time performance in 2021 was 82.3% (90.2). The
decline was mainly related to events in December;
in addition to severe weather conditions, on-time
performance was impacted by COVID-19-related
challenges such as new travel restrictions, which
required additional travel document checks, and
higher-than-normal sick leaves, which caused
resourcing challenges bothinternally and for
external service providersin the home hub as well
asinoutstations.

Finnair is recognised as one of the world's
safest airlines. The strong safety culture, as well
as the reliability and productivity of Finnair’s
operations are at the core of the company’s
strategy. More effort will be put into technology,
automation, utilising data and working together
cross-functionally as they support safety and
cost efficiency.

Sustainabilityasa
differentiator

Sustainability is an essential part of Finnair, and
the company’s ambitious sustainability targets
remain unchanged. Finnair's long-term goalis
carbon neutrality by 2045, with a 50% reductionin
net emissionsin 2025 compared to the 2019 level.

As a priority, Finnair strives to reduce the direct
emissions of its operations, i.e, reducing actual
emissions whenever reasonably possible. Meeting
the global climate challenge requireslong-term
planning, and in the short-term, the company
willhave to rely more on economic measures
before it can, inthe longer term, take advantage
of the improvements in the emissions efficiency of
new technologies.

In 2021, Finnair signed aletter of inferest fo potentially
infroducing Heart Aerospace ES-19 electric alrcraft
as part of its fleet. This aircraft type is developed
foruse on short routes. Finnair also commenced
cooperation with air navigation services provider
Fintraffic ANS to reduce emissions of flights
operated in the Finnish airspace. Further, Finnair
Technical Services finished a recycling project

of one of its retired Airbus A319 aircraft. The final
recovery rate was very high: 99.2% of the aircraft
was eitherrecycled orreused.

Finnair's renewed onboard service is more
sustainable. Plastic cutlery was replaced with
awooden version and the share of vegetarian
options was increased. Further, the previous target
of halving the amount of food waste produced
has already been met and was extended by
another 30%.

Finnair cims to increase the use of sustainable
aviation fuel (SAF) together with the oneworld

Alliance and other stakeholders. The oneworld
Alliance setacommon goal of achievinga10 per
centlevel in SAF uptake by 2030, well above the
designed 5 per cent EU mandate target. Finnair has
already signed a Memorandum of Understanding
with Aemetis, a renewable fuels company, in 2021.
Finnair has earlier partnered with Neste in Finland
toincrease to use of SAF and, hence, reduce
carbon emissions of flying.

People

Genuine collaboration, target-oriented leadership
and utilising new working methods such aslean
and agile are important tools when implementing
the strategy. These measures are emphasisedin
Finnair's people plan. The number of employees
has decreased because of the COVID-19impact
and, therefore, new, more effective ways of working
as well as extensive and cross-organisational
collaboration are necessary.

Once Finnair returns 16 the path of growth, it wants
tobe an even more sustainable company. As a
result, two sustainability performance indicators,
fuel efficiency and work safety, were includedin
the short-termincentive programme, thus, making
sustainability a common target.
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Non-Financial Performance 2021

In 2021, Finnair continued cost adaptations and
financing measures addressing the impacts of
the COVID-19 pandemic. The negative impact
of the pandemic continued throughout the year,
which resulted inlower passenger numbers and
revenue compared to the pre-pandemic period.
Towards the end of the year, however, the easing
of travel restrictions was reflected inincreased
bookings and $he number of flights. Overall, the
available seat kilometres decreased by 6.5 per
cent compared to 2020. The exceptionally low
number of flights caused by travel restrictions and
the challenges of targeting supply with demand
make performance comparisons with previous
years challenging. Thus, it can be stated that the
year 2021 still shows unusual earnings figures in
both financial and non-financial data.

As trafficincreased towards the end of the year,
Finnairwas able to callits staff back to work from
long furloughs. The recalls have beenrelevant

to the personnel experience of Finnair's staff,
although long furloughs have not affected all

Finnalr - Annual Repor! 2021

professional groups. Community spirit and
collegiality have been the driving force behind
Finnair's personnel for decades. As a major
opening, Finnairlaunched new direct flights from
Stockholm to the United States and Thailand.

Withincreased demand fowards the end of the
year, Finnair was able to reopen lounge services
for its customers at Helsinki-Vantaa Airport and
restartin-flight sales, which were very limited for
along time due to heatth and safety reasons. The
company’s in-flight sales have been redesigned so
that the amount of food waste can be minimized
inthe future. In addition o renewing the product
range, Finnair has strongly guided the customers
to pre-order meals, which, in addition to minimising
food waste, significantly expands the customer's
choice. Further, the reduction in the amount of food
and sales products loaded on the aircraft hasa
directimpact on the emissions from the flight.

Health safety measures throughout the
organization continued throughout the year. In

health safety, the focus was on emphasizing the
responsibility of customers and employees, as
well as the entire tourism industry, with all possible
measures. Finnair's customer satisfaction was still
atagood level, as evidenced by the company’s
selection as the best airline in Northern Europe in
the Skytrax World Airline Awards customer survey
for the eleventh consecutive time.

Demand for air cargo was exceptionally strong,
especially towards the end of the year, due to
global supply chain difficulties and a lack of
cargo capacity. Cargo achieved record sales
and enabled the addition of passenger flights to
Finnair’s long-haul destinations in Asia and the
United States.

Direct and indirect taxes paid during 2021
remained relatively low due to reduced operations
and the negative result. Other performance-based
payments, such as environmental charges, also
remained low.

Paid taxes and other environmental costs

€ million

1249 1211

17 18 19 20 21
B Direct taxes payable

B Indirecttaxes collected

D EVETScosts

0 Other environmentally related costs

Other environmentally based costs include Noise and
NOxcosts, and environmental-based taxes

2
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EU Taxonomy
Background

The purpose of the EU Taxonomy, a classification
system, is fo direct investments towards sustainable
projects and activities and to provide companies,
investors and policymakers with appropriate
definitions for which economic activities canbe
considered environmentally sustainable

The EU Taxonomy Regulation establishes six
environmental objectives:

1. Climate change mitigation

2.Climate change adaptation

3. The sustainable use and protection of water and
marine resources

4.The transition to a circular economy
5. Pollution prevention and control

6.The protection and restoration of biodiversity
and ecosystems

The first delegated act on sustainable activities
for climate change adaptation and mitigation,
was approved in principle on 21 April 2021, and
formally adopted on 4 June 2021 for scrutiny by the
co-legislators. The second delegated act for the
remaining four environmental objectives willbe
published in2022.
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Article 8 of the EU Taxonomy regulation brings

an obligation for a Public Interest Entity under the
Non-Financial Reporting Directive, such as Finnair,
toreport onits Taxonomy eligibility starting from
1January 2022 for the first two environmental
objectives. Allin-scope Entities must report the
proportion of their 2021 economic activities that
are considered Taxonomy-eligible in their revenue,
capital expenditure (CAPEX) and operating
expenditure (OPEX). For the reporting year of
2021, Entities are not yet required to assess the
Taxonomy-alignment of their economic activities

Finnair’s approach on EU Taxonomy

The Taxonomy regulation includes the sectors
assessed to have the largest climate change
mitigation and adaptation potential. It should

be noted that Finnair's core businesses, ie.,
commercial aviation (including ancillary sales),
air freight or travel services (supplied by Finnair
Cargo and Aurinkomatkat, respectively) are not
yet covered by the economic activitiesincluded
in the Taxonomy. Thus, detailed technical criteria
fore.g, passenger air transportation (NACE

H511 and N77.35) have not yet been specified.
However, Finnair estimates that transition to new,
low-emission aircraft and sustainable aviation
fuels (SAF) are likely fo be included in the futurein
the Taxonomy regulation.

Finnair has also assessed the Taxonomy-eligibility
of Is other economic activities by comparing its

business relevant NACE codes to the ones included
inthe EU Taxonomy. The most significant identified
economic activity included in the Taxonomy is
freight transport services by road (NACE H49.41)
supplied by Finnair Cargo. However, as the
operation of these services have been outsourced
to a third party, they are not deemed as Taxonomy-
eligible for Finnair. Otheridentified butimmaterial
examples are Finnair Group's acquisition and
ownership of buildings (NACE L68), solar electricity
generated by Finnair Cargo for its own operations
(NACE D35.11), and Finnair Technical Services'
industrial wastewater treatment (NACE E37.00).

COVID9 has had an unprecedented financial
impact on Finnair both in 2020 and 2021. Due to
travel restrictions and lack of customer demand,
Finnair's revenue reached arecordlow and,
therefore, the company has been forced to
drastically cut allits expenses and investments,
including those supporting sustainable
development, to minimise the losses caused by the
limited operations as well as fo secure ahealthy
cash position. Thus, 2021 was not comparable
with the pre-pandemic years. As more than 99%
of Finnair's operations in 2021 were not deemed
as Taxonomy-eligible economic activities, it can
be stated that the shares of Toxonomy-eligible
revenue, CAPEX and OPEX were not material
compared to Finnair's total revenue, CAPEX

and OPEX. Therefore, the Taxonomy-eligible
proportion of Finnair's revenue, CAPEX and OPEX

during the financial year 2021 rounds down to
0%. Consequently, Finnair's non-eligible revenue,
CAPEX and OPEX round up to 100%.

Finnair has heavily modernised its wide-body fleet
inrecentyears, in 2015-2017, seven A340 aircraft
were refired from revenue service at Finnairand
since 2015, Finnair has introduced 17 modern, lower
emission A350 wide-body aircraft toits fleet. Of the
disposed A340 aircraft, one was sold for recycling,
two were returned to lessors at the end of their
leases, and four were sold o Airbus in conjunction
with the confirmation of the exercise of Finnair's
option to purchose eight additional A350 aircraft.
This renewal of the wide-body fleet is the largest
single investment in the company’s history. It is not
yet defined how, or whether, this investment made
before the Taxonomy implementation canbe
reported within the Taxonomy.

Finnair aims to increase the use of sustainable
aviation fuels (SAF) together with the oneworld
allionce and other stakeholders. The oneworld
Allilance has set a common goal of achieving
a10 percent level in SAF uptake by 2030, well
above the designed 5 per cent EUmandate
target. Achieving this goal will require ajoint
effort with both legislators and various industrial
sectors. The introduction of SAF is also strongly
linked to the protection of biodiversity, ie., the
sixth environmental objective, so that the rapidly
growing global demand does notlead toe.g,
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increased land use and, thus, harm blodiversity.
SAF volumes used by Finnairin 2021 did not meet
the minimum level of 5 per cent potentially to be set
by the Taxonomy!

Regarding Travel Services, the Taxonomy focuses
on the conservation and protection of nature’s
biodiversity. The technical criteria have been
created foraccommodation services, and the
need to develop criteria for the leisure activities
management is still pending. Nature and its
diversity are a significant attraction in the business
of Aurinkomatkat. When planning destination
programmes, Aurinkomatkat carefully assesses
their potentialimpacts on environment and
biodiversity. The aimis to avoid, for example,
organising visits in places where this might pose a
threat or harm to biodiversity.

Sustainability

Finnairis a network cirline specializing in passenger
and cargo traffic between Asia and Europe,

and whose purpose is fo create value forallits
stakeholders by bridging the world in asustainable
and safe manner. Sustainability is reflected in
company’s purpose, strategy, vision, and values. The

! Platform on Sustainable Finance: Technicol
Working Group, Part B— Annex: Fulllist of Technical
Screening Criteria, August 2021.

2 https.//www.ourinkomatkat fifvastuullinen-
matkailu

Finnglr - Annual Report 2021

The Report of the.
Bourd of Directors

K Financlal Statements

Carporota
Govamanco Stetement

( RemunerationRreport

Sustalnabilty Appondix )}

company’s risk management framework covers the
risk assessment of non-financial activities also. The
most significant near-termrisks and uncertainties
are described in the Risk Management section of
this Report of the Board of Directors..

Sustainability is anintegral part of all Finnair's
operations. The objective of the company’s
sustainability strategy is to reduce the
environmental impact and increase the economic
and social value of society. The key areas and
strategic goals of corporate sustainability work
are divided into the following themes: ethical
business, environment, sociality, and economics.
Sustainability applies to everyone at Finnair,and
the company’s objective is to include the themes
of sustainability equally in all operational activities,
and product and service design.

Human Rights, Bribery
and Anti-Corruption

Finnair's operations are based on its ethical
business principles, which are described in more
detail in the Sustainability Appendix of this Annual
Report; Section 103: Management Model. The
company respects the UN Declaration of Human
Rights and the conventions of the International
Labor Organization {ILO). Finnair has signed

the UN Global Compact initiative and reports
annually on the implementation of the Global
Compact's ten principles of responsible business

conduct. Asummary of that report can also
be found in the Sustainability Appendix of the
Annual Report.

Finnair has a Whistleblowingline called Finnair Ethics
Helpline inuse, through which both ouremployees
and partners canreport onconcerns related to
ethical business principles. During 2021 no material
incidents of material misconduct were nofified
through the Finnair Ethics Helpline nor were there any
suchinvestigations ongoing in the company.

Customers, employees
and other stakeholders

Finnairis committed fo providing its customers with
reliable, accurate and pleasant travel experiences
with afriendly smile. Equality and non-discrimination
are part of Finnair’s basic principles, and the
company is committed to ensuring accessibility
forpeople with reduced mobility. The company
isconstantlyimproving the customer experience

of its services and applying relevant accessibility
standards in practice.

The well-being of Finnair's employees and cusfomers
is equally important to the company. Finnair

takes good care of its employees by investing in

their health and safety, as well as by providing
training opportunities and promoting equality,
non-discrimination, and diversity. At Finnair, diversity
isseen as adriver of performance.

Number of persons employed by Finnair at
year-end

8,000

6,000

2,000

17 18 19 20 21

The diversity of the Personnel: Gender

Men: Women:
W Empl 43% a | 57%
B Leaders/Managers53% D Leaders/Managers47%
M ExcecutiveBoord78% [0 Executive Board 22%

J
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As mentioned above, during the year 2021 special
attention was paid to the health safety of the
entire travel chain from the airport until the end of
the flight. Finnair's overall customer satisfaction,
measured by the Net Promoter Score (NPS),
decreased from the previous year and was 38
{47). The score stillremained at arelatively high
{evel showing that together with Finnalr, customers
are committed fo safe travel and are oware

of the importance of responsibility although
in-flight services were minimised for heaith and
safety reasons.

Finnairemployed an average of 5614 (6,573) people
in 2021, whichis 14.6 per cent less thanin the previous
year. The number of employees decreased during
2021 by 780 or12.8 percent, totalling 5,325 at the end
of December (6,105). During 2021, the staff tumover
rate was 6.8 per cent (74). The reductionin staff and
theincreasein the staff tumover were still due to
continued layoffs and the prolonged low operational
level caused by the pandemic. During 2021, the
average number of people at work was 2996.

Due to the pandemic’s social impacts, Finnair
has especially Invested in soclatresponsibility by
supporting its redundant andlaid-off employees.
The company has an ongoing NEXT programme
designed toindividually support those made
redundant infinding anew job. The programme
consists of among other things, a personal plan
formoving forward in their working career,a
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wide range of training, career coaching, services
supporting change management and well-being,
support for those interested in entrepreneurship, and
tailored support of the Employment and Economic
Development Office of Finland.

Full-time staff accounted for 91 per cent (92) of
Finnair employeesin 2021, and 99 per cent (99) of
staff were employed on a permanent basis. The
average age of employees was 42 years (43). Of
the personnel, 33 per cent (33) were over 50 years
of age, while 13 per cent (13) were under 30 years of
age. At the end of 2021, 57 per cent (57) of Finnair's
employees were women and 43 per cent (43)
were men. Three (four) out of the eight members
of Finnair's Board of Directors are women. Finnair
does not maintain statistics based on ethnicity.

LTIF (Lost Time Incident Frequency), which
measures the frequency of accidents at the
company level, increased when compared to
previous year being 5.6 (4.4). In contrast, the number
of absences due foillness was less thanin the
comparison period and was 2.3 per cent (3.8).

Finnair values good cooperation with labour
unions representing its various employee groups.
In 2021, the following collective agreements
were negotiated:

« Anagreement between Service Sector
Employers Palta and Finnish Air Line Pilots’

Association concerning Finnair Plc’s Finnish
pilots. The agreement is valid until the end of
September2024.

« Anagreement between Finnair Plc and Finnairin
Insin

tjaylemmat FINTO ry concerning
Finnair Pic'a upper white-collar employees. The
agreement is valid until the end of February 2023,

» Anagreement between Palta and Workers'

Union AKT concerning travel agencies (Suntours).

The agreementlis valid until the end of April 2023,

An agreement between Palta and Transport
Workers' Union AKT representing Finnair's cabin
crewin Finland negotiated in 2019 will expire on
31January 2022. The same applies to agreements
between Palta and Trade Union Pro concerning
technical aviation employees and aviation
employees, which were negotiated in 2020 and
are also valid until the end of January 2022. An
agreement between Palta and Finnish Aviation
Union AU concerning blue collar employees in
Finnair's Helsinki Airport customer and ground
service, cargo and technical services was
negotiated also in 2020. The agreement is valid
until15March 2023,

Lost Time Incident Frequency

No/Mh

200

17 18
BLTF

19 20 21
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Environmental
Performance

The three major global environmental challenges,
climate change, biodiversity loss, and the transition
to acircular economy, are mutually reinforcing.
Addressing these challenges requires our common
attention. Finnair has set its own goals for all three

of these challenges and urgesallits stakeholders to
work together to achieve these goals. Finnair aims to
fly carbon-neutralin 2045, and already at the end of
2025itintends to halve its net emissions compared to
the 2019 level. In addition, the company shall enforce
the circular economy principals and pollution
prevention hierarchy inits operations. Finnair has
zerotolerance forillegal wildlife frading andisa
United for Wildlife -certified airline.

Climate change

In 2021, Finnair's traffic measured inrevenue tonne
kilometres (RTK) increased by 1.6 per cent compared
10 2020. However, carbon dioxide (CO,) emissions
decreased by 04 per cent year-on-year t01146,303
tonnes (1,151,299). When compared to 2019 emissions
they were 67.8 per cent lower,

The fuel efficiency of flying was 296 g/RTK (301)
(without allocation between passengers and
cargo), i.e. fuel efficiency improved by 20 per cent
(-20.8)in 2021. Carbon dioxide emissions of flying
have also been calculated by allocating them
between passengers and cargoin accordance
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withICAO recommendations (see the sustainability
appendix, Scope 1 emissions). Calculated in this way,
CO; emission efficiencies in 2021 were 1319 CO,/
RPK(92) and 606 g CO,/RTK-cargo (514). Emissions
perrevenue passenger-kilometre (RPK) increased
by 42.5 per cent (171) and per revenue cargo tonne-
kilometre (RTK-cargo) by 179 per cent (5.3). The
worse performing in 2021 compared to 2020 were
mainly due to the fact that year 2021 operations
were entirely affected by pandemic, with challenges
intargeting supply (ATK +6.4 per cent) withdemand
(RTK +1.6 per cent), the average length of the flights
was shortened, and the ICAQ allocation calculation
model where each empty seat is adding passenger
welght. The beginning of 2020 was still normal, and
the effects of the pandemic did not start o affect
untilMarch 2020 onwards.

During 2021, strong and effective work was
continued fo improve fuel efficiency. Good
progress was made in terms of both optimal fleet
utilisation and fuel-efficient flying. For example,
anew optimising tool introduced in 2021, called
Tail Swapper, helps in planning the optimum
aircraft type used when changes in the number
of passengers are noticed. Thus, it helps to

avoid flying oversized planes and saves on fuel
consumption accordingly. Another tool to help
fleet planning was made specifically for the use
of Technical Services. It is used to optimize wide-
body traffic, where there are some differences
found in fuel consumption between aircraft types.

The tool guides us to find the best combinations
between the aircraft and the route so that

longer connections are flown with the aircraft
having the best fuel efficiency. A third tool was
infroduced into the cockpit of the aircraft. It helps
long-distance traffic to be optimized so that we
find the best balance between flight speed and
fuel consumption. The optimization application
transmits speed and consumption information

to the cockpit during the flight, facilitating pilot
decision-making. In this way, for example, fuelis not
wasted due to time savings of a few minutes, unless
there is a very good reason for this.

Toreduce CO; emissions from flying, it is very
importanttoincrease the use of sustainable
aviation fuels (SAF). We are very gratefui to our
customers who want to participate in Finnair's long-
term goal of flying carbon-neutral in 2045.1n 2021,
business passengers compensated for their travel
by purchasing 310 fonnes of sustainable fuel for
Finnair’s aircraft. This cooperation reduced 909
tonnes of CO, emissions. In December 2021, the
Finnish Pariament approved an amendment to the
law that will allow companies to sell compensation
services. Finnair willopen a compensation service
for customers at the beginning of 2022. We hope that
itwillbe well received and that our customers willbe
more involved in the fight against climate change.

The energy consumption of the Finnair facilities
increased by 12.2 per cent 2021 (-291). Year 2021 the

Devel InFinnair'
and emission efficiency

Total CO,
thousand tonnes
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« Emissions Efficlency

RTK=revenue tonne kilometres, i.e. capacity use
according to payload weight

total electricity consumption of the facilities was
21,130 MWh (21,259) and heat consumption 24,238
MWh (18,592). Total energy efficiency was 21.0
kWh/m?(18.5), including both electricity and heat
consumptions. The decrease in electricity use was
due to reduced activity, but the increase in heating
energy may be explained by the cold winter.
Correspondingly, CO, emissions from energy
consumption in buildings increased by 89 per cent
(-57.8) to a total of 8,138 tonnes (7,414).
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Circular economy

Total amount of waste generated by Finnairin
Finland decreased by 40.4 per cent (64.8), or over
618 tonnes (2,816), from the previous year total
mass being 914 tonnes (1,532). These figures do not
account the material streams generated during
the Airbus A319 recyciing, which Finnair Technical
Services performed in 2021. The largest waste
stream has been mixed waste generated from
the in-flight service. This waste streamis so called
international food waste and cannot be recycled
but is recovered as energy, whereas the rest of the
food waste is composted. Food waste has been
reduced in a target-orientated manner since 2018,
and primarily it is donated to charity. Intotal 18 per
cent of inflight waste was recycled in 2021. Thisis a
very highrecycling rate for inflight waste.

During the review period, Finnair renewed its
in-flight catering concept to be more sustainable.
Plastic cutlery was replaced with wooden and the
availability of vegetarian food was increased. in
addition, the previous target of halving food waste
was extended with an additional 30% reduction
target. Measures to achieve this goalincluded
simplifying the menu and transferring fresh
products to the pre-order menu.

Finnair, fogether with Kuusakoski, dismantled

and recycled one Airbus A319 aircraft, which had
reached the end of its economic life. Finnair initially
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Finnair Airbus A319 recycling

-

Recycled
491%

estimated that about 90-95 per cent of the materials
could bereutilised. The final recovery rate turned
out tobe higher than expected, with only 0.8 per
cent of the material ending up as waste. Thiswas
the first passenger aircraft everrecycledin Finland.
The recycling project created a positive mood,
employed staff, and supported the profitability of
the narrow-body fleet spare parts service.

Recovered
74%

Disposal
II 08%
Reused Research
38.5% 42%

Supply chain

Supply chain management focused on managing
demand and availability during the pandemic,
addressing cost pressures, and supply chainrisk
management. Due to a shrinking route network
and fewer flights, the number of active suppliers
decreased by 27 per cent.
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_Topic Targets and KPIs Performance Key actions during the reporting period
2021 2020
Environmental responsibility Halving net CO, emissions by the end of 2025, compared to 2019 figures, %* -67.8 -67.7 Due fo the COVID-19, 2021 figures are showing unusual performance,
- Carbon free flying by the end of 2045 (net emissions, gCO»/RTK) 931 949 ?'I‘?rt‘:ifn:])s%sgengerdemcnd waslow andunnecessary flying was
Improving the fuel efficiency of flying by 1% annually. Company'sinternal Fuel  0.0% 17% One narrow body aircraft at the end of its lifecycle was recycled at
Efficiency Index (FEI) is used here as a basis for the KPlwhere eg.wind and improvement improvement Vanfaa.

payload impacts are normalised.

Operative methods to reduce weight of the flight continued (e.g.
rationdlise fuelling, on-board printed material was reduced, potable
water infake was oplimised).

The flying procedures were furtherimproved (e.g. pilots’ situational
awareness of network was improved, this reduces unnecessary high Cost
Index flying. Continuous Decent Approaches at Helsinki-Vantaa were
furtherincreased).

Fleet utilisation wasimproved (aircraft type allocation corresponding to
the passenger and Cargo amounts).

Reducing single used plastics in Kitchen operations by 50% by the end of -400 230 Finnair's renewed its onboard service in 2021 fo be more sustainable.

2022 Plastic cutlery was replaced with a wooden version and the share of
vegetarian options wasincreased.

Recycle 50 % of plastics in Kitchen operations for reuse by the end of 2022 + 370 207 The number of recyclable waste fractions was successfully increased
when green plastic wine botiles were added to the list of recyclable
plastics.

Reducing food waste from Kitchen operations by 30% by the end of year New New The previous target of halving food waste was achieved and further

2022 extended with an additional 30% reduction target.

Social responsibility Arrival punctuality otleast 85% 823 902 Arrival punctudlity declined, in particular due to the difficult weather -
conditions in December 2021 and the challenges associated with
COVID-19, such as new travel restrictions requiring additional travel
document checks, as well as higher sickness rafes.

Customer satisfaction, NPS increase on the previous year, long-term target 38 47 We continued toinvest in customer health-safety measures and

leve repayment processes. The NPS dropped late in 2021 and was mainly
related to Omicron variant which increased the number of sick leaves,
and caused a backlog in customer care channels.

Employee satisfaction, eNPS increase on the previous year -31 -1 eNPS decreased as aresult of eg,, furloughs which Finnair was forced to

‘Absences due fo liness decrease from fhe previous year 23 38 conﬁnueddueito the clearly lower operational volumes compared to the

re-pandemic era.

LTIF (Lost-time injury frequency) of less than 14.8 56 44 pre-p

Ethical Business conduct Code nl)f ?_oﬁnduct awareness grade in WeTogether@Finnairsurvey atleast4 3.8 43 Continuous training of employees, Renewal of Finnair Ethics helpline
onscale

*Net emissions in 2021 and 2020 are exceptionally low due to reduced number of flights during the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Changes in company
management

During Q1-Q3, there were no changesin the
company’s management.

Finnair announced on 13 October 2021 that Tomi
Pieniméki, Finnair’s Chief Digital Officerand a
member of Finnair's Executive Board, will leave
Finnair by the end of January 2022.
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Shares and shareholders

Shares and share capital

On 31 December 2021, the number of Finnair shares
entered in the Trade Register was 1,407,401,265 and
the registered share capital was 75,442,904.30
euros. The company’s shares are quoted on
Nasdaq Helsinki. Each share has one vote at the
General Meeting.

Share price development
and trading

Finnair's market capitalisation was 837.7 million
euros at the end of December (1,066.1). The closing
price of the share on 31 December 2021 was 0.60
euros (0.76). In 2021, the highest price for the Finnair
Plc share on the Nasdaq Helsinki was 0.81 euros, the
lowest price 0.56 euros and the average price 0.68
euros. Some 1,143.8 million company shares, witha
total value of 780.5 million euros, were traded on the
Nasdaq Helsinki exchange.

Finnalr - Annual Repor! 2021

Shareholders

The number of Finnair shareholdersincreased

by 35.7 per centin 202110 116,129 shareholders
(excluding nominee registered shareholders). The
number of domestic retail shareholders increased
from 83,711 t0 113,926, whereas their combined
share of ownership increased by 27.4 per cent.
Nominee registered or foreign Investors held 46
percent (74) of all shares.

Flagging noftifications
No flagging notices were issued in 2021.

Government ovnership

Atthe end of 2021, the Finnish Government
owned 559 per cent of Finnair's shares and votes.
According to the decision made by the Finnish
Parliament on 20 June 1994, the Government
must own more than half of Finnair Pic’s shares.
Decreasing the ownership below this level would
require the revision of the Parliament’s decision.

Share ownership by management

On 31 December 2021, members of the company’s
Board of Directors did not own any Finnair shares,
while the CEO Topi Manner owned 738,271 sharas
and the members of the Executive Board, including
the CEQ, owned a total of 1,536,254 shares,
representing 0.1 per cent of all shares and votes.

Ownshares

On 31 December 2020, Finnair held a total of
170,660 own shares, representing 0.01 per cent of
the total number of shares and votes.

The Board of Directors of Finnair exercised the
authorisation granted by the 2020 AGM to acquire
own shares. Finnair completed the repurchase of
own shares on 22 February 2021, which started-on
19 February 2021. During that time, Finnair acquired
atotal of 1,800,000 own shares for an average price
of 0.64 euros per share. The shares were acquired
in public trading on Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd. at the

Shareholding by number of shares owned

W1-500 0.6%

0501-1,000 1.0%

11,001-10,000 10.3%

110,001-100,000 13.8%

100,001-1,000,000 54%

111,000,001-10,000,000 0.9%
'10,000,001-100,000,000 7.5%

1100,000,001- 55.9%

i Registered inthe name of nominee 4.6%
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market price prevailing at the time of purchase. participants of the FlyShare employee share 16,060 own shares as incentives fo the participants cha nge of CcO nfrol
The repurchased shares were acquired based savings plan. It also transferred 36,903 own shares of the FlyShare employee share savings plan. . . 0
on the authorisation given by the Annual General asareward to the key personnel included in pr°V|S|°nS in maie"al
Meeting on 29 May 2020 and shallbe used asa Finngir's share-based incentive scheme 2018-2020 On 31 December 2021, Finngir held a total of qgreemenfs
part of the Company’sincentive programmes. inMarch. 1421133 own shares, representing 010 per cent of

the total number of shares and votes. Some of Finnair's financing agreements include a
Following the repurchase, Finnair Plc held a total In Q2 or Q3, Finnair did not exercise the change of control clause under which the financier

0f 1,970,660 own shares, corresponding to 014 per authorisation granted by the AGM 2021 to acquire Shareholder Ogreemenfs shall be entitled to request prepayment of the
cent of the totatnumber of shares and votes. or dispose of its own shares. existing loan or to cancel the availability of aloan

Finnair is not aware of any shareholder facility in the event that a person other than the
In February, Finnair transferred, using the In October, Finnair transferred, using the agreements pertaining to share ownership or the Finnish state acquires control of Finnair either
authorisation granted by the AGM 2020, a authorisation granted by the 2021 AGM, a total of use of voting rights. through a majority of the voting rights or otherwise.
total of 496,564 own shares as incentives to the
Finnair share 2017-2021* Comparison Nasdaq Helsinki Comparison European Airlines Key Figures - Share
EUR 0 W 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
25 200 300 Equity/share* EUR 034 064 1.39 133 146
Dividend forthe EURmil. * 0 0 [ 35 38
250 250 financial year**
20 L Dividend/share* ** EUR 000 000 000 005 006
200 200 — Dividend/eamings** % 00 00 00 394 244
18 5 o : Dividend yield™ % 00 00 00 39 23
10 Cash f:ow frgr_n fies/ EUR -0.02 -099 082 073 055
) operating activities,
100 100 share®
05 \l‘ v 50 50 P/E ratio . -74 -147 1212 1018 1043
*A r;;ghl‘s offering was executed between June and July 2020 and, therefore,
0 0 o—_— 2017-2019 key figures based on the number of shares have been restated
17 18 19 20 21 17 18 19 20 21 17 18 19 20 20 accordingly.
**The dividend foryear 2021is a proposal of the Board of Directors fo the
. ) Annual General Meeting.
@ Average price H Finnair 8 Finnair
* Arights offering was implemented between W Nasdaq Helsinki # Bloomberg Europe Alrline Index

June and July 2020 and, therefore, Finnalir's share
prices have beenrestated accordingly.
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Effecﬁve Qul‘horisqﬁons approximately 3.6 per cent of all the sharesin the Acquisition and delivery of own

company. The authorisations are effective fora shares and returns of shares Numberofshares Acquisitionvalue, EUR __Average price, EUR
gl’G nfed by fh‘e annua I period of 18 months from the resolution of the AGM. 11.2017 788,964 427521239 542
gen eral m ee.hn g 2021 207 -355,597 -1962,443.86 552
The AGM also authorised the Board of Directors 2018 452000 320696570 710
o . : . 2018 236,359 -1,264,76558 535
Finnair's Annual General Meeting was held to decide on donations up to an aggregate 2019 164,651 1,042,35590 633
in Vantaa on 17 March 2021 under special maximum of EUR 250,000 for charitable or 2019 261,346 150149617 575
arrangements due to the COVID-19 pandemic. corresponding purposes. The authorisation is 2020 -381,653 2701,783.40 708
effective until the next Annual General Meeting. 2021 1,800,000 1144,44000 0.64
The AGM authorised the Board of Directors to 2021 -549,527 -1,350,674.25 246
decide onthe repurchase of the company’s own The resolutions of the AGM are available in fullon 3112.2021 1421133 887,810.73 0.62
shares and/or on the acceptance as pledge and the company’s website hitps://investors.finnair.
ontheissuance of shares (concerns both the om/en/g /e } tings.
issuance of new shares as well as the transfer
of treasury shares). The authorisation shall nct
exceed 50,000,000 shares, which corresponds to
Number of Number of
Shareholders by type at 31 December 2021 shares % shareholders % Breakdown of shares at 31 Number of Numberof
Public bodies 892,860,788 634 8 00 D ber2021 shares %  shareholders %
Households 3917651 278 113926 981 1-500 8709146 06 47284 407
Private companies 41,294,299 29 1811 1.6 501-1,000 14,021,968 10 17,697 15.2
Financialinstitutions 12,806,183 09 33 00 1,001-10,000 144,950,124 103 42,874 369
Associations 1,717951 0. 66 01 10,001-100,000 194,217,310 138 7919 6.8
Finnish shareholders, total 1,340,444,832 95.2 115,844 997 100,001-1,000,000 75,312,250 54 342 03
1,000,001-10,000,000 13,053,310 09 8 00
Registered in the name of anominee 65,378,093 46 10 00 10,000,001-100,000,000 105,089,378 75 4 00
Quiside Finland 1,578,340 01 285 02 100,000,001- 786,669,686 559 1 00
Nominee registered and foreign 66,956,433 48 285 02 Registered in the name of 65,378,093 46 10 00
shareholders, total nominee
Tota! 1,407,401,265 100.0 116,139 1000 Total 1,407,401,265 100.0 116,139 100.0
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Risk management

Risk management
framework and principles

Finnair operates in a global and highly competitive
environment that is sensitive to economic
fiuctuations. In executing its strategy, Finnair and its
operations are exposed to a broad range of risks
and opportunities.

Risk management is an integral part of effective
management practice to ensure that Finnair is
successfulin achieving its business objectives.
Uncertainty (opportunity or threat} is an inevitable
element in all decision-making, and thus an integral
component of running the business.

Finnair's Risk Management Framework has
been defined and established to ensure the
identification, evaluation and management of
risks and uncertainties associated with the set
objectives. The framework is designed to take a

Finnolr - Annual Report 2021

corporate-wide portfolio view of risks. The risk
management principles are summarised as
follows:

Risk management extends beyond internal
controlto strategy-setting, governance, and
measuring performance

Risks are managed as anintegrated part of
strategic and operational planning, doy-to-day
decision making, and operational processes

« The Three Lines of Defence modelis applied
as the primary governance principle to ensure
that the segregation of duties is defined and
established between risk management and risk
control

The performance and efficiency of Finnair’s risk
management and internal control systems are
subject to systematic monitoring

Risk management policy
and process

The framework and principles for risk management
have been definedin the Finnair Internal Control and
Risk Management Policy, which has been approved
by the Board of Directors. The policy is supplemented
by other policies for managing risks in specific areas.
Examples of other risk policies are the Treasury Policy,
the Procurement Policy, the Information Security
Policy, the Data Privacy Policy, the Competition
Policy, and the Trade Sanction Policy.

The Finnair Risk Management Framework and
principles are aligned with the internationally
recognised best practices forrisk management
(COSO Enterprise Risk Management - Integrating
with Strategy and Performance, and iSO
31000:2009 standard).

Risk identification and evaluation include the
following phases:

« |dentification of external and internal events
affecting the achievement of objectives;

« Distinction betweenrisks and opportunities;

« Analysis of dentified risks;

« Integration (aggregation) of risks;

« Evaluation and prioritisation of risks based on
theirimpact and likelihood.
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Risk governance

1stLine of Defence

Business units and shared functions are responsible
for setting the objectives and managing
day-to-day performance. As risk owners, the
business units and shared functions identify and
evaluate risks and make risk-informed decisions.
They manage risks by, among others, defining
and implementing controls. Thus, the First Line of
Defence is responsible for conducting day-to-day
control and risk management activities in
accordance with Finnair’s Risk Management and
Internal Control Frameworks.

As apart of the First Line of Defence, Finnair's
CEO and the Executive Board have the overall
accountability for appropriate risk management
practices.

2ndLine of Defence

Risk & Compliance provides expertise in risk
assessment and risk management,and actsasa
control function that s responsible for developing
and maintaining the Risk Management Framework

Finnair — Annual Report 2021
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and Internal Control Framework as well as for
continuously monitoring the implementation of
the policies, rules, procedures and key controls
within the frameworks. Risk & Compliance hasa
reporting line to the Audit Committee of the Board
of Directors.

Outside the scope of the Risk & Compliance

function s Finnair’s statutory Safety Management
System, which is required by Finnair’s Air Operator’s
Certificate and applicable Aviation Regulation

andis subject to specific responsibility matrix and
supervision prescribed by the supervisory authorities.
Safety & Compliance acts as a control function with
respect to the Safety Management System.

3rdLine of Defence

Internal Audit performs audits and provides the
Audit Committee with an independent assessment
of the overall effectiveness and maturity of the
internal control and risk management systems.

Risk management process

Informand
communicate

Conirol Environment

Monitorand
continuously
improve
Integraterisks
Evaluate risks
Controlrisks L
— i 7
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Significant risks and
unceriainties

The demand for air fransportation is generally
driven by macroeconomic factors, as there has
historically been a strong correlation between air
travel and the development of macroeconomic
factors such as GDP. Due to this correlation,
aviation is anindustry whichis highly sensitive

to global economic cycles andreacts quickly

to external disruptions, seasonal variations

and economic trends, as the global COVID-19
pandemic has demonstrated.

In the implementation of its strategy, Finnair is
faced with various risks and opportunities. Finnair
has a comprehensive risk management process
to ensure that risks are identified and mitigated
asmuch as possible, although many risks are not
within the company’s full control. The risks and
uncertainties described below are considered as
potentially having a significant impact on Finnair's
business, financial result and future outlook. This list
is notinfended to be exhaustive,

Finnalr - Annual Report 2021

The effect of the COVID-19 pandemic in the
markets in which Finnair operates has adversely
offected and is expected fo continue to adversely
affect the demand for Finnair's services. The
uncertainty concerning the duration of travel
restrictions, especially in Asio, pose arisk o
demand for airtravel, and consequently to
Finnair’s revenue development. The COVID-19
pandemic may also have long-term negative
effects on air travel demand due to potential
changes in traveller’s perception of the air travel
experience and the perceived uncertainty
relating to the current pandemic or other similar
heaiththreats in the future. The recovery of
business travel to pre-COVID-19 levels is likely

to be affected by the adoption of virtual and
teleconferencing tools.

Factors beyond Finnair's contro! are related to the
duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and travel
restrictions, as well as the recovery of demand for

air travel. In addition, other generalrisk factorsin
the industry and business, such as the fluctuation
of jet fuel prices, fluctuation in demand in general,
and fluctuations in currency exchange rates,
aswell as regulatory and tax changes are also
beyond Finnair's control,

Other general macroeconomic conditions, such as
deterioration in business or consumer confidence,
changing customer preferences or employment
levels, lower availability of credit, rising interest
rates, inflation, or changes in taxation may have

an adverse impact on private consumption, and
consequently on the demand for air travel.

The key factors affecting revenue and operating
result, that Finnair can affect, are operating cost
adjustments and the ability to respond to changes
in demand. Due o theimmense effect of the
COVID-19 pandemics, Finnair has carried out

an extensive cost-saving program. The current

inflationary pressure poses arisk to retaining the
cost level achieved.

As jet fuel costs are the largest variable expense
item, the jet fuel price development has a material
effect on profitability. Fuel price fluctuations may
result inincreased uncertainty around Finnair's
financial performance and cash flow. Jet fuel
prices have historically fluctuated significantly,
and fluctuations are expected to continue in the
future beyond the current COVID-19 crisis. Finnair's
ability to pass on the increased costs of jet fuel to
its customers by increasing fares islimited by the
competitive nature of the airline industry. Finnair’s
jetfuel costs are also subject to foreign exchange
rate risk as internationat prices for jet fuel are
denominatedin U.S. dollars. The residual effect

of jet fuel price fluctuations is determined by the
hedgesinuse at a given pointintime. Increasing
jetfuel costs, disruptions in fuel supplies and
ineffective hedging in relation to changes in market
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prices may result inincreased expenses, which
may have a material adverse effect on Finnair's
business, financial result and future outlook.
Derivatives used to hedge against adverse price
movements in jet fuel may prove to be inefficient
resulting in increased jet fuel price in relation to
market prices.

The COVID-19 pandemic potentially continuing
during most of the 2022 would have an adverse
impact on the company’s profitability, cash funds
and equity. Further, prolonged unprofitability

and depletion of equity may have anadverse
effect on the availability and terms of funding and
may also increase the risk of fleet and other fixed
assetimpairment.

Capacity increases and product improvements
among Finnair’s existing or new competitors may
have an effect on the demand for, and yield of,
Finnair's services. Competition inthe industry is
intense and the market situation is continuously
changing as new entrants and/or alliances
expand, industry participants consolidate and
airlines form marketing or operational alliances,
which might gain competitive advantage over
Finnair's oneword alliance orits joint businesses.
In addition, the cost base restructurings of
Finnair's competitors, undertakeninresponse
to the COVID-19 pandemic, may result in further
intensified competition through, among others,
more aggressive pricing.
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Finnair, along with other airlines, strives to
distribute its services inincreasingly versatile
and flexible ways and at lower cost by adopting
and utilising new distribution technologies

and channels, including the transition towards
differentiation of fare content and availability
between channels. The ability to capitalise

on the commercial possibilities provided

by these technologies is dependent on,

among others, Finnair's partners to develop
and implement such applications as well as
Finnair’s ability to generate products and
services that best correspond to customer
needs. Hence, introduction of new digital
distribution technologies and channels involves
implementation and commercial risks.

The aviation industry is affected by a number

of regulatory trends. Estimating the impacts of
the regulatory changes on airlines’ operational
activities and/or costs in advance is difficult.
Examples of such regulatory trends include
regulation related to emissions trading,

noise regulation and other environmental
regulation, as well as regulations on privacy and
consumer protection. Due to the extraordinary
circumstances caused by the COVID-19 pandemic,
uncertainties related to agreements and
authority policies as well as interpretation and
implementation of legislation, such as approval
of state aid, may increase. This may increase the
likelihood of litigation processes.

Finnairis exposed to the risk of operating losses
from natural events, pandemics or health
epidemics and weather-reloted events, influencing
operating costs. Outbreaks of epidemics or
pandemics, such as COVID-19, can adversely
affect the demand for air travel and have a
significant effect on Finnair's operations. Further,
natural hazards arising from climate chcinge,
such asincreased extreme weather conditions,
including substantial snowfall, atmospheric
turbulence, earthquakes, hurricanes, typhoons,
or severe thunderstorms, may result in substantial
additional costs to Finnair. Such weather
conditions may, for example, lead to flight
cancellations, increased waiting times, increased
fuel consumption as well as costs associated with
aircraft de-icing, which could lead to additional
costs to Finnair and thus, have an adverse

effect on Finnair’s results of operations and
financial condition.

Factors such as geopolitical uncertainty, the threat
of trade wars, the threat of terrorism, cyber-attacks
and pandemics as well as other potential external
disruptions may, if they materialise, significantly
affect Finnair's operations. Geopolitical

tensions may have an adverse effect onthe
global economic environment, and on Finnair's
network and profitability. In a changing aviation
business environment, it is difficult to predict the
impact the COVID-19 will have on airline market
access and traffic right opportunities in general.

Potentially increasing protectionism in the political
environment may have an adverse impact on the
market access required for the implementation

of Finnair’s strategy. At the same time, it is also
possible that connectivity needs may increase

in some countries, leading to increasing market
access opportunities and new traffic rights.

The overalllabourmarket situation in Finland

is challenging and it may have animpact on
Finnair's operations. Strikes and other work-related
disruptions may, if they materidalise, significantly
affect Finnair's operations.
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Seasonal variation and
sensitivities in business
operations

Due to the seasonality of the airline business,

the Group's revenue and resuit are, ina normal
situation, generally at their lowest in the first
quarter and at their highest in the third quarter

of the year. The growing proportional share of
Asian trafficincreases seasonal fluctuation due to
destination-specific seasons in Asian leisure and
business travel.

In addition to operational activities and market
conditions, the fuel price development has a key
impact on Finnair's result, as fuel costs are the
company's most significant variable expense item.
Finnair's foreign exchange risk arises primarily from
fuel and aircraft purchases, divestments of aircraft,
aircraft lease payments, aircraft maintenance,

Finnalr - Annuai Report 2021

overflight royalties and foreign currency revenue.
Significant dollar-denominated expense items are
fuel costs and aircraft lease payments. The largest
investments, namely the acquisition of aircraft and
thelirspare parts, are also mainly denominated in
US dollars. The most significant income currencies
after the euro are the Japanese yen, the Chinese
yuan, the US dollar, the South Korean won and the
Swedishkrona.

The company hedges its currency, interest rate
and jet fuel exposure using a variety of derivative
instruments, such as forward contracts, swaps and
options, incompliance with the risk management
policy approved annually by the Board of
Directors. Finnair's policy is o hedge its fuel

Sensitivities in business operations, impact on comparable operating

rofit (rolling 12 months from date of financial statements)

1percentage (point) change

Passenger load factor (PLF, %) EUR 27 million
Average yield of passenger traffic EUR 18 million
Unit cost (CASK excl. fuel) EUR 19 miillion

10% change, 10% change,
Fuel sensitivities {rolling 12 months from date of financial takingwithout  takinghedging
statements) hedging into account
Fuel EUR 59 million EUR 57 million
Fuel hedging and average hedged price Hedged fuel, Average hedge
(rolling 12 months from date of financial statements) tonnes*  price, USD/ton* **
December 2021 15,000 528
Q12022 20,000 632
Q22022 15,000 685
Q32022 12,000 647
Q42022 and aofter 6,000 651
Total 68,000 625

*Based on the hedged period, i.e. not hedging related cash flow.
** Average of swaps and bought call opfions strikes.



purchases 12 months forward on arolling basis. The
maximum hedging ratio for the 12-month period is
50 per cent and the lower limit is 0 per cent while
the target hedging ratio is set to 25 per cent.

Hedging of foreign currency exposure in
balance sheet

Due to the introduction of IFRS 16 in 2019, Finnair's
asset-related foreign currency exposure increased
with the recognition of the present value of
qualifying operating lease liabilities in the balance
sheet as right-of-use assets. Unrealised foreign
exchange losses/gains caused by the translation of
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the USD denominated liability will have animpact
on Finnair’s net result. In the future, the effectand
amount of the foreign currency exchange could be
positive or negative, depending on the USD-rate at
the closing date. Finnair has mitigated the foreign
exchange volatility infroduced by this difference by
using derivatives as well as natural hedges where
possible. The annual effect in net result going
forward is dependent on the size of the qualifying
operating lease portfolio, the duration of the leases
and hedging ratio. At the end of 2021, the hedging
ratio of USD denominated aircraft lease payments
and liabilities was approximately 50 per cent.

Currency sensitivities USD and JPY
(rolling 12 months from date of financial
statements for operational cash flows)

Hedging ratio for
operationat cash flows
{rolling next 12 months)

Sales currencies .

10% change, without 10% change, taking
hedging hedging into account

EUR 46 55 - - -
usp* ' 5 4 see below see below see below
JPY 9. 7 EUR2Im EUR2Im 7%
CNY 7. 6 - - -
KRW 5 3 - - -
SEK 4 3 - - -
Other i 25 21 - - -
Purchase currencies )

EUR . 69 59 - - -
uspD* 26 - 35 EUR70m EUR67m 14%
Other 5 6 - - -

* Hedging ratio and sensitivity analysis for USD basket, which consists of net cash flows in USD and HKD. The sensitivity analysis
assumes that the correlation of the Hong Kong dollar with the US dollar is strong.

Finnalr - Annua! Report 2021
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Outlook

Guidance issued on
26 October 2021:

Even though travelling in Europe has opened

and will open to the United States and Thailand

in November, the travel restrictions will continue

to have a dampening impact on demand
especially in Asia. Based on anincreased level

of vaccinations, Finnair expects Asia to opento
travelers more meaningfully early 2022 - exclusive
of China, which is expected to open only after

the first half of 2022. While cargo continues to be
strong and the cost savings programme delivers as
planned, due to the travel restrictions, incremental
costs caused by the ramped-up capacity and
higher fuel price, the comparable operatingloss in
Q4 2021is expected to be of asimilar magnitude as
in Q3 2021 despite the gradual increase inrevenue.
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The company estimates that the operating cash
flow remains positive in Q4 2021.

Further, due to the slow recovery of Asian traffic,
Finnair estimates that the comparable operating
losses will continue also during the first half of
2022.Even though Finnair estimates that the
operational environment in the second half of
2022 will be closer to the pre-pandemic era, the
company expects areturnto its 2019 traffic levels,
as measured in annual ASKs, in 2023.

Finnair will update its outlook and guidance in
connection with the financial statements bulletin
for2021.

New guidance on
17 February 2022:

Travelling in Europe and to the United Statesis
open but Asia remains highly restricted for travel,
exclusive of countries such as Thailand, Singapore
andIndia. There is prolonged uncertainty of when
China or Hong Kong would be opening for travel.
Due to e.g., the Omicron variant, Finnair now
estimates that other Asian markets would gradually
open for travel towards the end of Q2 2022.

In comparison to Q4 2021, Omicronis having a
notable but short-lived adverse effect on revenue
and costs in Q12022. Further, the ongoing travel
restrictions will continue o soften demand,
particularly to and from Asia going forward. Due
to these factors as well asincreased fuel price and
incremental costs caused by the need toramp up

capacity for summer 2022, Finnair's comparable
operating loss in Q12022 is expected tobe of a
similar magnitude as in Q1 2021. Finnairreiterates its
previous estimate that the comparable operating
losses will continue also during the entire first half
of 2022.

The latter half of 2021 demonstrated that there is
robust pent-up demand for travel. During the first
half of 2022, the impact of travel restrictions on
Finnalr's business is expected to fade. Therefore,
the company still estimates that the operational
environment in the second half of 2022 will be
closer to the pre-pandemic era, exclusive of China
and Hong Kong, and expects a return to its 2019
traffic levels, as measured in annual ASKs, in 2023.

Finnair willupdate its outlook and guidance in
connectionwith the Q1 2022 interim report.
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Key performance indicators classified
as alternative performance measures

Finnair uses alternative performance measures (APM) referred to in the European Securities Markets Authority (ESMA) guidelines
to describe its operotional and financial performance in order to enhance comparability between financial periods and to
enable better comparability relative to its industry peers. The alterative performance measures do not replace IFRS indicators.

Alternative performance measures

Calculation

Reason to use the measure

{tems affecting comparability

Unredalized changes in foreign currencies of fleet overhaul provisions
+ Fair value changes of derivatives where hedge accounfing is not
applied + Sales gains and losses on aircraft and other transactions +
Changes in defined benefit pension plans + Restructuring costs

Component used in calculating comparable operating resuit.

Comparable operating resuit

Operating result - items affecting comparability

Comparable operating result is presented to better reflect the Group's
business performance when comparing results to previous periods.

Comparable operating result, % of revenue

Comparable operating result / Revenue x 100

Comparable operating result is presented to better reflect the Group's
business performance when comparing results to previous periods.

Revenue at 2018 and 2019 constant currency .

Revenue + Currency impact adjustment at 2018 and 2019 currency

Component used in calculating comparable operating result at
constant currency and fuel price and K at constant currency. All
changesin currency levels and hedging results since 2018 and 2019 are
excluded from the measurement.

Costs at 2018 and 2019 constant currency and fuel price

Other operating income + Operating expenses included in comparable
operating result + Currency and fuel price impact adjustment at 2018
and 2019 currency and price

Component used in calculating comparable operating result at
constant currency and fuel price and CASK at constant currency and
fuel price. All changes in fuel price, currency levels and hedging results
since 2018 and 2019 are excluded from the measurement.

Comparable operating result at 2018 and 2019 constant currency
and fuel price

Revenue at 2018 and 2019 constant currency + Costs at 2018 and 2019
constant currency and fuel price

Comparable operating result at constant currency and fuel price aims
to provide a comparative, currency and fuel price neutral measurement
for comparable operating result. All changesin fuel price, currency
levels and hedging results since 2018 and 2019 are excluded from the
measurement.

RASK at 2018 and 2019 constant currency

&g/%nue at 2018 and 2019 constant currency / Available seat kilometres

Unit revenue (RASK) at constant currency aims fo provide a
comparative, currency neutral measurement for unit revenues. All
changes in currency levels and hedging results since 2018 and 2019 are
excluded from the measurement.

CASK at 2018 and 2019 constant currency and fuel price

Costs at 2018 and 2019 constont currency and fuel price / Available seat
kilometres (ASK)

Unit cost (CASK) at constant currency and fuel price aims to provide
acomparative, currency and fuel price neutral measurement for unit
costs. All changes in fuel price, currency levels and hedging results since
2018 and 2019 are excluded from the measurement.

Finnair - Annual Report 2021
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Caiculation

Reason to use the measure

Comparable EBITDA

Comparable operating result + Depreciation and impairment

Comparable EBITDA s presented to better reflect the Group's business
performance when comparing results fo previous periods. Comparable
EBITDA is a common measure in irline business which aims to reflect
comparable operating result excluding capital cost.

Comparable EBITDA, % of revenue

Comparable EBITDA/Revenue x100

Comparable EBITDAIs presented to better reflect the Group's business
performance when comparing results to previous periods. Comparable
EBITDA is a common measure in girline business which aims to reflect
comparable operating result excluding capital cost.

Equity ratio, %

Equity total / Equity and liabilities total x 100

Equity ratio provides information on the financial leverage used by the
Group tofundifs assets.

Adjusted interest-bearing liabilities

Lease liabilities + Other interest-bearing liabilities + Cross currency
interest rate swaps in derivative financialinstruments

Component used in calculating gearing.

Cashfunds

Cash and cash equivalents + Other financial assets

Component used in calculating gearing. Cash funds represent the total
amount of financial assets that are available for use within short notice.
Therefore, cash funds provide the true and fair view of the Group’s
financial position.

Interest-bearing net debt

Adjusted interest-bearing liabilities - Cash funds

Interest-bearing net debt provides view of the Group's total external
debt financing.

Gearing, %

Interest-bearing net debt / Equity total x 100

Gearing provides view of the level of the Group's indebtedness.

Interest-bearing net debt / Comparable EBITDA, LTM

Interest-bearing net debt / Comparable EBITDA, for the last twelve
months

The ratio provides information on the Group's leverage by comparing
the Group’'s net debt to the amount of income generated before
covering interest, taxes, depreciation and impairment.

Gross capital expenditure

Additionsin fixed assets + New contracts in right-of-use assets +
nents and modifications in right-of-use assets

Gross capital expenditure provides information on the Group’s
capitalized investments and lease modifications.

Return on capital employed (ROCE), LTM, %

(Result before taxes + Financial expenses + Exchange rate gains and
losses, for the last twelve months) / (Equity total + Lease liabilities + Other
inte;e;;—beoring liabilities, average of reporting period and comparison
periof

The ratio provides a view to monitor the return of capital employed.

Finnair - Annual Reporl 2021
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Reconciliation of key performance indicators
classified as alternative performance measures

Items affecting comparability Comparable operating result, RASK and CASK at 2019 constant currency and fuel price

EUR in millions 2021 2020 EURin millions, unless otherwise indicated 2021 2020

Operating result [} -4544 | -464.5 Revenue { 8384 | 829.2

Unrealized changes in foreign currencies of fleet overhaul provisions { Nn74j 122 Currency impact adjustment at 2019 currency ] 721 27

Fairvalue changes of derivatives where hedge accountingis not applied | 00 | 0.2 Revenue at 2019 constant currency ! 8456 | 8319

Sales gains and losses on aircraft and other transactions | 56 | -0.8 Other operating income v 3921 484

Changes in defined benefit pension plans ! -206 | -1328 Operating expensesincluded in comparable operating result 1 -1,3464 | -14729

Restructuring costs { 001 149 Currency and fuel price impact adjustment at 2019 currency and price | 148 | 71

Comparable operating result i -4689 | -5953 Costs at 2019 constant currency and fuel price i 13221} -1,4074

Depreciation and impairment | 3198 | 3438 Comparable operating result at 2019 constant currency and fuel price { -476.5 | -575.5

Comparable EBITDA | -149.0 } -251.5 Available seat kilometres (ASK), million i 12094 | 12937
RASK at 2019 constant currency, cents/ASK i 699 | 643
CASK at 2019 constant currency and fuel price, cents/ASK ] 1093 | 10.88

Comparable operating result, RASK and CASK at 2018 constant currency and fuel price iR

EUR in millions, unless otherwise indicated 2021 2020 . N

Revenue 1 8384 202  Fauiyratio

Currency impact adjustment ot 2018 currency E 251 -08 EUR in millions, unless otherwise indicated 2021 2020

Revenue at 2(?18 f:onsiam currency . 8359 | 8284 Equity fotal - ; 571 8966

Other operatingincome ! 392} 484 Equity and iabilfies fofdl ; 40471 | 36465

Operating expensesincluded in comparable operating result { 41,3464 | -14729 Equity ratio, % 0 nel 246

Currency and fuel price impact adjustment at 2018 currency and price * 531 . 372

Costs at 2018 constant currency and fuel price : -1,3019 § -1,3873

Comparable operating result at 2018 constant currency and fuel price | -466.0 | -558.9

Available seat kilometres (ASK), million { 12094 ¢ 12937

RASK at 2018 constant currency, cents/ASK . { 6914 6.40

CASK at 2018 constant currency and fuel price, cents/ASK H 10.76 | 10.72

Finnalr - Annual Report 2021 : a1
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Gearing, interest-bearing net debt and interest-bearing net debt / Comparable EBITDA, LTM

Return on capital employed (ROCE),LTM

EUR in millions, unless otherwise indicated 31Dec2021  31Dec 2020 EUR in millions, unless otherwise indicated 31Dec2021  31Dec2020
Lease liabilities i 13810 | 10162 Result before taxes, LTM | -5819 | -6544
Otherinterest-bearing liabilities i 14279 { 1162.6 Financial expenses, LTM | 178 | 255.2
Cross currency interest rate swaps® ' 1231 188 Exchange rate gains and losses, LTM H 225! -26.6
Adjusted interest-bearing liabilities ! 279661 21975 Return, LTM -4416 | -425.8
Otherfinancial assets . -5314 | -358.3 Equity fotal 4757 | 896.6
Cash and cash equivalents i 7343 | -465.3 Lease liabilities 13810 | 1,016.2
Cash funds \ -1,265.7 | -823.7 Otherinterest-bearing liabilities 14279 | 11626
Interest-bearing net debt ! 1,5309 | 13738 Capital employed 1 32846 ¢ 30754
Equity total | 4757 { 896.6 Capital employed, average of reporting period and comparison period | 31800 | 2,808.3*
Gearing, % ] 3218} 153.2 Return on capital employed (ROCE), LTM, % ] -139 | -15.2
Comparable EBITDA, LTM | 1490 | -2515 * Capital employed accounted was EUR 2.541.1 million as at 31 Dec 2019,

Interest-bearing net debt / Comparable EBITDA, LTM i 103 ¢ -5.5

* Cross-currency inferest rate swops are used. forhed&:;ng the currency and inferest rate risk of inferest-
bearing loans, but hedge accounting is not o A:;Iied. anges in fair net value correlate with changes
in the fair value of interest-bearing liabilities. Therefore, the fair net value of cross-currency interesfrate
swaps recognised in derivative assets/liabilities and reported in note 3.8, is considered an inferest-
bearing liability in the net debt colculation.

Gross capital expenditure

EURIn millions 2021 2020
Additions in fixed assets ! 2871 3483
New contractsin right-of-use assets 3806 1733
Reassessments and modifications in right-of-use assets 253 -57
Gross capital expenditure 4345 5159

Finnalr — Annuc! Report 2021
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Other performance indicators

Revenue and profitability

Modern premium airline

Earnings per share (EPS), basic

(Resuli for the period - Hybrid bond expenses net of tax) / Average
number of outstanding shares during the period

Earnings per share (EPS), diluted

(Resuli for the period - Hybrid bond expenses net of tax) / Average
number of outstandinfgfshares durln%he period taking info
account the diluting effect resulting from changing into shares all
potentionally diluting shares

Net Promoter Score (NPS)

Net Promoter Score is based on a question: "Thinking about all
aspects of this journey, how likely would you be to recommend
Finnair fo arelative, friend or colleague?” Scaleis 0-10: The share
of detractors (rafings 0-6} is deducted from the share of promoters
(ratings 9-10). Result is between +100 and -100.

Unit revenue per available seat
kilometre

Unit revenue {RASK) represents the Group's revenue divided by
availoble seat kilometres (ASK).

Unit revenue per revenue
passenger kilometre (yield)

Passenger revenue by product divided by Revenue passenger
kilometres (RPK).

Share of digital direct ticket sales

Share of ticket salesin Finnair's own direct channels inrelation fo
total ticket sales for the period. Direct channels include Finnaircom,
Finnair mobile app, New Distribution Capability (NDC) solutions
and Finnair Holidays.

Unit cost per available seat
kilometre (CASK)

Unit cost (CASK) represents the Group's operational costs divided
by available seat kilometres. Other operating income is deducted
from operational costs.

Sustainability

Flight CO, emissions

CO, emissions from jet fuel consumption

CASK excluding fuel

(Comparable operating result - Revenue - Fuel costs) / ASK x 100

Traffic

Culture and ways of working

Absences due toillness

Share of sickness absence hours relating to planned work hours

Available seat kilometres (ASK)

Total number of seats available x kilometres flown

Lost-time injury frequency (LTIF)

The number of workplace accidents per million working hours

Revenue passenger kilometres
{RPK)

Number of revenue passengers x kilometres flown

Attrition rate, LTM

Number of leavers on own request during the last twelve months
compared to active employments on reporting date and leavers
on own request during the last twelve months

Passenger load factor (PLF)

Share of revenue passenger kilometres of available seat kilometres

Share

Operational excellence

Equity/share

Equity / Number of outstanding shares at the end of period

On-time performance

The share of flights arrived less than 15 minutes late

Dividend/earnings

Dividend per share / Earnings per share (EPS) x 100

Finnair = Annual Report 2021

Dividendyield, %

Dividend per share / Share price at the end of period x 100

Cash flow from operating Net cash flow from operating activities / Average number of
acfivities/share outstanding shares during the period
P/Eratio Share price at the end of period / Earnings per share (EPS) x 100
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Statements

How to read Finnair Financlal Statements?

Finnair's financial facilitatk di

of the financial d to clarify th i pict fromit. The

notes to the i have been: to business related sections,
listing the: ling principles, critical timates and

sources of uncertainty in each section. In addition, comments oninteresting figures
and other highlighls are provided in text areas marked with a star. The financial
statements also include illusirative charts to support th= understanding of the
figures.

A Notes to the fi ial have been int fions based
their contexl. The aim s to give a more relevant picture of the Finnair Group and its
business. The content of each section is described and explcined in the beginning
of thot section and marked with BL

Specific accouniing principles are ottached to the relevant note. The accounting
princi be recognised fi ter BY.

@ Critical i timat of have been
together with the relevant note and specified with character Bl

B Hightights related to the section are explained in a separate text box lo underline
significont matters,

This Financial 2021is not an xHTML compliant with the
ESEF (European Single Elecironic Format) ion. Financial ion 2021 in

Finnalr - Annual Report 2021
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Consolidated income statement

C i of ive income
Consolidated balance sheet

Consolidated cash flow statement

C tatement of ity

Notestothe lidated financial stat its
Accounting principles
‘Company information

Basis of preporation

Impact of the COVID-19 onth
Board of Finnairi going concemn

ot o et
Changes in accounting principles

10peratingresult

1.1Segment information
1.2Operatingincome

1.21Revenue by product and ¥affic area
1.2.2 Revenue by currency
1.2.3Recelvablesrelated to revenue

1.24 D i d

1.3Operating expenses

1.31 Operating expenses by currency
1.3.2 Passenger and handling services
1.3.3 Property, IT and other expenses
1.3.4Inventories and other cur-ent assets
1.3.5 Other liabilities

1.3.6 Provisions

1.3.7 tems affecting comparability

1.3.8 Employee benefits

138 I benefit exp: d share-based paymenis
1.3.8.2Pensions

2Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing arrangements

2.1Fleet and other fixed asset
2.21easing arrangements
2.3 Depreciation and impairment

3 Capital structure and financing costs
31 Financlalincome and expenses.

3.2Financiol assels

3.2 Other current financial assets

3.2.2Cash and cash equivalents

3.3 Financial liabilifies

3.4 Contingent liabilities

3.5Management of financial risks

3.6Cl
3.7 Offsetting financial assets ond liabilities
3.8Derivafives

39 Equity-related information

4 Consolidation

41 General consolidation principles

4.2 Subsidiaries

4.3 Acquisitions and disposals

4.4 Investments In associates and Joint ventures.
45 Reloted porly fransactions

5 Other notes

5iincome taxes

5.2 Dispules and liligation

5.3 Events after the closing date

6Parent pany ial

Board of directors’proposal on the dividend

Auditor'sreport
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

EUR milll. Note 2021 2020 EURmIIl. Note 2021 2020
Revenue 11,121 8384 8292 Resutt for -464.3 -523.2
Other operating income 625! 453 Other comprehensive income Items
s ! Hems that may bereclassified to profit or loss In subsequant periods i !
Staff and other crew related costs 138, -2293" -1639 Change Infalrvalue of hedging Instruments 3041 -299
Fuelcosts i -2114: -2328 Translation differences 07
Capacityrents i 2713 -89.3 Toxeffect 60’ 60
Alrcraft materials and overhaul N -117.2} 925 Htems : i
Tratfic charges -1204" -1124 Actuarial galns and losses from defined benefit plans 13821 430 -13.1
Sales, marketing and distribution costs . -38.1" -282 Toxeffect ' 86" 26
Passenger and handling services 132i -148.0 -168.6 Other comprehensive Income [tems tota! ! 584" -35.1
Depreciation andimpairment 231 -3198 -3438 Comprehensive Income for the period L -405.9 -558.4
Property, [T and other expenses 1331 -99.7: -1116 ]
Operatingresult Y 4645, :
3114 128 38.7 Owners of . 4059 5584
311 -117.8' -2552
hy d losses 311 -22.5 266
Resull before foxes ~ 5819 6544 0 The con ‘srex ; 1
i T 51 1176 1311 . 4 OVID- Alhough
NCOMS IOXES, L A - passengeralr half of 2021, the 1 remained al the
Result for the period -a843! -523.2 fevelof period amounting to 838.4 2). Despi
i tokenin 2021, i yeor's level du
N in
: nole 137
Owners of the parent company -4643 5232
© i
Eamings per share attributable to v
EUR ) H
share 391 034} 051
Dituted shor 394 034! 051
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of comprehensiveincome EURmill Note 2021 2020 EURmILL. Note 2021 2020
ASSETS . : EQUITY AND LIABILITIES v [
« Consolidated batance shoet Non-curren assets t Equity attributable fo ownersof the parent [ |
Fleet 211 9463 14403 Share copital T 754! 754
Consolidated cash flow statement Right-of-use fleet 220 102531 7725 Other equity 40021 8212
Fleef totl T 1976 22127 Equity fotal C arsy 8966
Consolidated statement Other fixed ossets 214 1623 1853 iities ! b
of changes in equity Right-of- 221 1564 1450 Leose liabillles 22,331 120420 880.6
Ofherfixed assefs fotal v 3187 3302 Otherinterest-bearing liabilties 33t 9se2l 11110
Notesto the consolidated Pension assets 13821 809 318 Pension obligations 13821 07! 15
financial statements Other non-current assefs - 69 251 Provisions and otherlabilfies 1361 2007 1611
Deferred tax assefs 514 1919 848 Nor-current liabiltties fotal i 23016 21542
1. Operaling result Non-current assets fotal ' 25699 26847 Currentliabilities 1 T
2 Fleet and ofher fixed asset Currentas H Leose fablifles 22331 1769 1356
amangements i 1231 1109 575 Otherinterest-bearing libilfies 33t 4a17: 515
3 Capltalstructure and financing costs 1344 5581 68.1 Provisions 1361 138 200
. Consoldafion Dert 381 261 124 Trade payables R 535 248
& othernot Otherfinancial assefs 3211 5314! 3583 Dervative financlal instruments 381 04: 99.7
- Othernoles Cosh, 3221 7343 4653 Deferredin 1241 2911t 1336
6. Parent company financial statements Current assetstotal T 14585’ 9618 Liabiliies related fo employee benefits 13811 744} 707
Assefsheld forsale : 187 Otherliobllties 1351 1281° 598
Board of directors’ proposol on the dividend 40471 36465 Current llabilities totel ! 117981 595.7
Uabiliies fotal T 35714 27499
Auditor's report Equity andliabiltiestotal 1 404711 36465
<] 2021
Fin Janis tomitigate the COVID-
isi totcling
five new financing i the. . As a resul, i increased to
808 21787} ond the sumof. hequi 65.7 il
(8237, Ty four sl
lease in the value of the RoU fleet fofaling 101,025.3 milion
( fleel to 9463 (1.4403).
i 101919 mi igni the COVID9
pandemic.
8 =Highlights
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Consolidated income statement

Consolidated cash flow statement

e EURmILL 2001 2020  *Liquidtunds
Cash flow from operating activitles i ' .
Consolidated balance sheet Resultbefore taxes s CSBL9) 6544 EURmII. 2021 2020
Depreciation and impairment . 3198 l 3438 Other financlal assets { 5314} 3583
Consolidated cash flow statement Financlal income and expenses ! 12751 1899 Cashand cosh equivalents ' 7343! 4653
Sales gains ando: i H -19.41 08 Cashfunds 1 12657 823.7
Consolidated statement Change in provisions ' 1981 35 Othercurrent finonclol ssefs (maturlly over 3 months) 11571 318
of chonges inequity 1 43)  -1208 Liquld funds {13500 7922
Other L 331 07 N -
Non-cashtransactions T 1891 1166 e o i the nofe 3.
ﬁ:;i}:,'?.i;"m"iﬁ','? oted Chongesin trode and other recelvables 1 4991 1123 Oondinthencle 39 Equily-reloted information.
Changesin inventories ] 19' 46 -
1. Operafingresult Changesin'ra = S EREEE ! 25131 £720 The net ko 2021 3 million
2 Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing < i 20921 -5552 043, S bl
anangements i net 13 9931 -2434 ;1)927;1 i ston el oth , i '. les during the o of
3 Capilal structure and financing costs Income loxes pald ) L 04 e i sh flow resullng from e g ransaciions of aswel
4. Consolidation : '25’!; 40451 the senior i L ing activit
5. Othernotes Cashfiow 1 Y
6. Parent company financial statements. 7 703" 3007
Investmentsin other fixed assets 1 60 247
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend Divestmentsof fleet, other fixed assets and shares 1 44171 2211
Lease andlease nterest payments received R 117 161
Auditor’s report Change In other current fin | {moturity over3 months) 1 -67.5! 4399
Change inolher non-current assefs i 00, 00
Net cash flow from investing activities v 3096' 3516
1 I
Cashf les [ [
. 396.7: 8728
i T 1548 -2180
Repayments of lease liabllilies. i -146.81 -1349
i ] 5117
Shore lssue costs - ) { -111
Hybrid bond repayments ! ] -2000 .
Proceeds from hybrid bond ] I 2000
Hybridbond T -205' 4185
i U 11!
Net cash flow from financing activilles i 734 10019
ChangelIn cash flows 1 357.8/ 3105
Liquid funds, at beginning : 7922! 4817
Change incash flows 1 357.81 3105
L atend® | 115000 7922

O =Highlights
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

of comprehensive income Other  Hedgingreserve Unrestricted
EURmill. Share capital restrictedfunds and other OClitemns uity funds _Retained earnings Hybridbond uity total
Consolidated balance sheet Equity1Jan2021 754 168.1 -418 759.5 2626 198.0 896.6;
Result for the perlod -464.3 -464.3"
Consofidated cash flow statement Changein fairvalue of hedging instruments 240 240:
plans 344 344
C the period 4 464, -405.9
Consolidated statement Fivbrid E= 58, -16: 42 W
of changes In equity ybr ! L)
Acquisitions of own shares 11 11}
Notes o the consolldated Share-based poyments 24 24
financlal statements Equity 31 Dec2021 754, 1681 166 762.0 1345 1980 475.7
1. Operafing resuit Other Hedgingreserve Unrestricted
2 Fleetand ofherfixed assets and leasing EURmIL. Share capital restricted funds_and other OClitems equityfunds _Retained earnings Hybridbond Equity total
omangements Equity1Jan2020 754 168.1 -67 256.1 2152 1982 966.4
3. Capital structure and financing costs Result forthe perlod 5232 5232
4. Consolidation Ch e -239 -239
5. Othernotes Actuorial gain: defined -10.5 -105
6. Parent company financial statements Transiotion differences 07 0.7
the period -35.1 -523.2 -5584
Board of directors’ proposal dividend 5117 5117
costs 88 88
Auditor’s report 2000 2000
Hybrid -2000 -200.0
Hybrid -146 02 -148
Share-bosed payments 06 06
Equity 31Dec2020 754 168.1 -418 759.5 2626 1980 896.6
B Equity ratio at14.8% in 2021(24.6%)
The COVID- i P resultfor 2 mil
Finnalr ettuelp Thy fing to 240
. iniyto d2021.C) fher OCI (other ome) ttems are y
B3 =Highlights
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements Basis of preparation or 202 nih
Financlal (FRS) Unlon, and they comply with the IAS nnd
Accounting principles IFRS standard: SICand IFRIC 31 December 2021,
h " low.Ch
Finnalr' o2 in 2021and f riod: below secfion Ch
Finnalr desc g principles in conjunction wi ith th o hanced principles,
each. -« The bosis of aﬂh_nsnmeo) le T , whichis the parem mmpanYS functional
i ¢ the policy currency. i i infe by using the
the actual text of the standard, uniess Finnalr considers It pos y impt the note’s exchange the date of fonetary liabil foreign
confent The toble ing princip i the end of the iod are i of the
standard the accounfing principle is primariy based on Forek h b y bl 1l asfalr value
changes ized in
The 2021 i b iginal isi , except
_Accounting principle Note Nr. IFRS |ur'u ts igh I fair value and fair
Segment reporting Segment 11 FRSE e o fomtho ol choun, o nded
otheri d trad IFRS 15,FRS 9,
receivables Operating income 12 [FRS7 Impact of the COVID 19 onthecor ial stat s
Provisions and contingent fiabilities Provisions 136 1AS37 The financial year 2021 was i i the COVID-
138 1AS 19, IFRS 2 The COVID- finued fo by negative impact
Pensions Pensions 1382 1AS 19 demand alsoin 2021, Finnaks . Despite
1AS 16,45 36, m n| and Inthe second half of 2021, enct v
Tangible and infangible assets Fleet and other fixed assels 21 1AS38 9 vty of o 2021
2, .
Leoses lf"""“"““gem's g Tz;: qmnerofnwprecowo 19 Ievels of 2019 (47188 million), Finnair in 2021 fotalled o 838.4 mill
— {829.2) ond the 29 millon (3.5). The el lotive to
Inferestin F i 31 IFRS7.1AS 32 due,,,,hem,,u.. h hich the
Financlal ossets 32 IFRS 9, IFRS 7 i d for air the COVID: ic and hai
Cash and cash equivalents 32 IFRS 9, IFRS 7 c i 88.3 percent 1o 3347 millk 77 igh Finnair was able
Financiat labilities Financidl liabiifies 33 IFRS 9.1FRS 7 d oriable ing 2021 as part of ifs cost sovi m ' result of 4544
Derlvalive contracts and hedge accounting Dertvatives _ 38 IFRS9,IFRS 7 . i bon curorwhertasor e rmm
£Eauily, dividend and freasury shares Equity-relc 39 IAS32IAS33  ye o 2021 1 wos 14.4 mil the period 2021 4 "3m|l||nn euro (5232),
Consolidation princlples of subsidiories Subsidiaries 42 IFRS 10 The negafi for d caused by the COVID: mpactimpact onthe
N troling fions with bolanse sheet. Thy ' ! 47% 10 4757 mill (896.6). Tolal net deferred
non-controlling inferests i 42 IFRS 10 tax asset she meendafzon Increased to 1919 million euro
Investments In assaciates and (84.8). Further, 1 iobili (2,154.2) mainly b
res Joint ventures LE] IFRS11,1A528 the four d Msa uln:run Finnair also issued an unsecured
transactions 45 1AS24 bond of d f the earlier, maturing bonds and fo provide general
Income tax and deferred taxes Incomne taxes 51 1AS 12 funding for the Group. Flnmlrs current Ilubllmes Increased fo 1,179.8 million euro (595.7) resulting mainty from the
fhem t of (due in December 2022) to short-
L] [ from the i ticket BIE
Company information Th 'snet cash flow i i ivities i Jani during 2021 t0-253
Finnalr fransport 9 ifior (1,043)). s 10 th o
pany is Finnalr Plc, whichi Helsinki o address Tiefofie 9, Vantaa. The parent (relatting fight In2020 and, on the other hand, the Increase In ficket sales
DAQ OMX H during the second half of 2022. Finnalr's fiquid by during th
The consolidated financlal stofements of Finnair Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 were authortzed totaled to 1150.0 milllon euro (792.2) as at 3112.2021. during the year inly due to
forissue by the Board of Directors of Finnatr Plc on 16 Februury 2022. Under Finland's Limifed Liability Oompanles alrcraft financing transactions of the A3 fotaling f il
Act, shareholders have the option fo accept, or reject th euro.
1he shareholders, which will be held after f the Further detall on th be found in the following d oper
expenses (note 1.2and 1.3), deferred i 124) 1.38.2),aircraft
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financing Innotes 21,22 and 3.3), djel 31and 38, changesin pera gatively Impaciing h flows. The maturities of
bil (notes 3.3 and 39) b bearing llablif 33.0nd licies and
The COVID-1! iso had animp the criti i d liquidity risk 3.5 and 3.8. Finnair had no debt covenants at the end of the:
y. Thi the below section Crifi year2021. .
sources of uncertainty. The fo thy h of
the COVID- fiming of the y the timing
Board s assessmerwofF'nm:lrasu going concem d J i i ants, functi “uvoocine
d based on i ion. The Finnair lifting of ici i ition all of which
Board of Dir s ability to contit going ili certainty at ihe fime of ion of the ddil the price of fuells sub;ec! fo
o meet they fall due atleast 12 h the Issued. The Board of higher y, which is further 22 y of an i
Directors' the latest three-year the the ild y
3oard of Directors. Due o the inty inthe i i the di in affect th i it i d costs of Finnair's Asia. Th i tin f
of the COVID- ic, the Board of Di Finnalr Infl pply i treiafing
th that cover a period of 3 lﬂmm'y2022 1 of the COVID- ic and mak th i the
to December 2024. Th e fravel. This agaln is heavily
pace of fh y.Underall , Finnair will b they fall due uHeﬂsl pa Y tions of the y parts of the wor!dundmelime that it takes to gel the
12monihs after the date that the financial statements are issued. pandemic under control.
anmfs customer demand started to: recover ‘materially i 2021 and th Despite of fhe innair hasat its di | miligafing
recent forecast . ith the 2021 measures that are within i d wil it willbe able fo meet it i
f th Y The demand for at least 12 months after the d finar These include util f the unds
expected to recover slower 2022 than what d atthe fime of the preparation of state hybrid k fotaling te illion euro, further: ich Finnai il I toseek
the 2020 ichis i of the COVID- i travel additional i st adj pportuniti
In the b fio, which i the three, Finnair expects C i b
P of i i 1 availabl n2022. to planned measures fo mifigate the Impacts of the COVID-19 1he Board of Direct
the pre-| of the year. 2020: 95%). In the h i thot the does not cast ity t going
capacity is expected o reach 87% of the 2019 levexs in2022, in the most pessimi o, s that h dopt the going basls of ing these
expected o remain at 75%. Despife the di f thy Y. it toreturn i The Board of Director’s isbasedonthe i ilabl
1o the pre-covid levels of 2019 in allbut il 2023 asat the financial
oapucnysexpeded to reuch‘?s%onhe,,. i Allof forecast on that the company s able adjusted b di
d financing for peﬂod 0(01 leasti2 monIhs after Ihe date that 'heﬂnclncla!
of programs, Imlng i ially i d vaccine d.
passports. ltis ios, that the unit i in below the. ! fier the bal heet d that onthe
the perfod of due folower ‘share of corporale travel. At the same ri d by the Board of DI oing of the Group.
time, the saving i costs. Flight related variable Despite thi Finnair, thy
expet ipactty, b by d the resulting o d for alr travel
rather constant between all scenarios. d weaker for a duration that is currently unceriain. Should future events or
In 2021, Finnair continued it all st difl the Group f i [ t the
i tomeet i innair continued targeting Board of Directors, using the goi principle moy pr i ying
bothtemporary and cost 15"1 July 202, that tt its il as th f s be ad] d
earfler target fo 2 il ({based on 20t lumes) l m the beginnir
The temporary fthe porary loyt i ly to P of cor dincome st and balance sheet
y i it porary its fleetinorder to Finnalr the f i on1January 2021 In order fo clarify
b levelof i ing ret h to i vill present the ifems'Ct EBITDA and ‘C ’ previously
th , Finnalr rted on thi faf onlyin me no!es 1o the financiol statements. Similarly, items
Tiquidity, eg of 400 mil wi affecting that the face of
State of of fr financing i o . In addition, towhichthey g by thelrnature. Due fo the change In
Finnalri bond totaling t li in order to repay its existing, he the i ¥ nnd 'Ce DA
and topmvide general purpose financir ng g i n ith thy I
result of the alr's liquidity at 31 December ent for riod by djusted
202[ hi ip held 1, (792.2). The cash urrent financiol between Thy P inmore detailin Note 1.37. Ilerm
ity over s) to 1,265.7 li {823.7). Th and the Board ff g f th and cosh i
oD - oy " / plprini
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T hod 7 profitfor the period n fhe — - - -
current or previous financial year. The ch 150 h fecton th bal h a ¢ o 'hekg"""',g

™ " biotal operating resulf definediptheiAs] D the fime of

res Finar ss ; o andsour of Y ‘
benefits, fuel cost: lease alrcraft hange raks sectionsof the
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statement and balance sheet. Cust delaysor riabl ntract
as an adjustment o revenue.
. " Y le of ficket suct
11Segment information fecs asw c andsalec goods inihegirrafl 2d when the flght
ince
- separate revenue jon The sale of goods i the good: ivered o th
Y segment reporting s
i h Tour i i 7 ions, which are
The chief i i ker, i I
¢ 4 i i S s are o i OVID- . year y
based on Group's busi i i Airline business. ieriol 0 4 A
™ B according to FRS
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compoared foFinnair's lotal revenue. of Y th te ‘behaviour and the point expiry
ratesinthe future. ll
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financlol position, Traok deferr y prepald fight travel North Unallo m‘:’:‘;e":y
tour services sented in with b thy rtin revenue "
recognition. B i Tpa EURmill. Asia Aflantic Europe Domestic  cated Total product
Possenger revenue 753 386 2436 603 30 4208 502
Revenuerecogrition Anglliory and retoll revenue 97 18 107 25 194 441 53
i fair value of Cargo 2363 498 359 02 126 3347 399
le.net of s andindirect taxes. he fightis fownis Travelservices 15 0.0 358 13 00 387 46
Passenger flightfickets, ightis
withthe fig unused fick break of Total 3228 90.2 3260 634 350 8384
tickets i i Share, % of revenue by
Sales price s allocated fo o fightficket and points inFinnair Plus’ Customer Loyalty Program. Flnnaxrloyully customers traffic area 385 108 389 77 42
ints from fickets or
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53



Reviow of the year 2021

Consolidated income statement

Consolidated statement
of comprehensive income

Consolidated balance sheet
Consolidated cash flow statement

Consolidated statement
of changes in equity

® Notes to the consolldated
financlal statements

¢ 1. Operating result

2. Fleetand otherfixed assets and leasing
anangemens

Capital structure and financing costs
Consolidation

Othernofes

Parent company financial statements.

ow s

Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend

Auditor's report

Finnolr - Annual Report 2021

TheReporiof the
Boardof Directors

( Corporate )
Financiol Statements Govornanne statement

RemunerationReport

Sustalnabllity Appendix J

Despl dua! haif of 2021, 2021 2020
I fail revenue 1l fhi yperiod " " "
m&ag’f“ GZBT retai oy iy doubled due o the . d”?:? Aginganalysis Trade Trade y
air from the COVID-9 o of trade receivables, of not of not
revenue remained f the prior year level recelvables EURmill._collecting, % EURmIL.___EURmMIL. collecting, % EURmMIIL.
) 677 0.7% 05 330 03% 01
2020 Overdue less than .
60days 01 59% 00 02 0.2% 00
) Share, % of ‘Overdue more
— A M:“”"_" € pomesti Unal e Total 'e"e"::bc\; than 60days 04 14% 00 46 08% 00
ERmil.___Asia Aflanfic Europe Domestic cated  Total  product Total [ §8.2 0.7% 05 374 0.3% 0.1
Passengerrevenue 186.0 264 2446 691 19 528.4 637
Anclllary 185 14 94 24 306 62.3 75 During year, th i of 1.5 mil )
Cargo. 1458 111 220 0.3 -15 177.7 214 caused by the COVID-19 pandemic has not resulted in increased credi risk because of the diversified customer
Travel services 190 81 338 0s 02 611 74 bose.Themax e dlf sk e reportng dae cquals o Ine firade
Total 3693 470 3098 724 308 829.2 reltedt
Share, % of revenue by 445 57 34 a7 37 Traderecelvables by currency
EURmIIL. 2021 2020
EUR 193 153
1.2.2 Revenue by currency THE g 1141 19
EURmIlL. 2021 2020 KRW 521 34
EUR 387.31 4560 PY B 501 57
Y . 760 614 NOK 24! 21
CNY 575" 500 USD 23, 16
KRW : 398 274 CNY. 21 37
usD ! 381t 295 HKD. - 37" 22
SEK - . 295' 210 SEK I 28° 09
Other currencies 2102 1783 Othercumrencles 791 07
Total ! 8384! 829.2 Total , 682" 374
The hedaing palici i - i 35 of
financial risks. 1.2.4 Deferredincome and advancesreceived
1.2.3Receivablesrelated to revenue EUR mill ZZ:ZZ; - zg:‘:
EURmIIL 2021 2020 rom FinnairPlus 55'1‘ 5]-'9
" Loyatty program Finnair 2
Trade receivables . 682 314 152 34
: 4271 201 - o y
Othertems 181 225
Total 1202, 75 Total 2911 1336
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1.3 Operating expenses Auditteos
EURmill 2021 2020

“:nse; et s 4 L i k 03" 05
exp , aiming
provisions of leased aircroft that inherently relofe 1o aircraft overhaul ludedin rotl Toxadvising oL

oction, Als d h ¥ ges, are presented Otherfees 00 02
in this section. In addition, items related I ts are p ted ot the end of Total 03° 08

.38, l fits. It different forms of benefits received by Finnair employees, .
Inaiucing shore_based nayments and pensions el effect onstaft costs and s recelved by Finnoir mploy The auditorsfees of KPMG Oy Ab included fees of 332 thousand euro (519) for auit and 15 thousand euro (3)for
1 o audilor jon-aucli ifies of Finnalr 1 housand euro (285), which included
" D s crina th "

Although Finnalr wos ab e costs during 2021 of its cost savings
of chonges Inequity Proereon I Groumb ope fhe prior year 4 g s 1.3.4Inventorles and other current assets
inth rlod ing effect of 130.8 million euro. EURmill 2021 2020
» Notes to the consolldated Ay
fingnclal stotements Finnoir confin costadjustment i the effects of COVID-19 pandemic on Finnair’s \nventorles 200" 220
, y g lo v too Recelvables from suble s 80’ 142
pensions. 138. .
© 1. Operating result Changesin i te 2.3, Alreroft 78 74
2. Fleetand other fixed assets and leasing _Capacity rent recelvables 6.7 71
arrangements 1.31 Operating expenses by currency Jel fuels 34 28
3 Capital structure and financing costs EURmill 2021 2020 VATrecelvables 12 09
+ Consolidaion EUR 9306, 7548 Inferest and other financlalitems 11, 53
o othernotes USD 3640 4987 Otheritems 66 76
6 parent fnanciolstoements Other curencles 608 894 Totol 558 681
. Parent company financial statement Total 13553 13430
Board of directors'p: d Thi foreign exchange rate describedinnote 3.5 of 13.50therllabilties
financiol risks. EURmill. 2021 2020
Jetfuel ond trofflic chorges 498 156
Audttor's report 1.3.2Passengerand handling services Passengerandh 296 164
EURmill 2021 2020 Inferest and other 157 58
Grou 936 809 i 100 49
215 278 Sates, markefing and distrib Is 73 43
Catert s 95 212 Otheritems 158 137
Other passenger services 234 387 Total 1282 598
Total 148.0 1686 -
Other i it of the ictions were
g handll resultof the lower lifted. it mainly Includes liabi o jetfuel and traffic charges,
and ircraft matertal rhau for which th y
1.3.3Property, IT and other expenses the volumes.
EURmIlL 2021 2020 136Provisions
ITexpenses 55.1 694
Property expenses 159 184 roviiohe -
Other expenses 287 238 bligati L
Total 99.7 1116 bligotion’s probab i 1y
made. i isi 1o pe
Property, IT and other exp: of fixed costs, i fing: 1so achleved. that will be necessory the obligation i the end of
H =Content of the section ases, i
= Accounting principles y Eondlfion, Fiinair y
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Consalidated income statement setile thy n Measures, which describe fis busi financial
unitand periods. i do not repl
Consolidated statement rede indicotors, bul withkey figures in RS
of comprehensive income i of mainly in el
reversedot y. The priceof falr from
* er gy erating resull, Th d fairvalue effect:
Consolidated balance sheet y 15 dolle only when they wi Inaddiiion, gains and | other
of the dllar. certain i i re notincluded inthe
Consolidated cash flow statement -
e ofthe fme orfighthours e Inthe fable below, Reported’ foth odoptedon
ng e arcrant 1January 2021. p y thi
mﬂd‘;‘sﬁgz'ﬁ"{"em o ks o luded in to which they belong by their nofure. Comparable’
9 a toimplement the plan or has announced . previously used, ltems,
< EBITDA and ‘C ing result.
@ Notes to the consolldated
financial statements B Maintenance reserves of the fleet 2021 2020
b h ! the
liming of i i h . Th i ltems ltems
¢ 1. Operatingresult costs and their liming are dependent on, for example, how future fraffic plans actually realise, the market pric affecting affecting
2 Fleetand other ts i ition of the alrcraft af the fime of the maintenance event, The compara- compara-
arrangements the COVID- which EURm Reported bility Comparable Reported bility Comparable
to differ x:] T T
3. Capital structure and financing costs. Revenue i 8384 8384 829.2 8292
4. Consolidation Alrcraft reroft Other operatingincome | 625 233 392 [ 493 209 484
5. Othernotes maintenance Other maintenance Other %ﬁ;—'g‘a::e"’” : -
6. Parentcompany financial statements EUR ‘s‘r:;l'[‘lmmE provision provisions 2021 provision provisions 2020 crew ' 2293 195 _2a89] 1639 1197 2835
rovi , L
. , Jonthedi beginning of period 1628 130! ns.a1 1663 31 1694 Fuelcosts § 2114 00 =it -2328 02 2327
Board of directors'proposal on the dividend Provision for the period 320 191 339° 254 212 526 Capocity rents ! 713 713 893 893
- K i - 3 f - Alrcraft
Auditor’s report ";; ;': : Z;‘i, 1:': l'g': ii'g overhaut t a2 255 91.7: 925 122 -104.7
= = = -~ = L s chy ] -120.4 -1204" -1124 -1124
Provision forright-of-use i -
tsrecelivery 22 22! 21 21 Sales,markefingond |
L : - 1 381 -38.! -282 -282
Unwinding of discount 14 14 09 08 i T
- assenger H
Exchange rate . services -1480 -1480 -1686 -1686
differences 117 117 122 122 T n
Property. ITandother | |
Total 1959 381 1998 1628 130 1758 expenses N 997 29 968 116 19 1097
i ¢ EBITDA ! - 1490 - 2515
Of whichnon-current 1846 1414 1860 1536 22 1558 Depreciai v
Of whi 113 251 138 92 108 200 . -3198 3198 -3438 -3438
Total 1959 38t 199.8 1628 130 175.8 Operating resutt { 4544 -144 4689 ~4645 -1308 5953
N 1 aircraft expected fobe used by 2033 e 233 mill ( th
cfions due fo COVID-1 i provisi used by the end of 2021. ’ four and isto Oy.
Onbal 3 provisi d 200.7 mill 1) includes, i of 255 2inai » i sl saleand
provisions, other ent 147 mill .2), which of long: forthe leasebx four inaddition h es.
wella: deposits. Staff and other £ posltively by 19.5 mill
(119.7). This consists of relating t
1.3.7 items affecting comparability of isabil o i llots' earty refirement announcements. In 2020, these costs
Finnair i i tohe chief. ker, included a132.8 mil effect relaling made fo Finnair’s pension fund terms
\ccounting princlples orFinnatr Executive Board, The {ESMA) ond pilots’ early refirement I of 134 mil !

Criical accounting eslimates
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1.3.8 Employee benefits h hose of for the Executive Board, which inthe
section Share-based payments of this note.
1.3.81 b fit d sh Staff ond other [ positive 19.5 milli (9.7 impacton
h llective lobx relatingtoa
eorly retirement announcements, In 2020,
hare-based payments . ; the one 132.8 mill positi relating to Finnalr's pension
conicer o ooy afion plans for 1 =S, ur ey d pilots’ early il benefit costs of 131 million euro.
v pe Th rdi ileria set by Directors ismet, e-based
i innair's: for the defined period, but Transfer und
P per dtera. Finnalr thot i by 1. A share of Finnair's profilsis
Th t ichls the peri hich allocated to the fund. The share of profit afiocated to by the
allof the sp fi lednet of loxes are Board of Directors. Th tan (LT ore bers of the P )
D Ny the Fund. toinvest part of In 2021 and 2020, no profit was
poriod 6 1 I hes iy s toxpal el b allocated to the fund because the set performance criferia were nof met.
basedon the Finnair share at ivery quity. If the
L it y g from L benefit:
the cosh price of the Flnnair share f the bolance sheet date o
and xpense for service period wit yi ibiliti EUR mill. 2021 2020
settlement date. Holiday payments ! 470 546
Termination benefits r 274" 161
i 3 Liabilitles related t¢ . 744° 707
or when ] y The .
oot i n Other i fiholding tax and o
p n fions. i 1 7.8 il
the cose of an offer 1 v the e o il e soonofel3 8mi ‘I’: "
number of employees expected 1o accept the offer. o P - 2
fing princi i in the note 138.2 Pensions. milion euro
Management remuneration
Staff andother crew related costs i CEO and Executt
EURmill. 2021 2020 President President
W 1858 2319 andCEQ  Executive andCEO  Execufive
2 : = > Thousand euros Top! Manner Board Total2021 TopiManner Board Total 2020
3047 354 Fixed pay 736 18170 2553 725 1865 2590
— : 66 -1203 Short-termincentives - . 7 7
5 otel 22'2, '8:'; inge benefts 21 129 1500 15 99 114
; - ™ L Sh 469 9a1t 14090 132 568 700
Solarlos penslon and segle) costs - e g 120 310 430, 109 301 410
[ : 5 Y. | |
L ! 72 66 defined contribution) 201 20, a7 a7
Other personnelrelated costs 39 73 Total 1346 3217} 4563! 981 2,887 3,868
Total 2293 1639
hare of Tyef
AfFinnalr, y | consists of fixed oy, hort-and long-term fringe
benefte cnd The : ’ : » hore-based el
for 2021 were 5.8 il Short- the financial year. to | d the the end of the lock-up period,
the f the the according to IFRS 2. Therefore the costs accrued and recognised for the financial year include effects from
1n 2020, Finnalr g-te forthe p 1. As part of the  sh payment pian: nt of when the sh d. hasnot been
program, empk h fing when the targets sef by the g cldil h
Board of Direct ot Amaximum of ‘ base salary can by During 2020, the CEQ y cut their base for atemporary
The possible 2023.The ilable o th ke groups during 202), they were not pald holiday bonus.
agreed foactions cost .1n 2021, the cost for 2020, the EV t EO Board
for personnel was 3.8 mil 2. o costs. The p 2020-2022.T} d any
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fixed the: 2020-2022. As aresult, the Board of Directors decided to cancet

Finnair share-based payment plans

the 2018-2020, 2019-2021 and 2020-2022 LT plans as well as the 2020 and 2021 ST1 plan for the CEO
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Board. Anew Rebuild ince for the CEO 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Consolidated statement N hithed
of cComprehensive incorme Board forthe penod7/2020~6/20?_¥ LM2016-2018 -y
During 20 o thraugh m2017-2019
aFinnish: penslon (nsuvcnce company. At the end of 2020 omy one membel of the Execullve Board had this (T12018-2020
Consolidated balance sheet voluntary pension plan. The reti M age for thi 3 years. The planis @ o .
defined contribution plan. 12019-2021 A
Consolidated cash flow statement ! i hare-based be found loter LN2020-2022 N
1t as well website, T12021-2023 N
Consolidated statement I
of chongesinequity Tosgeozs ‘
Compensation pald Fixed Meeting Fringe
« Notes to the consolidated forboardservice, EUR __ Total2021 remuneration compensation benefits  Total 2020 Fly Share 2018
financial statements Boord of Dlrectors 372,233 277,260 94,800 173 406,238 Fly Share 2019
Alahuhta-Kasko Tiina 41,100 29,100 12,000 Fly Share 2020 9 i
o 1. Operating result Barringion Colm 43,410 31410 12,000 Fly Share 2021 - e
2. Fleet and other fixed ts m:‘::‘:': r 42,900 29,100 13800 iLock- Boord
o for
arrangements March 2021 9375. 6375 3000 Tlock-up period 4 Share delivery
3. Capltalstructure and finoncing costs Ertand ke 41610 31410 10,200 . 1t exceed 120% of yinanyyear,
4. Consolidation Jakosuo-Jansson Hannele, b 2023 4
5. Othernotes from17 March 2021
1 onwards 33525 24525 9,000
6. Parentcompany financialstatements Karvinen Jouko 68,228 60,255 7,800 173 tall hj] pluns the members of Finnair toaccumulate thelr share
Kielberg Herrlk 41100 29.100 12000 base salary and theredfter retain it for as long &
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend i 41,100 29100 12,000 'hey ore, membevs o' Ohe Execmlve Boord,
29100 4 durb
Tuominen Jaana, urit 17 the the ” o
year following the performance period, except for the new Rebuild incentive where the performance period
Audifor's report March 2021 9885 6885 3000 endsin June 2023 and the reward s delivered in the same year.
The f th o of Directors  The " idtothe The target levels and maximum levels set for the criteric based on the |
b . i by the company’s Board of Directors. Criteria i basis.
the Board of D fitled ith Finnoir's general f 2018-21 at 22% level white the target was ot 100% and the
travel rules. In addition, bers of the Board of Direck use stoff r 200%.Inth pertod, the p lerla appiied to the 2017-2019
Ilchelslnumrdance with Flnnulrs staff Ik:ket rules. These hcke'scmsﬂtme taxable income in Finland and cre plcvrlwas mef at 194% level. o0 17 mil . b
) xp for ¥ tobe to
" the ity to setite i is5.3 mill (60) The cost related
Dunng 2020 y for a temporary period, until the -
Annuol GenerolMeeting 202‘ poyments ondother crew quity funds, except the cash-
seftled portion of plan Jated fo employ:
Share-based payments I B
The i 1 h plan?/ .
hare-based M ) In2020,a0 for CEO and Execufi Th i hi
re-| be found report. yeor o oy N plan. Th
Per h forkey am toth of coshaftertheend
iy of d th 1 th [ free disposal delivery. If the
Do pertorn "W_cjbased annually oommenclng |ong term incentive (LT:) Vol em e in 3093 s 120% of . - to
iy e e Nbdage coming years so that the combined incentive payoutin unyyeevdoesnotexceemzﬂ% of the executive’s annual
Boardof Directars, The purpase of 1s ge fowork base salary, The total expense for the plan whichis three yeors. The grant
value. TheF
h datels at the b th ed In shares.
and key the plans. e Aot A My e .
pay! PP \ in
salary. tf riteria set for atth pa hares to
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Consolidated Income statement the President and CEO or other member ofthe Execulive Board participatingIn the plans wil be o fofalof 180% of The payoul opp y wos asafixed in the beginning of plann relation to the
the pe ol b i 1 et of thy level, the y.ifth for the plan were met at the target leve), the
Consolidated stafement paid in Finnar total of 360% of . ive paid in Finnair [ EOoro'her member of the Executive Board pemnpallng
of comprehensive income. to thefime of poyments first inthepl 30% of his or her p for the p
defined as shares, Th h level th paid mm,mm of th . ,.The
the Board of Directors. to the plan 201 OCE, 50% dand
Consolidated balance sheet The per'ormunce criteria are set for the whole 3-yeor period as well as for three h mid-te d Retum (TSR, 50% weight).
+ 7/2020-6/2021 ITDA, gearing, Lost jury Frea Y 0 i
Consolidated cash flow statement through fuel effidency) s wellos ) B Rebuild
effic J’fﬁ revenue, employ 2 oh fuel 2015- 2016~ 2018- 2019~ 2020- 2020- 202i—
Consolidated statement ‘The ertera for the whole 3-vear period,is cash flow - . P 20072018 2020 2021 2022 2023 2023  Total
of changes in equity 02 for thar the threshold for any reword fo 17Dec  10Feb 15Feb 14Feb 7Feb  90ci  26Jon
bepald, Grontdate 2014 2016 2018 2019 2020 2020 2021
« Notes to the consolidated Grantprice, euros® 13196 11970 14272 11914 10478 03948 0.6250
financlal statements i 2017 onwards Numberof persons at the
n 2017, new LTI dih th 2021,2020-2022 and ::pe gy [ 1 [ 26 a2 8 63
—2023). nses rec for
e 1. Operatingresult 2021 Inthe e the 'hvee;ry::;‘ . s ibnttis Y‘& ol )
2 Fleetand o!h'er fixed assels andleasing Stter ey are ot I ofter delivery. i (milion euros) 00 00 00 04 00 12 04 17
arrangements the rights offering in 2020, 2 . the Board of Direct ! eftied
3. Capltalstructure and financing costs cancelhe 2062020, ,2019-2021 and2 20202022111 plans forthe CEO and L’f"’""m’ 00 00 00 oL 00 g-: 04 ;i
for the plansl: hichi: vears. Th datelsat 9 y y
4. Consolidation Liabillty retated to LTFs total 06 06
5. Othernofes in innis ch plan in relation fo the million
6. Paren! company financial stalements panldpcnrs annual base salary. Therefove changesin the share price during th shores™ 02 03 o1~ 13 173 11 210
the value of I 1at the targel leve, the B e et
Board of directors’ dividend ive paid in Finnair Preslden! and CEG or ofhermemberof pariicipating - 2015-2017 and 20162018 pk g ond
in the plans willbe 20% of the pa y.If ia set for 1 i i jinni
Audidorsceport at level, th "  the annual v.The ih 2018-2020, d. pons
forIncentives for ofher key 20-50%of lary. As a result of for the
020 il " sarnual base salary. As o result o ExecuitveBoard,
5fold i tor s o reain heir vn!ue N N
/alue of th short- d k
paid Inany giv yearmay not exoeed |20% o' the partl:lpant’s annual Finnalr: plan for i: ofeachplanis
y. Th ints of she id be subject fo the decislon of Flnnoxrs Board of Dlreclors. The ﬂrsl plan cnmmenced in 2013 and for the fime being
deducted by " i [ fransfer the time there are three f the p!
of payment. In the company, and th interestin * of Finnalr
o . volue and reward them nthe longrferm.
. 2018-2020 plan: (€PS. 50% weight) th ight), v two year lock-up perlod. Through the plan, each
+ 20192021 plon: (EPS, 50% welght), vth (16.7% weig] costwith 10 save part of his or her salary fo be invested in Finnair
constant currencies and fuel price ((‘ASKBS 3‘% welghf}, shcres The maxlmum monthly sovings are 8% and the minimum 2% of each parlicipant's gross base salary per
+ 2020-2022 plan: eamings per share {EPS, 50% weight) and unit cost with fuelprice ~ month. sovings ot price quarterly,affer the release of
(CASK, 50% weight) as well os Finnalrs Inferim reports.
+ 2021-2023 plan: eamings per share (EPS, 45% welghf), unit cost with constant cumencies and fuel price Flnnalr award: ¢ prior the share Issue par
{CASK, 45% weight) and fuel efficlency (10% weighi). the firsttime, atleast the first th ihs of the plan. The
dellveved InOctober each year, and the effect is recognised as expense for the perlod. The plan lasts for three
Incentive plan commencedin 2016 ploy foreach ond held
rlod of three forthe. 2 ol " the a' Ohe end of three-year perlod. d are taxable Income for the recipient.
may not sell or transfer i . The fotal Th ber of shx t me fax and transfer
over o, whic years.The o Incash, for the fime of payment. The cost related t
and only after riod ot gront date as expense during vesting period,
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The exp: for 202 10 1.3 mill (1.3) pension fund" isbosed adjusted by the ol
b i bligation is 1.0 milion increment, The supplementary pension bty of the pension fund s full covered inaccordance with Finnish
euros (0.7). The cost related and other crew legislation. In addifion, 500 Finnair 14
and unrestricted equity funds. i inalifei in addition fo th i 2 benefit i
cover, If the pliot confinues to wark as pilot over the age of 55 years and retires from his/her job.
1.3.8.2Pensions
Exposure to most significantrisks
it and defined y Some of the plt 1s arei inequiti ity but are in the long
i i i plans. fo provide higher retums bonds. The di: i rate of pk igations s defined
i bosed onthe inferest mtes of oorporu'e bonds.
pically Changesin bond I due to the fact that
C isthe tion Is di tonet p rate thatis based on corporate bond rates. This
the post benefif, he yearand it in pk i I
taft [ i Invespect o defined pension plons planassels,
Is the present value of the defi i ion at the end of period . N
Py A . i the projected unil crednme\hod, Luleexpec'anchhemosfslgmr"ooMpoﬂloenrovlded 4 Id age p
The present value of it obi i i d Therefore, an
inferest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that i pald,
te i dmating ! the related i nd 1
k credited o equity In
they arise. If falr value of plan assets s higher than present value of EURmill. 2021 2020
¢ v e statement L] !
Current service costs i 83: 125
8 Pension obligations Pastservice cost -18 179
The present value of 00 -1507
sngan  chon ons will i of pension Settlements and curtaiiments - -13.1!
e i expost 0 T =
Impacts of changes In actuarial ossumptions. 8 Servicocost total, recognisedin staff costs - 66 1203
NetInferest expenses and forelgn exchange differences ! 02! 06
Totalincluded n the Income statement [l 68! 1197
Finnalr B
. Y of the i sh Amounts recognised th ' !
pension insurance company. Y defined contribution pla tan obl! H 54! a2
s Ch [ 170° 225
CEOha v le Y ibuti ion plan of b
of the Executive Board ina [ ge for 1563 Changesindemographic actuarial assumgtions . 02
years. Net returnon ptan assets 316" -52
Other Yy of 's e by inthe Amounts recognised through other comprehensive Income fotal L -430! 131
Finnair Pension Fund, in old . )
y pensi d disaibility pensk i i underthe Numberof R 236" 4448
Pensions Act. Th ivors' fimited basis to 7
pensioners who hove reted on 1 Januory 2005 af he ates, ‘s well as fo reclplents of benefts previously In Number of persons Involved, other defined ! 52 159
to fund on 31 December 2015. heot
The Pension Fund's old i h has b losed i
since1February 1992andto pumss.nce11anumyzoxo After this, pilols have: onrybeenomemdbyohe EUR mill. 2021 2020
witched fo another ploy j Pension Pension| Pension Pension
Jon fund as o whole hos been closed on 31 May 2021 I assels i assels i
Oldage 2015 orlater h t 3598 14! -3978 77
y pensi has ols esledpe ionright on a limited basis :"Th Fairvalue of pk L 4407 07, 4296 62
ge of £ dtoachangein age under the {inthe batancesheet * 809 0.7; 318 15
Pensions Act that ' in 2017 or an event under disability pension caver under the anee s
Penslons Act, from 2021, th y hthe " @ 1.0} reloted

mrnugh the penslon fund and 2.0 million euro (0 9) related fo other defined benefit plans. Pension obligations
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Includes 0.7 million euro (1.5) related to other defined benefit plans. The change during 2021 y tonet i
retumon : . fothe c tectve abour o relalingtoa % 2021 2020
i % 1 0.74%! 025%
Changesin pension obligations yincreases % . 1.80%! 1.60%
EURmill 2020 % 0.00%: 000%
Fairvalue of pension obligations at1 January ' 5232 Esti = ! 8! 8
(= L 120 analysis
Past service cost ! 179 Th tysis i effect of a ch benefit
- obligation. iy based on the che h holdi i
Amendments { -1507 constant. that the defined benefit
Interest exp hange differences 38 b heet.
-117.0 p_—
Changes in actuoria! assumptions 225 v
42 Impactwhen Impactwhen
7 increasein decreasein
Benefits paid ed [ -i:?) Changeln pior i
- Actuarial assumption assumption EUR mill %, EURmill. %
vahioof ! 4055 Discount rete % 0.25% 88 25% 92 26%
Annuatrate of future salary
Changesin plan assets e 025% 23 07% 23 06%
EURMIL 2021 2020 fe expectancy ot birth 1year 88 25%
Fairvolue of plan assets ot 1 January L 4358' 4461 According to Finnishlegistation, the pension fund needs to be fully funded. Finnair does nof expectio pay
] 05 e pension fundin 2022. defined benefit obligation is 10 years. The durationis
1 calculated by using a discount rate of 0.74%.
i
i differences : 32
Items recognised through profit and loss i 27
plan assets 1 5.2
Items recognised through OCt t 5.2
Contributions paid { 08 -
8Benefits paid M : -190
Falrvalue of plan assets at 31 December i 4414' 4358
Pl follows
% 2021 2020
Usted shares 17.81 188
Debt instruments [ 55.11 566 .
Property R 230! 200
Other { 211 46
Total - 100.0 100.0
Finnalr falr value of 0.9 millo (1} and buildings

used by the Group with a fair value of 12.8 million euros (18.2).
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2Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing

arrangements

leasi ficularly related to the fleet.
Notes related to th Group hat the general view of the
fleetis easier ddition fe d Qi hy under different kinds of

aircrofi lease arangements, B

Finnair consist mostty i Finnair and Norra.in 2021, the
number was 41 (45) 43(38). As af the end of 2021, four narrow-body circraft were
recognised as assets hetd for sale.

Fleet
% Owned,41 Lease, 43

AAAAAXAAX
AAAAXAAAXX
AAAAXAANAAK
HAAKH

.59

Norrow-t

AAAAAAAAX
AAAAAAAAX
AXAANAAARNA

During 2021, Finnair financing partof k from
the COVID-19 The most significant ised four f
the A of th d increased of the Finnair's
right-of-use fleet. In addition, Finnair's right-of-use fleet toalease
A350 alrcraf, wh assigned the purchase right of aft to a third party back for lis
urther fes21-23and 3.3.
The number of aircraft operated by Finnair increased with one A350 aircraf! during 2021, However, due tothe
i ID-19 par ic, not afl usedinil Asat date, 71 out

of Finnair's 80 aircraft ised i pt of Helsinki irp ined ir
condition that they are flight-ready. Th de-body y y
In i i . Thi 1% or824 f the year-
end carrying value of Al il i xpected to be used in their full it

within next two to three years,

21Fleet and other fixed asset

Fleet ond other i d
i applicable. Fleel i i Th isi aircroft
frome,
C-checks, APU (¢ Y DX
overhauls and thrust reversers of aircraft frames, i i life limited
partsof engines. Alrcraft over the aireraft. i
i i le.C thelr expected

usefulife. med or i
over their expected useful life, which in the case of leased aircraft cannot exceed the lease period. Replaced

125

AAAAXAAAX

fidi

AAAAAAXAXX
AAAXAAX

WA350(17) ®A330(8) MA321I(19) WA320(0) ®BA3E)
-] o

Fleet inFinnairbatance sheet

& Inferest costs
it ifi for i i innair i it the aircrafl. Redging
gainsor tothe fairvalue ch firm, USD aircroft are
parfof o5t once the aircraft is deli faken to
Other parts, other fixed Other fixed
oftware and i (o i t
o offwars 5.C s o y
Usetullife andresidual value
Depreciation of fleel and olher fi i owi d

- Airbus A350 fleet, over 20 years fo aresidual volue of 10 %

EURmilk 2021 2020 Change Arbus AS20and Embraer fleeh over 20 years o aresiduc 0%
- Alrbus A330 fleet, over 1 years o o residual value o
foralreroft 127.71 117.7 101 — Turboprop aircraft (ATR fleet), over 20 years fo a residuai value of 10%
Ownedaireroft i 8186 13225 5040 + Heavy mai C-checks, APL i ons and aircraft trame, as well
Right-of-use fleet } 10253} 7725 2528 pert porisof
- per
Fleet fotal L ieme 22127 2412  perio overT-20years
[ 100, 37 237 i overls-20y 0%
Fleetlease liabllities 12046 9540 3506 - Bulldings, over 10-50 years fromthe fi i 10%
T + Other tangible assets, over 3-15 years
g + Computer , over 3-8years
for of owned aircraft 1557 1841 283 i i dif they difer
Depreciation for ght-of-use fi [ 12321 1072 160 Iyfron ima e Fi '
Impalrment for the perlod related o owned alrcraft 157 82 67 e e ion g o
Assetsheld forsale (fleet) i 1851 185
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‘Board of Directors
Consolidated Income statement " from . alue. h Fleet 2020
decreased 2021 by 47 mili L . EURmill Aircrafi __Advances Total
Consolidated statement Assefs held for sale istion cos 1 Jan 2020 24607 178 25785
of comprehensive income d Additions 2444 470 2014
. fransaclion, asale s P totoke ploce e s s
within the next th i held for sale toted al [ f th or fair isposal = - =
Consolidated balance sheet volue less cost to sell Assefs forsal 9 i Currency hedging of aircraft acquisitions 324 324
Impairment Reclossifications* -400 795 1194
Cansolidated cosh flow sfatement Th i uisition cost 31Dec 2020 23587 1177 24764
fih i s value in use. The Is defined for a cosh
Consolidated statement  and he need the cash Slueinusels on ‘Accumulated depreclotion andimpalmment 1 Jan 2020 10452 10452
of changes in equity the present value of fu h i the asset or cash Individual Disposals 862 862
e cosh ¥ nolong \dfor d,and o
eratl ¢ . X Reclassifications 1152 1152
Notes to the consolidated eleste bosed on theirfairva I ment luding the crilicol accounting - -
financlalsiatements innote 23 Depreciation for the financlalyear 1841 1841
impaisment for the financial year 52 82
Accumuloted depreciation and impalrment 31 Dec 2020 1,036 -1,0361
1. Operating result Fleet2021
2 :':::‘“:::;'"";’ fixod assets andieasing EURmI. Alrcroft _ Advances Total Bookvalue 31 Dec 2020 13226 177 14403
9 ) ‘Acquisiion cost1Jan2021 23587 177 24764 .
3. Capital structure and financing costs ‘Addifions N 137 556 693"
4. Consolidation _Disposals [l 4252 4252 .
5. Othernotes Currency hedging of alrcroft acquisifions ] 226 -226° ey
6. Parentcompany financial statements. i M 13 -229 -24.2: Alrcraft
Transfer: sale -196.5 - rotut;l'e Bui:’dling; ) Olhe: Imungibl,e Ad Total
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend ulsition cost 31 Dec 2021 17494 127.7 1,8771! ERmil. _________  porls ondland equipment  assels Advances  Tolo)
orelr g T Acquisttion cost1 Jan 2021 339 756 1160 553 72 2880"
Additions B 14 45 13 02 741
Auditors report 1Jan2021 -1,036.1 -1,03614 =
Disposals 845 845 Disposals _ : 09 11 49 40 -108!
Transfer to assets held forsale 1780 1780 Redlassifications : 00 39 48 66 761
Depreciation for the financial year -155.7 1557)  Jransferioassets heldforsale 4 03 01 03!
irmentfor " X 18 15/ Acquisitioncost31Dec2021 342 745 1195 a78 08 2767,
i 31Dec2021 1 9308 9308 : !
7 Accumuloteddepreciotion ' i
©_andimpaiment 1 Jon 2021 7.3 98 334 423 -1028
Book value 31 Dec 2021 . 8166 1277 9463 F—— - m o o = .
During 2021, Finnalr executed four sale of A which Reclossifications . 39 390
of ownaircraft. Additionally, four A321 aircrafi with a tota!l book value of 18.5 milli fo Dy the } i
assels held for for yeor detallin the note 2.3 D o fi : 25 16 87 81 210
Currency hedging of the notes3.5 1
and 3.8 Derivotives. andimpalrment 31 Dec2021 « 192 -108 419 425 00 -1144°
Bookvalue 31 Doe 2021 150 637 716 52 08 16231

=Accounting principles

Finnair - Annual Repor! 2021

! th rot

Included in the other fixed assets, Finnair's inventories include non-rolable

t
aireraft parts amounting 10 169 million euro (19.2).
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Other fixed assets 2020 Investment commitments
Aircraft Investment commitments as ai the end of the year 355.3 milli (429)and it i Ircraft
rotable  Bulidings Other Intangible orders, other ! Th T . " ofihe
EURmIIL arts _andland_equipment assets Advances Total " n weenthe order and very o iy due fo EUR/USDO .
ERmb_________ parls dndlond equipment  dssets. Advances ... Jetel ge
Acquisition cost1 Jan 2020 501 756 9638 516 71 2812 b ; ‘ o s orty known a1 he fme of the dahvery
Additions 17 173 28 a1 264
Disposals 04 -30 04 -38 .
Reclassifications® 175 49 13 45 58 2.2Leasingarrangements
Acqulsition cost 31 Dec 2020 339 756 1160 553 72 2880
The Group aslessee
Finnair acontrox tains, o I L the IFRS
Accurulated depreciation + ol or contains,
andimpairment1 Jan 2020 -334 82 285 328 -1029 16 Lex for fangible assels, where Ihe ¢ foroperiodof
Disposals 03 a9 0s 57 I together
Reclassifications* 186 00 03 01 182 th both period; by onoption orend the ease fFr  cerlai Ise thal option; and
e lease if Finnair
Depreciationforthe onter Plon.
financialyear 28 16 95 99 -238 o o e or lass and where of date,the
Finnair P
Accumulated depreciation period that i Hence, i ightto
andimpalrment 31 Dec 2020 173 98 334 423 00 -1028 terminae i issi The other party wi ignificant penafty
- h - innair classif ferm, The
Bookvalue 31 Dec 2020 167 658 826 130 72 1853 lease rece st o
- ightine basis over fhe lease ferm, or on another systematic basis I Inat basis
reclassticatlons of fxed assefs. Finnal .
P v "
Capltalised borrowing costs . e theleose
Alrcraft Advances Total poyme i of ility, index rale of of
EURmill. 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 Therighi-of- ) cost,
Book valuetJan ' 186 176 28! 431 214" 215 - of v
Additions : i 14! 330 14! 33 2 any orbefore dale,tess d;
Disposats s 106" 29 [ 1 -106° 29 <ane incurred by Finnari a
Reclassificafions P i a8 -15] a8t 15t 00 condilions of the lease.
Depreciafion T 08! 091 1 T 08 29 In most cases, Finnair s abliged fo retum leased aircraft and their engines according fo the redelivery condifion sef
T — = T - T T - T - [ If at the time of redelivery, it i the ogreed
ivery Finnair raft so thatl redelivery condition or
Book value 31 Dec 1 68" 1661 27 280 115 214 selife the difference in cash o the lessor.
12021 b 14mil 3 bl ated fo the Alrbus A350 i the aircraft/
Tnnalr uses the effech \odote th ot Dot ol ared the aircroft/
ot e final ch i jred at redeliver i i i that reclise:
a‘::s 6% (4.29%) 'ﬁi’faﬁm * k. The average yearly inferest rate in fhoez‘ when i the lessor, the fime or fight hours, The counterpart of the provision s
6% (4. p ; ihe riaht ot ihe thelease.
calculation of the capltalisation rate. pones ingont e aircrotiare credias part of the right rcost
bl i aleaseorthe
Assets andliabilities held for sale for the lease, that portof the lease, Includis i
Ouring 2021 Finnair four A321 aircralft for alue of ing from achong tease poyments. The of
18.5 milion e of 15 mill inthe profit and loss ion with the ¢ ¥is generally o e ig : Howeven,if
o held e ol ying amount of the righ fozero and fhere s @ further
15 hetd f 9100
Y. i
Pledaed oy Mler it ighl
losses.’
Finnair does not for endof usefulfe of the ight-of-use ossel and he end of lease ferm. However, f the lease Iransfers awnership of the asset
ith JOLCO- nd v d A toFinnairby if the cost of the rig ir i i i
33, ight if the asset.
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Consolidated income statement . evenlfthe aircraft Right-of-use assets 2021
y inthelecs fhe i Buildings Other
Consolidated statement fhe sum ; " " """I"'l‘ T'je EUR mill. Aircraft andland __ equipment Total
of comprehensive income o " the em:, i the fair value of the Book value 1jan 2021 1 7725 1338 112 91751
v Additions . 3469 14 322 3806'
Consolidated bajoncesheet iy g 4 Changesincontracts i 290 10 7 53,
i i S i leo: D yeor [ -1232 -132 53 -1416'
Consolidated cash flow statement spol rofe. de) are 31Dec 2021 )] 10253 1230 334 11817/
cccounted for
Consolidated statemnent The Group os lessor Addiltions fo right e osselsin202) y related to the four A350
of changes in equity i 3 for  whe part of the risks aircraft and A which ll part of thy tothe
and rewards of cwnership are not fransferred fo the lessee. i i pandemic. The changes to changes either or , of leases.
inthe tangibl y ing their Depreciati the same
® Notes to the consolidated . Under: in aireraft ight-of. ats 2020
financial statements Adv ived
for liabilit is di i Buildings Other
I Operating result operating EUR mill. Aircroft andland __equipment Total
o2 Fioet andother fixed assets and leasi Finncir Bookvalue 1Jan 2020 7364 1240 171 877.5
. ﬂ;:n‘;:me" ':' assots andleasing tothe net the lease. Additions. 1675 26 33 1733
needed, i asfinance Chongesin contracts -241 215 -390 5.7
3 Capltal structure and financing costs teases or 3 D s 01 01 00 00
4 Consoidofi Al . for anet nvesiment ), vale of Disposals : : 1 A
d nsolidation value of T theright- Depreclation for the financlalyear -107.2 -143 62 1277
5. Othernotes ": i e o d hi '::sg and Bookvalue 31 Dec 2020 7725 1338 112 917.5
e net the profit orloss, in other ase
6. Parentcompany financial statements g
pany thelease bl Income. Leaseliabilitles
Sale andleaseback " . "
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend Insalea t alreraf. Finnair Aircraft 9 land Other
asset arising from f the asset that relates to the right- EUR mill. 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
fus i . Firy oss that v g N
Auditor's report o P. aly. Y less than one year 1 157.2 11851 126 127t 700 a4
rights toth
ights transferred to the buyeressor. 1-5years 1 60275 49511 4314 499§ 199: 71
\mpairment more thanSy 3 a446" 24041~ 868: 881, 68/
Th cash Total L 12046 85401 1426" 15081 338! 115
N and Th
i the higher of The value i Th U raft, premi d  for which the | liability i
present value of fulure cash jidual sheet. The i ferms of tandi i d The
i they nolonger are held for service or are Infended fo be sold, and are Group wos operating 34 feased aircraft at the end of the year with lease agreements of ditferent fenors.
tested for ir i value! testing,Including Lease i foaircraft Increased g year 2021 due foth
n part of th program, including the sale and leaseback of four A350
A350 qircrof. )
B Leasing arrangements | that Finnair toather hare classified as fi leases are
D ining the i \ shown inthe fable below.
obligations of alrcroff lecses and i
The COVID-19 terms of f the Group,
neither { i
not, ple,
coniracts terminated early during the period was not significont. y the righ- d
1 h it at dote. te2.3 @
B = Accounting principles .
H = Critical accounling estimates
Finnalr - Annual Report 202 65
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J

I [ G ! Off-bal hort-term | d which
Alreraft Buildings andland e ase e S e o0 i the bel N 1;2:::: :m:?
EURmill. 2021 2020 2021 2020 item in the premises rents is the Aight-to-use a fest cell, which i liabith thatit
lessthan 12 months i 76! 1427 04} is not for the exclusive use of Finnalr, Other rents Include IT equipment leases, that are not material.
13-24months 24! 1521 03’ st - .
25-36 months . N 43} 03! P
37-48 months. N i 03" Alrcraft Buildings and land
49-60 months - i 00 EURmMill. 2021 2020 2021 2020
more than 60 months R i . 01! 194 132, 18 15
Total 10.0 337" 14} 00 13-24months 154" 132 18! 15
. 25-36 months 62 921 181 15
contract some of s ullrcrqﬂ d earlier as fi P . have b nlm. lo ified 37-48 months N 62 ’ 18! 15
asoperafing leases. 49-60months 62 151 15
‘more than 60 months . 16! i 20 36
Leasii pi Total . §511 356" 108" 110
EURmMIlL 2001 2020 o, 15 owned alrcraft [ i
right-of-use assets . -1416' 1217 Finnalr Jease: h terms of
Interest expense onlease liabilifies 627. -58.1 nd
Interestincome on sublease recetvables 16’ 28
legse liobiltles H -755! 685 g . .
Hedging result of lease liobililies 163" -36.1 23Depreciation and impairment
Shork-termwetleases : 65! 63
Short 32 40 P Depreciation
iabk i 650 830 jation forall ing stroi is
Galns andlosses on sale andteaseback transactions . 144} 44 available for use. D when the asset The useful
Totol 3222 2483 fite
Operating clud ‘ d i niol thatare not EURmill. 2021 2020
material for the Group or do nof se a 101FRS 16, and are theref Amortisaionof Infangible assets 76 99
capacty ‘reonts o the shork I property.IT andofher Depreciafion of own fleet . 155.7 184.1
expenses. yan orofitand > ht-of-use fleet 1232' 107.2
loss. Totol cosh relafing 84.2 mill (2845, [ other 129 139
D ofherright-ofuse assets 185" 205
H-bal L 3178 3356
Premisesrents Otherrents Impalrment : 20 82
EURmill. 2021 2020 2021 2020 Impalrment total 20 82
less h y : 231 251 15! 11
15 years - 63! 63 09t 06 Totaldepreciatio 1 Inincome statement 3198 3438
years B 69! 851 - 00 D di X The
Total 155 173 24 18 d fight-of in 2021 mainly
result of the four A350 sl Thei i inty to the

revaluation and reclassification of the four A321 aircraft fo assets held for sale.
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Impairment testing multiple, hted cash the i forecost
h Th d lesdllocated fo each i i "
approved by Dlrectors ‘When $h the reflected on
B impalrment testing oneach y fIhe COVID-19 d the uncerfainiy related fo the speed of
cover onasselor senerating unit i igher of value recovery. The X pocity to reach 87% of the pre-covid 2019
fairve tosel. Joss i 1 s below s levels In 2022 I toht weight of 5%.
i is defined for i it, and the i Theb vhich ts Finnalr o be abl ot d 83% of its 2019 capacity in 2022, is
the cash generating unit level. lohavea f 60%. scenario, which hasa of 35%, I dfo
reodﬂs%oﬂhe i 2022. Th tore)umro“' p i of
2019 Inwhich the 2023 P fo
a testing of ets recch 98%of the pre-oandemk: fevels.
Finnair oppl iny sits pri r delerminin a the ossels. The withthe 2021, torecover
/ pory Judgement ; slower 2022 than what of the fime of th ion of the 2021 i
some deoree The level of i ighin 2021 | COVIDS vhich!: of the COVID- on icti
pandemic, where the impact of pace of the passeng: i's revenues .
Inaddition, the price of fohigher: iinty, which s further \ review
fimat Dec 31,2021 Dec 31,2020
judgement in o post-fax long of copital), % 77 8.2
d y, unit 1 of jet fuel. Further, Ihe DI (pre-t
u it in the EBITDA margin, termin rate. The key costof copita), % 88 93
Inorderto consider i by the COVID-19 px Long % 28 24
i i f ios i lausible i Fuel cos! range per ton (USD) 768-864 540610
paceof th i i i the time. ios, as well
i inti i jinning of the notes, Inthe secti i Key edinthe i i inthe table obove. Th the
of Finnair i . In orderto consider for
he y d 2021, Finnair is applyin d ichir Th used s based ih st of capil ich ket
f relying onjust a single, most fikely, cash flow estimate. The of the time va ¢ ey ar 1o Finnalr's busines: Q.
andisbasedon i managemens bes! esinale at the ime. The expecied cash low approach used inFinnairs year- discount rates are ted abave. related1o the COVID
il below in this note. 1h ugh thi pp i testing rother thanin
rote,
During the fiscal year 2021, Finnolr rly whether exist. Finnalr EBITDAand vth are based best of the spy
Cor\sldefs licati from the COVID- recovery Th nt COVID-19 pandem future d f, which are
f andher impair i asat t has long- h esti forindustry.
sheel date. St i ion, the ivei f the Fuel price is based on the hedge-weighted iuelpnce basedon rd , estimated fuet. i
on of the currently y fights and she for type.
low th & pacity it "
review i i aithelevel of h i i \x.GU’LFinnuir' twork thekey
carrier with highly it {including right fleet} and other Th inir iar use of
CGU. hi i . including goodwill, have been y how the its of the test would react to
|den!ll‘ed tobelong fo the aircraft CGU for impairment esting purposes. At year-end 202, othe thekey i atime, whereby
totaled to1.4 milll 1.7). The had the other The itts of the
nogoodwill at the endolyearznzl (n 5 mill ). Assels that are held for «cluded from CGU and tbased flow model. y related to the future pe f the
reviewed for it has been tested forimpoi ing i recovery of the business is taken int it in th i itiple forecas! i d th
phich thy of the CGL yi tthe by ppr inimpair festing.
date. Therecoverubleamoumofme CGUasat 3112.2021 wasz,74a 6 ’7 897. xpected The table below d the diffe '
cash fiow appr and th ying 21558 million euros (2,498.3). andthe carrying value of the assets to zefo,
Th h cash flow mode! where the cash flow projections
The:csh“ the lafest, forecast covering afouryear period. Dec 31,2021 Dec 31,2020
long- owth Inorder v EBITOAmargin% 11%p -10%p
COVID- the e flow app! hsusing Di % +14%p +0.9%-p
inal th % -15%p -10%p
Fuel cos, +4% 15%

67



Reviewoftheyear202  }

The Roport of the
Board of Directors

Consolidated income stalement

Consolidated statement
of comprehensive Income

Consolidated balance sheet
Consolidated cash flow statement

Consolidated statement
of changes in equity

© Notes to the consolidated
financlat statements

1. Operating result

2. Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing
arrangements

© 3. Capital structure and financing costs
4. Consolidation
5. Othernoles
6. Parent company financial statements

Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend

Auditors report

ntent of the section
counting principles

Finnalr - Annual Report 2021

Corporote
Governance Statement

RemunerationReport )

‘ Sustalnability Appendix J

. . . 2 emil f - During th
3 Capital structure and financing costs i ooyl e o ! o e
(3.3) and due 1.5 mill f Interest cost
31Financialincome and expenses Interest can be found innote 2.1 Fleet and other fixed assets.
Other Ming credit facllity los Inferest
[ B! o fl |  liobil d equity by thered Into the capital structure and related fo foxes.
i sts-seclionin order befter overview of o e E
share” has been added 1o the equity section. Bl
3.2Financial assets
Inferestincome and expenses
Inlerest i i nterest Financial assets
ignificant partof ond 1n the i i i N i
d'epreclureq overthe useful lfe of the asset. N . ) “Finonci cirum sond airvlue hr ; s The {smade athe lime of
flow:
Note 33. o Jue option. finand h
trade date.
inanci fairvolue h bonds y
EURmMIll 2021 2020 funds Fin isatfalrvolue andloss ha been acaulred 1o obla romsh
116 325 fair fair
| 16 28 lotement. . n e i r
ol onimestmen insiramentsheld ol FVPL od. i3 ] fod owich heyrise Fin esrec tairvalue through profit and loss, aswellas
Interest from assets held at cmortised cost 00 00 InFinnair thelr isiti i value.
Other 00 00 i it af amortised cost, bul only when the ob The busit
Otherfinanciatincome 00 00 fohaldihe asset to collect Ihe cg ¢ h flow ! orly pay
00 00 os
al 128 387 hort
equalto the fairvalue.
D i
Financlal expenses for disconfinued hedges 52! 1683 ' the Group.
Interestonleases 627! -58.1
Other financicl expenses -24.2 -193 Finnair ises i isi i it losse:
Inferest expenses forliabliiti -25.7i 95 . Finnair has ch pply i o mat v fradk
total 1478 2552 y i it losses. is forwara-ooking. and expected
default based “The lfell cled credit \ouoted
of i rate.
sses 225 266 us ¢ n ade re h e lrote
! ngesin expecie: 55 1he consoldoted ince
net 1215 1899 reverue.
to market funds, included
in testing of both cash flow and far ir , whi
fo be effective at year end 2021. Thus, as In the year 2020, the financiol , XS ith th ts i } Finnalr Is actively following
iterns for 2021, The COVID- tinued five impact on Finnair i during the "
years 2020 and 2021; 6s a result, Finnalr f h y quolity.
i tojef i during the year 2020, The disconfinued hedges
are shownIn profil and loss instead of other The i i Cashandcash
matured during the last quarter of 2021. 't of profit and < Lths ; " f less than three
loss for falr forhedged fromthe ;::rélos.i n;(:;':"' o
n202), g infinanc) onsist of anel -
gain of 22.2 milli d inthe financia! year 2021, Finnair
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Non-current labiiitles

EURmIL 2021 2020 EUR mill. 2021 2020
‘Commercial paper, cerif t 190 Loans fro ] 2997: 5990
Money morke! funds ' 5124 3583 JOLCO loans and other L 289.4° 3122
Total t 5314 3583 Bonds { 397.21 1998
1 R Lease liobillies ' 12041 8806
unterparties i ] Interest-bearing fiabilities total i 2,903 19916
BefterthanA i v ‘Norvinterest-bearing labilities [ 63. 5.2
A ‘ Y Total i 21966 1996.8
y
585 T SD{ Innair g I during the financial year 2021 it of the
88 : ! finoncing d out by i toth CovID- ic. The most
Unrated 3 5264 3583 significant financing during 2021 were e of 0400 mill ing th
Total . 531.4° 3583 quarter of 2021, and th, ion of tv i for four of its Airbus
35 d one lease financing for one Alrbus
Asof 31 December 202, fies mostly worth over 100 million dollars during the years 2021 - 2022. Non-Interest: ities moinly i
inmoney market funds (EUR 524 milion euro). and mainfenance reserves related o the alrcraft leased to other alrfines.
. drisk policy detall 35 ™ ‘s lease iabiliies Include five new Tor A resullof )
values of the four sal [l i year. JOLCO
'Note36C bl loans and other Include the JOLCO OperatingL Call Option) for
and Export Credif Supporl for one A350 and fv E isadebt to
3.2.2Cash and cash equivalents ft. Th ircraft in Finnalr’ i inferest
EURmMILL 2021 2020 bearing labili ircraftleased fo other irfines.
‘Cash and bank deposits > 7343 4653
Total T 7333 2653 Currentinterest-bearing llabilities
EURmill, 2021 2020
N SR hand cash Loans from financlal nstitutions, current ! 2998!
neen s ot ih 1 cos JOLEO loans and other ! 431! 515
enofesel Bonds ] 989"
) e tease llabillles ' 1769: 1356
3.3Financialliabilities Total [ 6186° 1872
pr——— JoLco include the JOLCO loans Operating Lease with Call Option) for three A350
o Financialliobilities tale profi aireraft ond Export Credil Support for one A350 and two A330 alrcraft. The transactions are freated as loans and
. folr bosis of aived. d alrcraft in Finnair g.
; in Thereafler,a erivol
i method. Fi cl Short- Long-
1 K d shori-1 liabilitie i e
payment within f o e °’e.ﬁ“i,‘.‘;'_ Short-term  Long-term  termlease  fermlease
and I borrowings _borrowings liabilities ligbilities Total
fair the i
effeciive inlerest method. activities, January 2021 515 11110 1356 asos) 217871
D of the K
00 -1549 -14681 -3016]
Acquisitions 4000 25 43701 83951
Decreases 281 28]
- Foreign exchange adjustments 212 104 6451 9611
Reclossification between short- ] N
term and long-ferm liobilties 3900 -3900 284 284, 00l
Other non-cash -11 v 114
Totalliabiliies from financing i 1
activities, 31 Decomber 2021 4415 986.2 1769 12041 2,8089.
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Short- Long- in2022 and 2.8 million paid In 2021 and due on 2025. JOLCO loans do not include the amortised cost of 3.4 million
Short-term  Long-term  fermlease  termlease ros pald in 201 € in 2025 andk 7n7ﬂTlhl '. Ath :‘, ,V ! .: finteresh " {.‘ ol
Consolidated state W borrowings _borrowings liabilities liabilities Total ama erefore, the of g financiol
Besheuiunmuimicisin Eorw T —— = fabi from the book volue by the amount equolto The COVID.
activities, 1 January 2020 435 477.3 1404 91361 1574.8! h tolmpact Finnalr tthas ot Interest 2021in
102020.Th nsists of the Issued d
Consolidated balance sheet Repayments 1749 -431 -13a,9: -3530 ‘Also, Finnair has a 600 milk o the next
Addlions 1750 5978 31 1701 10460 two years. The loan matures in fwo 300 million euro instalments. The first instalment is due during the last quarfer
Consolidated cash flow statement Decreases 411 41! of 2022 and the second one s due during the second quarter of 2023,
Foreign exchange adjusiments -20.7 -9.8 -5831 -88.8!
Reclassification between short- : h y
Consoldafed siatement longrtermiiobilies 80 -80 39 39. 00'
of changes in equity s 77 20 101 ey EURmIIL 2021 2020
Ton ;ndbm" ronet - = = - EUR [ 12916’ 9945
otal es from financing
@ Notes o the consolidated activifies, 31 December 2020 515 11130 1356 sso6t  21787. U I 146811 11268
financlal statements »Y 1 492! 573
Maturity dates of interest-bearing HKD i 00! 02
1. Operafing result financial liabilities 31 Dec 2021 EUR miil. 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 Later Total SGD 1 014 00
2. Fleetand other 1s JOLCO . fixed i 281 140 421t INR i 00 00
arrangements JOLCO| iable i 431 382 394 838 311 5791 293! 1 2,8089, 21787
® 3. Capltal and st Loans from financial institutions, variable interest 3000 3000 1 60001 R
4 Consolidaion Bonds fxedi 989 4000 1 4989 g liabilies was 3.6% (3.3%)
5 Ofhernotes Leaseliabilties, fixed interest 1338 1359 1375 1384 954 4167110577} i it
Leasellabilties, varioble Inferest 430 446 465 406 268 12161 3233!
6 Parentcompany financial statements Interest-bearing financial labilities total 6189 5187 2234 6909 1673 5962128155 S : 202 2020
, Poyments 4902 T ag0zi e ! 2L0% 246%
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend Income fror 5062 19 39 T 5120 6-12months H 10.7% 3 01%
pS —— ETEREY T 1-Syears ! 38.5%" 465%
. . X - -
Auclitors report Trade poyables and other iabiliies 1815 " 1g15]  MorethanSyears : 299%; 26.9%
Inferes! payments 1048 910 708 571 335 1078: aesai o 1000%: 1000%
Total 9854  607.8 2904 7480 2008 7040134364
a Maturity dates of Interest-bearing financial liabilities
Maoturity dates of interest-bearing
financialliabilities 31 Dec 2020 EUR mill. 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 Later Total €millon
JoLoo, 289 1451 434] o 6309
0 6183
JOLCOloans and other, variabie Inferest 515 409 353 364 774 822! 3237 P . . 596.2
Loans from finonclol institutions, voriable interest 3000 3000 ._6000' 500 S1r
Bonds, fixed Interest 2000 1_2000
Lease liabiliie 964 1023 950 929 1373 14711 671 400
Lease liabilie: I 392 415 438 460 353 1393 3451 300 Ty
Interest-bearing financial labllities total 187.2 6847 4741 1752 2789 383.112,1833! 200 1673
8659 363 ! 9022! 100
Income from currency derlvatives 8263 -332 1 -8595' o
Commodily derivatives 494 02 {446 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 Later
Trade payobles and ofher liobliitles 845 i 845’
Inlerest paymenis 653 635 501 323 418 szl 3143  WJoLCO fixed B Bonds, W Leasellobllties, varlableinterest
. ¥ X o R
Total 4210 7516 5242 2075 3208 4443126694’ imerest ) LL aL
0 JOLCO-toans and other, variable varigble interes!
interest
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Consalidatedincome statement State aid relating to Finnair's refinancing foreach type of risk. directed and supe ¥
Steering Committee. ion of the risk d sk
Consolidated statement Stateaidh e lizectto the parent company's reasury ' "
of comprehensive income The Europ issi Finnair For of el fuel derivative
P o which p 18 May 2020,0nd fhe Stafe suchas ptions. Atinception,
Consolidated batance sheel of F N s b " " tha of h»gmy probable cash flows: (cnsh ﬂow hedgesL hedgesof firm omers(hedges of the fair value of firm
that ing of Arfcle 1070} of the Trealy i f the qualify for hedge u
EuropeanUnlon. Under the Commisslon's decision the Compuny has ogreed to cerial following nair Gro ! flow hedging through hange he highly
Consolidated cash flow statement the offering, which include, from acquining @ probable o inforeign k.in
slake of than 10 per cent i i ther operators i line of business, includi d fIFRS 9. Hedg fair ges of Finnalr Group
Consolidated statement ordownstreamoperations for aperod of thiee veorsfmm the offering. consist of Inferest rate hedges of and fair fi
of changesin equi basedon the C f each memb:
gesineauly of Finnalr the fixed part of hisfher 31December 2019. E‘f‘:’"c? risk |nj‘hgh' operations 5 o
For persons becomin onorafter the righlsk it of the el prce risk means | g from fuel pr
o Notes fo the consolidated iulasuiadiibsiinsiietiinis iy Finnalr e fuel price fuel The Jet Fuel CIF
financial statements d i ity i Finnalr 31 December 2019, Finnalr will not pay bonuses and of jet fuel ince over 60 per cent of Finnair's fuel
ofher h 20202022 o purchase confracts are based on the benchmark price ndex (or Northwes! Europe et fuel deliveries.
1. Operating result the management. po:;:/"u" i P o its According fo
Further, Finnalr i bout the use of in12months from d year. The policy
2. Fleetand ofher fixed assets andleasing he date < the off & ereafier peri  monihe for o this during each of the year, sothat cent, withfarget rafio being 25 per
orrangement s use of . EU cem per .Due , the fuel cost per aslow os the spol-based price when prices fafl,
3. Capital and st theg the EU oblects the fuel cost
4. Consolidation dlimate neutrality by 2050. “'E hedges of jef fuel scash iththe
5 othernoes hedge accounting principles of RS 9.During 2021, anuu has hedged the jet fuel price riskin its entirety, without
6 Pa . State aldin hybrid loan on However, Finnair
. rent company financial statements. Finnairand the State of . n7March P . " . e m ompon lts]et ueluw"s ,
i Finnair. The dedisi the Plenary Session of the Government on 18 n el price risk, Finnalr desian nenis of fisjet fuel c fi
Board of directors' proposal on the dividend February 2021. uC inline with e, e over jeuelence
the European Union's il ld s Of the credilimi app 350 millo be used by Finnalr The firstlayer jet fuel fhe fet Fuel CIF Cargoes NWE index, wifh
Auditors report basedon the 12| Mmch 2021.Finnairis able |o access the funds, If toother "WD'Y Cargoes FOB Singapore, representing other layers.
ey bl Since the Jet Fuel CIF C alljet fuel  they
s coshaor egulty postor the limits the facilty The EU & inde e v "
ppI ining, co. 50-mili thebybridloanfaciity T BeOee e e ondl th 3’" (f oy
on‘OFebruuryZOZZTherefora disclosed also in the note 5.4 E fter the closing date, the whole 400 ™ index and the pr nchmark for on s nothieh
facity s ot h fothe the facilty. the foir fo be exactly
Y Infair value changes in
8 changes i roles of fleet overhauls.
3.4 Contingent liabilities Undate in financial
P in risk
The COVID-19 pandemic has continued to impact Finnair's business and therefore Finnair’s hedging operations
EURmMIll. 2021 2020 regarding foreign currency and et fuel price sk during the years 2021 and 2020. T decrease indemand due
of group comparnies 510 321 tothe COVID- that of y
Yotal . 510 321 nnolrio ying hed jority of inforeign
currency and jet fuel, Updated risk inci i ing hori i
limits injet fuel and i 24 monthsto 12 monms
e . . forjet fuel and the lower bound of t fuel and
3.5Management of financial risks lowered 10 zero, The higher bound of the hedging limitis setfo 50% mroughouv the hedging horizon for fet fvin
Principles of fi lal risk o cnd foreign currency, while keeping the fnrgei level ot 25%.. was
ith the ot 50%.
Finnair e f y of financial risks: foreign - winine larget
exchange, Inferest rate, credl, liquidity and i k. Th s policy is o limi
caused by such risk h ﬂaw i
is based k pohcy prepcred by the Financial Rlsk
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. its i 100% of i i
Timing of the notional b . Noti ) + Maturity four yen:;sNew hedge;: r‘ts rigk: eme p::llcy, Flnnoly p Pt of its a!urc‘v;:
and hedged price $/tonne (tonnes) Underlyear 1to2years " " y aswellos
31December 2021 _ other Items, such as provisions, trade receivables, trade payables
Jet fuel NWE index 16250 68,000 566000 . - 32000 d. sale. Finnalr Group hedges 0-100% of net pe rget set in 50% In fc
Jetfuel priced: Index *- ; B ing 10 MEUR.
31 December 2020 At the end of the financial year, Finnair had a hedge level for net operating cash flows of 9 per cent in the USD-
et fuel consumption priced with NWE Index 5277 237,423 227423 10,000 bosket and 2 per centin JPY for the coming 12 monlhs Onthe closing date - excluding hedges - a 10 per cent
Jet " " 6098 2577 2577 the US against the 12-month resutt of around 70 million
o = £ d a10 per cent f the J euro h negative Impact on12-month of
around 21 millk Onfthe closing date - taking t - ai0per oftheUS
y . The most dollar weakens the result by around 67 mill d 010 per cent iing of the. yenweakens

the resul'wumundZ‘ million euro. in the above numbers, the USD-basket risk includes the Hong Kong dollar,
vhich h the US dollar s high, Th balance sheet posttion at the end of

the financicl year were 57 per cent for USD and 94 per cent for Japanese yen. On th luding
Atthe end of the financial year, Finnalr had hedged 8 per cent of for the flrstsix hedges —a10 per cent strengthening of the US dollar against the euro has anegative impact on the resultof
months of 2022 nnd}percen' of the pun:huses for the second half of the year. In the financial year 2023, fuel around 146 millk da10 per ing of the.
used in flight C for quarter of Groups fumover. At the end of the financial  jmpqci of around 6 million euro, On the closing date — faking hedging info account — a 10 per cent sirenglhening
yeor. forzaze 28 percental Onthe closingdate,a10percent  gftne s dollar weakens the result by around 64 millio da10 per cent Japanese
rise nthe market price ofet fuel fivity yenweakens the resut by around 0.3 million euro.
date - faking hedging Int - 10 per cent rise In the market pricef jet fuel
lowers the. operuilng profil by around 57 million euro.
The COVID- d to Impact Finnair’s ing ihe ial year 2021 Maturity
Finnair's hedging i ji isk. During the year 2021 all Timing of the notional Notionalamount  Lessthan
hi EUR mill. 31 December 2021 (gross) lyear 1to2years 2to4years
restaried its hedging operaticns in the last quarter of 2021, Usb 7247 570.5 67.8 86.4
Foreign exchange risk LAl 539 543
Foreign exchange risk means the uncertainty in cash flows and financial hy Cr yi fhe nominal amount
rate fluctuations.
Finnair chy | aircraft labit
d di y " . Forelgn exchange P&L exposure
of clrcrcﬁ, aircroft overflight revenue. Aboul 46
percentofth enro The ot impertant EURmill. 31 December 2021 JPY_USD-basket
the Japanese yen (9 per cent, revenue), the Chinese yuan (7 per cen), the US dollar (5 per cenf) Net flows, next 24m 5468 14618
andthe {4 per cent). 30 per cent in Netoperating cash flow hedges, next 24m .50 570
foreign currencies, The most importani US dollar, which Welghted average exchange rate of hedging instruments against the euro . 112109, -0t 114,
25 per cent of all operating costs. The most significant US dollar-denominated expense is fuel cosls. The largest flows after hedging, next 24m 7541.9% -1404.8
Invesiments aircraftand lhel!suore parts -are also mainly. mude in US doflars.
The o rts, nomely exposure f ™ 9 Th highty probable
1 flows, balance sheel P (bought) leg
The cash O y ts of of d doll and least . ,
aircraft ials and overhaul traffic y ly collar is114 for USD confracts and 119.60 for JPY instruments.
charges form a group of similar items that. ith th i

cunencyr&khedglng—vuv exposure — s foreduce the y

Thists d
o uliing divers . d rencles The EuR il 3 Deoember 207 PY usD
contractsare fimedfo mature whenthe cashfl ted o be seffled. The tems 5 =530 -L1340
1 only for yen and the US dofiar basket Hems 499 5005
consisting of the US dollar and the Hong Kong dollar. For both of these, the hedglng horizon |5oneyeur whmhb Weighted average exchange the euro .130.265. G117
forth Forelg; Htems after hedging - EXY 6335

15 0% while mainfaining the trgef hedgingrafio af 25%.
position i denominated aireraft f
purch igl iswellas the nexi
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Fe Maturity
EUR mill. 31 December 2021 Uso Timing of the nofional and hedged
po 2739 price range Notional amount Lessthan
i 162.9 EUR mill. 31 December 2020 (gross) iyear 1to2years 2todyears
the euro 120 Interest rote dertvatives 2803 1260 678 864
Foreign exch ion after hedging -1110 . .
C y nnair
Y i vhichit fixed rate.
Foreign exchange P&L exposure Credit risk
EUR mill. 31 December 2020 JPY USD-basket risk i its cash when using derivali
Net next 24m 4748 14118 The credit risk i ty maki 1s with ially foreign
Net operating cash flow hedges, next 24m -758 2732 bonks, i the risk policy f
Weighted overage exchange rate of hedging instruments against the euro 120.24 114 isk limis. Liqui lsoii di funds, bonds and commercial papers issued by
i afterhedging, next 24m. 399.1 11386  according cific limits. This way, risk fo any single
counterparty Is not significant. Changes in the fair value of P i it
rates, not from credit rlsk. redit sk current financ
o N Innote 3.21,cash and 3.2.2, trad Note123and
EURr. 31 Decomber 2020 Y usp ~ dervolivespresentedinnofe 38,
Net balance sheet items. 633 -9436 |_|qu[d|fy risk
Net hed: 576 509.0 f the Finnair Liquidity is ensured by cash reserves, bankm:oounr
Weighte: the euro 126.83 118 Ilml' market d credit facilities. C of groups’long 1
i 5.7 4346
s “The COVID-19 pondemic has not had a direct impaci on the basic principles of Finnair's liquidity risk
However, due fo fh in 2021 Finnair financing
o inarder o secure liquidily levels. The most sigrificant financing iransactions during year 2021 were issuing 0400
bond during th d of 2021, for four of
EUR mill, 31 December 2020 usD s Alrbus, [ gt " M forone
Nelinvestment posilion -3365 Airty worth over 100 miliion doll years 2021-2022 the State of Finland
Nethedgesof iwestment posifion 1804  maximum 400 mil Finnolr. Thy
Weighted average exch: f the euro 114 | of the EU C: numcmy inline wm: the European Union's state ald rules Of
Farefgn exchange exposure from Investment positi 1551 the cvedn limit, il d by Finnalr ifth the facility
ditions are met. The EU C the
ini ill h the hybrid Ioan facility. Therefare the whole 400 milhon euro
interest rate risk faclityis at P toth the facilty.
Inferest rate risk means the cash flow, financial g sh 1265.7 milli tthe end of llnunck:l year 2021, Finnalr Plc has a domestic
rate fluctuations. program of 200 milli ir f the cl date. Finnalr
InFinnair Group, the risk i Y. onthe last quarter of 2021 that it facility of 175 il 4 Oclober
Interest sed to odjust th fixing period.. to the risk 2021.The credit ity fi tal ] d gearing. As the facility is the
policy, th for interest foxd riod 12 th for interest- finonciol covenant is no longer in force.
bearing liabilifies 36—72 months, On por
1month 53months for Onthe closing date, o Capitalmanagement
one L rates inct income of the ! lio by The aim of Finnair toth at allti desplte the volatile
i 19 mill d the i - 33 mil i . as well s o support i timal
December 31 the condition the year given up i ize the cost of capital and maximize: th ital loyed.
the curren market environment. jia, for example, divi istributi Issues.
Future: (ease agreemems expose the group to Inferest rate risk, a: of the f dividends pald , thi of to them orthe number
pri whenheleose If necessary, th this of assetitemsin order to reduce debt. The aim of
exposuvemmmsnﬂowhedg&g ancxrsdwndend pohcy isto pay 1 feast third of thi i dividends duri
economic cycle.
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The COVID-19 dtherefore th d Hedge  Fairvalue
Inorder the State of Finnair agreed on a hybrid loan of moximum accounting through profit Amortised
400million euros fo supporlFnnol Th ! of the EUC EURmill items andloss cost _ Bookvalue
1 i ues,Of he rect limit,approximately 350 milion euros can SDec2020
beused valnnulr It i tadlity's 1,
J "
y
tacllity Therelore the hybrid loan facility Is at the company’s disposal Receivables 31 31
to the terms and f |he¢ac|||!v The d of th s i Otherfinancial assets 3583 3583
d g ratio. When i ). Trade receivables and otherreceivables 1257 125.7
bearing nef debt tof * equity. Th s adjusted theend of 74 50 124
2021 wos 321.8 per cent (153.2). P 2653 4653
Sensitivity analysis of the fair value reserve Bookvalue totel 14 3633 5941 9633
If the price of Jet fuel CIF NWE had been 10 per cent higher, the balance of the reserve would have been 2.6
million euro (6.6) higher. Correspondingly, o 10 per cent weaker Jet fuel CIF NWE price would hnve reduced the Fairvatue total 74 3633 594.1 9649
reserve by 2.6 million euro (6.6).n terms of the US dollar, a 10 per cent weaker < the
balance of the lmr:slui reserve’ by :)Slm'l:lon e:'ro (99) end a10per cent slronger dollar would have had a Financlalilabilifles
of Interms of J yen, a10 per cent stronger ¥ "
negative mpact of 0.5 millon euro (51),and 10 per cent weoker level would hove ncreased the balance of the Interest-bearing lablilles —La62s L1625
falr value reserve by 0.5 million euro (5.). The effect of change to the falr Legse liabllllies 10162 10162
isnot material Th donot "t Oertvativ 461 536 99.7
assets). Trade payables and other liabiltties 845 845
Bookvatue total i 46.1 536 22632 23629
3.6 Classification of financial assets and liabilities - i s FYTITY PYTTE]
Hedge Fairvalue
accounting through profit Amortised in i ivati i i i ivatives. ltem
EURmill Items andloss cost _ Bookvalue SO rity ft. Trad bles and oth
31Dec 2021 ! bearing and terest L
Financlalassef ' :
°"h:,; s = I Derlvatives are valued al fair value, with further detai {alir y.Financial
Receivables : 2 3 falr value are money market funds (falr valu hy level) value
Otherfinoncigl assets B 5314 5314 rarchy level 2 Loans and the book fohe falr value,
Trade recelvables and otherreceivables 1667 166.7: by h effectis not . The current portion of loans valued at amortised cost, excluding
Derivative: 137 124 26.1° bonds,Is , and the book to the fair value, because the discount effect is not
Cash and cash equivalents - 7343 7343 Significant. The issued bond makes fhe most significant part of the loans valued of amorlised cost, The senlor
- 137 5438 9043 14618 bond mo'unng In 2022 was quoted at 99729 and the senlor bond mmﬂng In 2025 wos quoted at 1011 |54 wh!ch
value end falr value. The valt
1 : liobiliti principl
Falrvalue total : 137 543.8 904.3 14618!
Financialliabilities i
Interest-beoring liabilifies 14279 14279
Lecse fiabililles 13810 13810
Derivailv ) 03 0.1 04!
Trade payables and othertiabilities v 1815 1815!
03 01 29904 29909¢
. i
Falrvatue totat : 03 01 29995 29999
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Falrvalue h y of ets and liabilities valued at falr value

3.7 Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

s:’:;\“:g:;\ s;s;el:‘ngl\ . Falrvalues at the end of the reporting perfod EURmMILL 2021 2020
EURmill. 31Dec2021 Levell Level2 [ 261 124
Assels 261 124
Consolidated batance sheet Financialosses atfalrvalue 04 118
for rading 5314° 5124 190 Derivative assetsnet t . 257 06
Consolidated cash flow statement SIS gsse mou
Derivath
°'°":°“d°"?" satement Currency andnterest rof 123 123 EURmilL 2021 2020
of chongesin equity Currency derivatives o1 97 Derivative liabilfies gross amounts 04 997
- ofwhichinfolr value hedge accounting 88 88 Amounts of financlatliabilfi . 04 99.7
¢ Notes to the consalidated - of whichin cosh flow hedge accouning 08 08 04 118
2 ivat a1 41 Derivative liabilites net amount 00 819
i - 4 .
L Operafingresult of whichIncash flow hedge accounting 1 41 Fortheabove ubject! smiar
Total 5575 5124 451 ol et ) fthe rel
2. fleetand ofher fixed assets andteasing a " " up  C v allowsnet se o
arangements bosis.
. X 3y " Uabiltles decision, tied is. However, each party of the master
3 Financiol fioblilies al falr value orsimilor , willhove the option
4. Consolidation Dertvalives _ the ofher porty. Depending on the erms of each anevent of defaull byapoartyto
5. Othernofes Currency derivatives 02 02 : when due, failure by aparty fop biigati iredby (other than
o o - e
6. Parentcompany financil stotements —of which n cash flow hedge accounfing 01 01 :wzr:v),"wch failure Is not remedied within periods of 30 nofice of such giventothe
Commodity derlvatives 02 02 .
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend -of whichi i 02 02 . .
Total 04 oa  3.8Derivatives
Ausliarsreport During year, took rilue hiercrchy Levels 1 and 2. -
The falr values of hierarchy Level 1 y i of the same
assels and liabilities. e ity , foreign
‘The falr values of Level foa significant extent, based oninput ther than the guoted y
pricesincluded in Level ), but still mainly based on directly indirectty tulureel fuel itis nol toenter p
{derived from price} for the particular asset or liabillty. T ] fa
Onthe olher hand, the fair values of Level 3 instruments are based on asset or liabilty Input dato that is not interimreport The foir volues of e 7 exche
based inputs). The fair parties, buyin The
pplied by based fly accept del he (airvalues of h i rotes,
i i Ihe ctosing dale. The fair val currency
o 1 y
The foir volues of iract alue of The fair values
of teres cul present value of . The fair values
ofinferest i i The foir
forward hil
i pted opti fion modelt
i these
L the rest of the o forthese
tort ond S
hedges of the fair value of rec sor il ges or lair valu
= Accounting principles
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hedgesjor th i s thal con resulti Howiever,as Finnair |
hedges). Hedging of the foir volue of net f used uoly 0% of i the risk of ingis nsigni Innalr !
Atthei i i the hedge ratio of 11 for hedging relationships,
L the i The
sirategy for hedging. At hedging, the hedges of cash in foreign 1 treated in
i i with the he f IFRS 9, U i i k h flows.
h value of hedge OC}, while the change In e falr valle of
i 1 auolitying for hed §
Finnair i 9 ing The change in fair val fging reserve
inci i yrisk of jet fuel, i in equilyi i |
i . The IFRS fair vatue n include changesinthe |
hed timing of isk of partie: !
Th hove been inthe fofol i of i i gh thal |
qulty . can result i However, as Finnair usually less than 100% of . the risk of |
th that i P i |
effective. The gai ised inthe fair  are transferred fo the i inthe revenue, reali I ivali usD i
peri in hen o hedging Instrument expires oris sold, while profit or
or the criteria tultilled, but (Pt .
ected to accur, th loss at that i is Th i quantity
ith th henth i f theirrelalive weighting. is typically 11.For forwdird
longer exp " ot i d oplion contracts, b
tothe i i the ] isan that th e
hedgingis y basis. porti i ised n the foir
other i the ir Ch: I interest financial
r,In terms of i i Ch 1he fair®
Fair ing is i tohedge i i . i i Finnair
dler IFRS, and therefore, ihe fair financial expenses. Changes in the falr value and for.
1 ite d fair volue of
ot ot s Sriotbeion e e || covamesin
i AlFinnalr, foras
recognised in profil ondloss. ; the fime volue of s ! ted for o
the Inferest rate swap, is acost of hedging. i innalr
! e eresirafe bonclls
s period that i for i Asof
Wi ; ohedged 31December 202, Finnairh
itemn, forwhich it [ the period to maturity. impact of CO' d d
Finnalr Group y n theinterest Due fo the COVID-1 2020 and 2021, the hedging operations
of loans. & y ing, regarding i It of the
and fair value che isedin d d liabili heet, oswellas covip ic during the vear that of
" el cho forecosted 9 Jority
' income and . n andjet fuel that The lash di i helost
, d quarterof ol expenses quarter of 2021
andinterestincome and expenses of the loan. Finnair i i il osjet i ised i
i of jet fuel kL poicy. i h policy canb 35.
jet fuet, IFRS
hedge. i i
gains ondlosses, equily, thel ot Bo
s rect »{12!"9 I s :.uw. no " forecasted d d future
longer expected o occur ond as aresull the IFR: fulfiled, the fai g : ° > S enomin o e
° e et  Under ig¢ accor 5.0 forecostrans anbe
Changesin the ofjet thaltransac proboble. probabifty
rivati i [l in fuel costs. I hich
" a y
o hatis further 1o the COVID i
Instrument as 4 pected i ause of the the tuture, th ged forecast s still highly ikely to occur.
. This s rue for for o
hedges (as described in section 35).In that case, isdi but ying i o ; P p
099. Therefore, if canb here the elize os expect the forecast be ighly probobe, qucity os
u dg y from occurot all the balance of the cast 0 tobe
crogit ° the Torinsianae If reclassified to profit orloss. Bl

7%
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Positive Negative Postiive Negative Changesin
Consolidated statement Nomina! ~ falr falr Falrnet Nominal  fair folr Falrnet Accumulated Changesin  falrvalue of
of comprehensive income EURmMIL volve values  volues  value  value values  values  value amountoffalrvalue  Linelfem  falrvalueof fhe hedging
hedge adjustments inthe thehedged Instrument
i o T
- Carryingamountof  carrying amount of inancial  caleulating  caleulating
Consolidated balance sheet ‘Operational cash flowhedging thehedgeditem  thehedgeditem  posifionin  hedgeinef- hedge nef-
574 08 01 07 2684 42 131 88 whichthe fectiveness, fectiveness,
“Operational cash flow hedgh hedgeditem previous12  previous2
Consoldatec!cash flow sfotement bughi optons o 45 00 00 805 00 00 31December 2021 Assefs Liabllitles _ Assets Liobilties months months
‘Operational cash flow hedging, Cash flow hedges
C’o:hsolldaied statement N opons edss 43 00 00 743 19 -19 Jet 2
of changes in equil
gesineauly cocpigns 2o ooeron 1629 88 88 1808 138 138 ~Forecasted et fuel
y Y ¥ Y rehases -3219 283
« Notes to the consolidated 2292 96 01 95 6037 43 288 245 £
financlal statements - Forecasted sales
» ‘Operational cush flow hedging 155 - - 0 oy 918 107
1. Operafing result ‘Operationalcosh flow hedging, Fairvalue hedges
2. Ffleetandother 1S v 203 01 01
arrangements ‘Operational cash flow hedging, Non-current
. 203 00 01 00
® 3. Capital 1 Belance el hedeng -Alrcraft acquisitions 88 88 assets -256 35
4. Consolidation 2701 01 01 00. 2671 01 05 04
5 Othernoles 2704 01 Y 00 4813 a4 37 07 Restin i
6. Parent company financial statements 4993 9.7 02 95 10855 8.6 -325 238 EUR mill. 2021 2020
BetterthanA 9.1 -189
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend A 16.6 541
Jetfuel tonnes 68,000 a1 02 39 240000 32 173 142 888 142
Auditor's report 41 ©2 39 32 -173 _ -142 Total 257 872
Jet fuel tonnes 336,000 06 313 305
06 311 305
21 o2 39 38 YY) EURmill. 2021 2020
Jet Fuel costs 76 =735
G 2803 123 123 2860 -188 -188 Hed: of lex Financial expenses 17
T 2803 123 123 2660 00 188 _-188 [ flow hedginy Fuel costs 121
Operotional cash flow hedging Alrcraftmatertols and overhaul 21
2803 123 123 2060 00 -188 -188 Operafional cash flowhedging 20
5 T ; o hflow hedging Revenue -18
261 04 25/ 872 Expenses of hedge accounting ifems tatal 554
R Di ial -26.51 -1118
co iging| hedging Financlal ses 155 -403
poicy. Disconti ign cumrency hedging i 34 54
Cross-currency interest rate swaj 23 19
Hems outside counting total -53 -155.6
Finnalr - Annual Report 2021 7
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Consolidated income statement 3.9 Equiiy-relufed Informuﬁon d OClitems
Lineitem
Consolidated statement . Unrealised Disconfinued affectedin
of comprehensive income Srareholders oquny .. ©othe Articlesaf Amounts  gainsand edges profitorloss
- 22March 2007, p ores had reclossifled losses reclassified  Changein
Consolidated balance sheet olper e T e s o EURmIlL 2020 loss  inOCI _expenses _principles 2020 __fication
10IFRS 2 have be ised i i fund: Jetfuel price § b
Consolidated cash flow statement ighl ds fi i ized i ity funds _hedging . 39! -16 296 -40 -142  Fuelcosts
hedging nedd d other OCIfe W hl O L i t Revenueand
ging, in addition lated: i costof i hedgir 0.7; 3% 103 -24 -102 cost lines®
Consolidated statement translaflon ditferences. Hedgg)rr:z ofinferest ! - Lease
of changes in equity N i of =d sho ! ischarged fo equity untl relatediofuture | payments for
or e e Coiaere e o lssue of esisine . leasepoyments 1 -43 .07 50 alreratt
o Notes to the consolidated Annual General Meefing. The actuaria! H
financlal statements i ised i ity. It i I §
confer *rights, itdi innairi i the hybrid defined benefit plan 205 430 -225
" i the hold h Costof hedgin, s
1. Operating result i fax In he calculation of earnings per shore, inferest expenses for reserve sing ) gyo‘\ 04 04
2. Fleetand ofherfixed assets and leasing i i ings for ih year. B Toxefioct T T4 105
orrangements Total T 166 38 68.7 -4 00 -8
* 3. Capltal structure and financing costs The financlalyear 2021 for N and wa:
yand
. Consolidation ) repori pac the Covid: i ing from the groupof OCitoPeL
5. Othernotes COVID-19 catsoh Y g ec “Derivalives realised through profit orloss” Insecion 38.
6. Parent company financial statements to4755 . Despite the COVID-19
3 to conf itsfong: i i to the COVID: .
and alms to ensure that the Company remalns @ competitive alriine company in the future. The company’s Maturity dates of falr
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend managernent believes that air raffic will up irci the COVID-19 i i 3 EUR mill 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 Later  Total
11l b Inwhich rofitable growth, by astrategy based T%—————T‘T———“—T——z;
Auditor's report on d hip structure. Op: 0-7 ] 1 0‘71
Numberof shares 202 2020  Hedgingofinterestrelatediofuture o1 o7 o1 o1 <1 o1l a3
Numberof outstandin i the i 11,407,230605 _127.583,802 The actuarial gains andlosses of T 1
Shareissue { 11,279.265.150 defined b 205 i 205°
Purchase 1 -1.800,000 Costof 00 t 00!
b heme 2018-2020 t 36,9031 Tox effect -49 01 01 01 01 01l -a2i
b heme 2017-2019 i 3 269,774 Totat 19.4 05 06 06 06 061 166
v 5126241 111,879
Numberof. theend of the financialyear 11,405,980,132  1,407,230,605
Ownshares held by the parent company 14211331 170,660
Totalnumber of shares ot the end of the financial year 11,407,401,265 | 1.407,401.265
Finnair share i in it fhe trad ister, was a175,442,904.30 euros af
the end of 2020 and 2021. The sh: h i D the year 2021, Finnair

of 512,624 she 1o FlyShare pa: 1otol of 36,903 shares to participants in Finnair's share-based
Incentive scheme 2018-2020. .

=Accounting principles
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Hybrid bond i H
Shareholders’ equity (after equity belonging to th that was. 4 conSOIIdahon
issued during the fhird quarter of 2020, The hybrid bond coupon s fixed ot 10.25 per cent per year for the first B the C: f1he general . sl and
three years, and thereafter fixed, at 15.25 per cent per year. Finnair ifit doesnot methods The o i) " " b
distibute dividends or any other equity The bond h i . but the company h principles applied @ " e
the right to redeem it yi payment date thereatfer. Thy Joint held, ocquired or soldby
Inequity s il “The hybrid e the group. B v
awecker the y notes. A holder of rights.
Earnings per share ) 4.1 General consolidafion principles
for the financial year tothe
parent pal d ; "
year. The result 1ov the financial yeari is odlusled lor Consphdahon & " Group
of payment date, as wellas i id bond issued rermium pad, when a hybric nas power > ity or ff has significant otherh inthe entity.
o nen caie e cttoct roaul for dilution, fhe we * WhenGroup hos the power tocon!rol theentity, iis subsidiary in cordingto
diluting shares, Finnalr has not granted any options. reseine din the note 4.2 Jolnt control or significant an
luting shares. 9 Ty op enlity but does not have the pmuenooonlyotanenmv' for by using the equity to
innote 4.4 Joint ventures.If have power fo confrol nor
EUR mill. 2021 2020 slgmﬁcnm influence m the: enmy it hiy nanci for sale and
Result for the financial year, EUR mill. : -464.5 -5232 inthe note 3. assels.
Hybrid bond inerest, EUR ml. i 205! 179
redemption of the hybrid bondissued in 2020 00 A3 4.2 Subsidiaries
2020 00’ 27 -
Taxeffect 41 44
(A
sted ezl for the financial year g 2809 107 rl" lf::sﬂlldu'lon principles of subsldiaries e
idli thq, <
Weighted average number of shares, mill. Pcs ( 1‘406.1‘ 10520 v it has power over iy yandhas the abilly to atfect e voles rhereFinnai oiherwl;: h:;m 3
share, EUR ¢ 034 051 fhe power o govern T
Dif EUR 034! 051 i the Group has control,
Effect of own shares, EUR 000* 000 e 9 aisi " dingly,
ac tair
o ition, Thy bet falr value of h i
Dividend recognised os fuodwlll )
The Board of Di fothe or 2021.1 eliminated, Unreal to
with the proposal of the Board of Dlvedors, the Annual General Meeting on 17 March 2021 vesolved thatno assel.
for the year 2020. ling inferest
' ey g inter §
Finnalr Ple’s distributable oquity tou ‘he porent For each acauldiion the i folr
EURmill. 2021 volue orot i t ofnor
Retalned eamings at the end of financlol year i 39171
Unrestricled equity H 7724"
Result for the financlat yeor N -307.0
Distributable equlty tota! : 73.7:




Review of the year 2021

Consolidated income statement

Consolidated statement
of comprehensive income

Consolidated balance sheet
Consolidated cash flow statement

Consolidated statement
of changes in equity

@ Notes to the consolldated
financial statements

1. Operating result

2. Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing
amangements

3. Capital structure and financing costs
* 4. Consolidation

5. Othernotes

6. Parent company financial statements

Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend

Auditor's report

= Accounting principles

Finnalr - Annual Report 2021

‘The Report of the
Board of Directors

( Corporate )
Financial Statements i mance Stotoment

( remunerationReport )

( sustaimabiity Appendix )

Subsidiaries During 2021, Finnalr sold iis 49.5% share of Oy. Thy 2020. Mo
roup i ions wi i i be found in the note 4.5 Refated
arty transactions.
Name of the company ownership% Name of the company ownership % partytran:
Finnair Cargo Oy, Finiand i 1000 Batlicport OO, Estonia i 1000 th S1Dec2021
Finnair Aircroft Finance Oy Fintand_L 1000 Amadeus Finland Oy, Finland i 950 pamiL omicle _ Assels _ Labilfis _Revenue _ProfiiLoss _Holding®
Finnair Technicol Services Oy, ' Oy Aurinkomafkal - Suntours Lid Ab, | ! - -
it . 1000 S i 1000, NordicRegionol Aifines AB T Sweden 980 973 703 21 40.00;
Finnalr Engine Services Oy, Finland 1000 Aurinko OG, Estonla f 1000
Finnair Kitchen Oy, Finland — 1000 Malkayhtymé Oy, Finland 1 1000' the 31Dec 2020
Kiinteist5 Oy Lentokonehuolto, § | EURmill Domicile Assels _Liabllities _ Revenue _Profit/Loss _Holding%
Finfond S — 1000 - —yry Swadan 1032 1047 ? oo frofllios_rodhaX
Northport Oy, Finiand i 100,01 Finnair Business Services O, Estonia [ 1000° o o o = s o 050
. 2020,
4.3 Acquisitions and disposals The resutof d ventures for 2021 was 21 (1.6 millon euros, of which Finnalr's share
During 2021, Finnair 495% sh he city of Porl and fo thi f was 0.0 (0.0} milion euros.
Finland, The fransaction had no material effect on Finnalr Nordic Reglonal Airlines AB
disposals during 2020. Nordic Reglonal Airines AB (N raffic-for Finnair. Th Finnair 40% ond
Danish Alr o) by the entity. In th of Finnalr, Norra has been
. . . tventure.
4.4Investmentsin associates and joint ventures classified as ajoint venfure.
i s inwhich p  holds 20-50 per cent of the voing rights orinwhich 4.5 Related party transactions
1he Group hos significant Influence but in which it does not . C jolr
conirol with anofher entity are considered as oint vetures. i d jes ond of the Finnair group includ djoint
joinily controlled enfiies cre accounted for using fhe equily mefhod. The Investment in associotes nd oint venfures s and Fianair pansion fund A s
include goodwil ecognized of the fime of Gcquisiion. i e P esu iy y Y 2ond a s '
ajoint -
unfessit ate orjoin! The State of Finnair (559%) of Finnairs shares. D
unreloted vear 2020 the State of Finland parficipated in the i i ing by 2861 mill d
torsi hy iofes. Th !  objeci K op isi that
ves in impoired.incase of i ns.C c st unt in i d i Article 1070 of the Treaty on
in share of resulis i djoint ventures. o the Jnion. Th lothes! the note 3.3,
olcesclosociiescrorive yiocor mied outorh ot
the profit of i i ‘joint [ h based on the
e oo invriure :
Th the result, asset d below.
EURmill 2021 2020
Al " T 25" 25
Disposals [ 24"
Attheendof 1 00 25
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The following transactions have taken place with , Joint Finnalr 5 O‘I’h ern Of es
EUR mill. 202 2020 B Other such notes th i toany matters. B
Sales ices
Assoclates andjoint ventures 182 284
Pensionfund 01 0a  Slincome taxes
Employee benefits
" 74 1215 The tox expense for iousyears'taxotion. Tox
CEOandE a6 39 i isedin the inco ), except to the extent that it relates o ised in cther
rcome o other equily
The Board of Directors 04 04 D porary di i the valid e
Purchas rates for future years af ir D tax asset i ised to the extent that the related
<ng date. De ! oo i
‘Assoclotes andjoint ventures 730 882 toxbeneft oo uee i tlosses b
Pension fund 20 19 f earni ly wh
[ il y i i Finnalrhasa
‘Assoclates andjoint venfures 16 28 egolly ightto sef off
Pension fund . 01 06
. B Deferred taxes
Non-cu tures N 24 196 h '. tox asset d require the use of management judgement
Norn-cu i i 789 310 norder r © Sufficie flowing
c ! i djointventures 145 159 i Due
Uabllifles the ";2;/5 pe
— - — to reflect plausible
Non-current Labilties to associates andjoin! ventures 28 36 of y of he Finnair business. The scenarios have been discussedin
Current liabilties to associates and joint ventures 33 21 of Flnnair i Finnair
ploy d lated fo defined
plans In Finnair pension fund. thenote 138.2.
dinnote 1.38. has ot b dth ot been any other Income faxes
transactions with management. .
ore ! | it notedd. EURmill 2021 2020
Taxes for the financial year
Finnair pension fund Current tox
fund In Finland is d- “ Adijustments recognised for current fox of prior periods -34
coverage to Finnalr’s the f plan, els. The Deferred foxes 1176 1345
innal (015%) of the company shares. Real d - :
y o Finnair In 2021 and 2020 Finnair did not pay Total 117.6 1311
ny 10 the fund. wos 789 mill {31.0) ot the end of the financial year. prior year deferred faxes, which caused

In 2020, Finnalr Aircraft Finance Oy jt for
additional payable faxes of 3.4 milion euro relating fo the financiol year 2019.
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Th Income tax cost Finnish taxrate cl deferred 2020:
EURmill. 2021 2020 Recognised Recognisedin
Result -5819! -6544 Intheincome  shareholders
1 1 EURmill. 2019 statement ulf 2020
Taxes colculated using 20% 1164, 1309 Deferred tax assets and|licbllifiiles . i
Differenttax rates of foreign subsidiaries t 00l 01 Confirmed losses 00 1356 591 1415!
Tox-exempt Income. ] 131 03 Defined benefit pension plans 153 =241 261 621
Non-deductible expenses \ 02! 02 Property, -1164 325 ' 839!
‘Adjustments recognised for taxes of prior periods i 01! 01 Leases 30.7 136 . 1714
Incom: T 1176 311 falrvalue 0.0 601 601
Effective fax rate ] .202%" .200% Other temporary differences 6.1 42 i 1031
Total -64.3 1345 N 145! 848!

Deferred tax assetsand habllmes

the i tax ossets. Based on the evaluation, " .
Getemed toxomsetsandii ey e some o aereigoiyn 5.2 Disputes and lifigation
12 standard. Th tax. shown net on the balance:
Finnalr reports only cases of which the Interest is material and that are not Insured. As of 31 December 2021 there
Ch during 2021: were no such disputes pending.
Recognised Recognisedin
intheincome  shareholders’ il
— 2020 heincome er 2021 5.3 Events after the closing date
Deferred it i i related fo the COVID- s sfill evoh impacton
< 1415 710 411 2166} Finnair alsoofter ther Pt . In addition, the pri i fo higher than
Defined benefit 6.2 14 861 1611 g y ot the time of the whlchlsiurmerlncrecsedbyme
" = 1 intensified in Eastern Europe. Th '
Propery, -839 157 : €821k [2 aly ffect not only on the price of fuel, but also on the usage of
Leases ELE v “928]  gyopace, d Finnalr's fights o Asia.
Voluation of folr volue . 60 601 0.1} Finnair on 17 March 2021 that the company and fhe State of Finland had signed an agreement on
Other temporary diifferences 103 65 ] 169! ahybridloan of maximum 400 millon euros tosupport Finnair The company also staed that of this credit i,
Total 84.8 117.6 41051 1919° by Finnair P
Commission on 12 March 2021 and that th i he e o

Finnair continued to be hi gative in year 2021 as a result of the impe the COVID-19 approval by the Ce ionat a later: sVuge Finnalr I7 February 2022, that the: Commsslon has

i tax asset of approved i the funds, if its cash or equity
1919 mill Th it of tax the 2020 taxabls fotals to 706 milli posifi tobe deﬂned inthe !ocths ferms and conditions.

ire in 2030. The estimated tof for the 2021 totalsto

apprmdmaiery 576 milion euros, which wil expire in 2031, Finnair expects that these can be used aginst fs
future f that consider different

plausible scenarios relating o the expected pace o! the recovery. Flnnalr would be able fouse fhe faxlosses in
fthe 10 th the expected future
Oo Finnair. In 2020, Finnair recognized a deferred tox asset

Y allof

balance of 84.8 mlIIIan euro.
istribut "

1gs of fc 0.3 milllon
euros {0.2).
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. . . EUR mill Note 2021 2020
Finnair Plcincome statement ASSETS T 1
. - Non-current assets M ]
EURmill Note 2021 2020 Intanglble assets 6411 2741 353
Revenue 621 8145 7919 6421 887! 935
Other 631 666" 841 1 |
o ' 8811 8760 Holdingsin group undertakings. . 6536 6406
. ' 00° 25
Materials andservices 641 547.0: 574.3 Other rights of ownership. { 04' 0.4
Staff expenses 651 163" 1837 L 6141 18 2182
Depreciation and reductioninvatue 66" 1581 184 Total Investments 6.131 655.8 8616
Otheroperatiny 67¢ 76171 8122 Deferred toxassefs 6151 2200 147.4
! 1487.5° 15886 Total non-current assets ] 917! 11379
: i !
. -606.5' 7126 P2 i i
! : c 6161 62767 3035
d expenses 63! -249' -189.8 Morketable securities 6171 531 3583
: [ 6181 7341 4642
Profit/loss by L -6314: 9024 Total els s 1,893.1¢ 11260
. " i
691 2459 1946 TOTALASSETS 1 288481 22639
T . = e
6103 785 1418 EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ; v
: Equity | i
Profitfloss for the financlal year . -307.0 -566.0 Share copital 1 754 754
Shore premium cecount 1 2470 247
Otherreserves 1 1
Unrestricled equity funds H 7724} 7720
Legal reserve 147.7% 147.7
1 37; -198
Retai [ 39171 1755
Profiffioss for the financlal yeor . -30701 -566.0
Total oquity 6191 325.2! 609.5
1
Accumuloted appropriations 620 1951 210
' i
Provisions 621 1824 1559
Uobilities ' ]
Non-currentliobiifies 6221 91441 1,002.1
Current liabllfies 623" 144331 4753
Totad llabllifles [ 2357.71 14774
[ 1
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES TOTAL B 2,884.8" 22639
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Notes to Finnair Plc financial statements

EURmill. 2021 2020 g e
Coshflow fromeperating aciiiles - 6.1 Accounting principles
Result before appropriations 6314° 9024 General
Depreciation 158 184 Finnair Pic is the parent company of the Finnair Group, Helsinki, Finland. F he
‘Other non-cash transactions 195 -56 b
308 1898
o 1831 5120 Forelgn currency items
Y ) transioted Info functional currency by using the exchonge
- . n the de the llobilities on
L 7.1 391 the exch te on the balance sheei date. Advances pald and received are volued in the balance sheet
Income toxes pald . -30 using thy hy ote at the date g i ol bl
Cash flow from operatingactivilles 4474 -13756 treated os the adi. turnover and other op Ex i the
Cash flow from investing activitles Derivative contracts
60 =239 toits risk policy, Finnalr uses forelgn exchange, Interest rate and commodily derivaiives
ible ossets 31 foreduce interest the Finnair's bl heet
Changeinloan and otherreceivables 129! 1806 ttems, y 3 Y d
Investments in subsidiaries -130 future jet The bal heet exposu ot excepl for
Proceeds fromsales of assoclates and jointventures 83 Finnalr Alrcraft Finance s The y r'°'°“G'°“°
T th ! thi of items, Therefore,
Received diidends 00 00 sheet p gina it ly In note 3.5. of the Group Similarty,
Cash flow from Investing activilies 52 1567 "
: etfect,and 350f the Group De using the
Cash flow from financing activities rateson g Act52a5.
Purchase: -11. Th Infticilly 1 (falr value) in the balance sheet end
Proceeds fromloans 4000, 7750 falr fot: The folr values of th
L 29656 2298 based which ’ vlling ond
parties, with fosellorbuyin The fair values of derivatives are
Proceed tromshare Issues 5117 follows.
nhybrid bond 2000 The fair values of all i , volatil d
2000 ity pri ! the closi The fair values of currency as
Rec 1896: 341 1he present value of future cash flows. The falr values of & y Black-Scholes
Cas 885.1" 10910 The fair values of cts are. o
value of future cash flows. The fair values of interest rote oplior gt y
The fair as th value of future
ChangeIncash flows 4430 1219 h flows. The fair volues of ity opfi i i ption voluatior
models.
Change Inliquid funds Gai inthe fair vo o
Liquid funds, ot beginning 8225 9504 foth i i f the deri i I ﬂ' i g
Ch hl 44301 -1219 i Atincepion,
Liquidfunds. atend 12655 225 Ceslono g Ih:fdf:“" rcho (casl ges orfairvalue
(economic hedges). Hedging of the falr value of net f i i h
not been used.
Al the inception of hedge i innair 7 {1 d the hed if
between the hedged item and th as well as th P
and the strategy for the inception of hedging. At the inception of hedging, and at least at the time of each
W, Finnair documer th of ips oy g ihe
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past and prospective capacity of ihe hedging instrument fo offset changes in the fcir value of the hedged ilem Appropriations
orchanges in cash flows. The values of ina hedglr { he ball h d total h the balance
Items current assets and current liabilities. sheet and durls yearin d
Finnalr hed: (cosh flow d
hedging). Thy l lled to the f k of f o
sales, the price risk of Jet fuel purchases and the price risk of elechicity. Income taxes
Th falr value of f fulfil the terms of cash flow th Iinclude torthe fina ¥ h tax
hedgi the fair val . o the extent that fhe provisions, adjustments fo toxes in previous financial years and the change in deferred taxes.
forth of 9 fulfilled. Th 3 in fair
h 3 foth, in n Pension schemes
th Wh cquired for the hed; fcash is sold, or when the y o domesfi h dthrougha
criteria for hedg: fulfiled, the gain or k d i h through the Finnalr pension fund ora
Inequity unll the for However, f the hedged P h Since 1992, i o than
XD r.the goin ork ity i pilots for 3 pension ion obligati y
" difi Penslon notes f s,
Financial assets and liabilities ne
Financial thefc d cost and folr volue through Provisions
profit and loss. The classification is made at the fime of ! ed on fhe objecti the and prise th the
business model and thy h flows of the i * salles of i ampany eovering inthe h
the Liabil Incr fair value v value canbe 5
through profit and loss as within 12 month: The company is obliged to return leased aircraft af the required redefivery condition. To fulfil these
and liabiie: | but orfy when th the company isions based onflight hours during the
the business model is to hold the asset to collect the hl fhe osset” h P
i W at i are
h ffe method. Financlal d include trad 2
deferred ch i Duetoth f short-term 6.2 Revenue by business area
their book value i 1o be equal to the fair vatue. Derecognition
of 15 takes ir has lost it i i h whenithas 202 2020
Finnalr 4
. Finnair has chosen o apply 8145 7919
L h Th ted credit forward- Passenger revenue 440.1" 5614
looking, and rates are based. it losses. i di v 397 528
I using th i h - 3
bucket and losses are s Cargoreven, 3348 1786
inth pply o financial i suchos
bong: market funds, included in ather h falr vatue through o] u y % ottumover
profit and loss under IFRS 9, which ir it losses. With cito the assets Finland 8% 9%
, Finnair is actively through Europe 37% 36%
profitand loss If there Other countries 55% 55%
Fixed assets and depreciation Totl 100% 100%
+ Buildings, 10-50 the fime of 1 10%.
+ Ofther tangible assets, over 3-15 years . .
6.3 Other operatingincome
Research and development costs
Except formajor 1 EURmill 2021 2020
R h fe o i th
of aircrafs by Aircroft lease income 206 280
Leasing Otherrentalincome 200 235
Iy alrcraft are significant, s Lease Otherlncome 259 326
alrcraft ff ftems. Total 66.6 841
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Cansolidated income stafement 6.4 Materials and services Audit feesn other expenses
Consolidoted stof ! EUR mill. 2021 2020
nsolidal latement
S e e e EURmill 2021 2020 Au'::;li::s ::: m;c; xw;c:
Ground handling and catering expenses v 1173, 1166 : 01
Gonsolidated balance sheet Fuel costs 21147 2327 Otherfees o1 01
Aircraft materials and overhaul 1798! 165.6 Total ‘ 02 06
Consolidated cash flow statement T nses 108" 115
Consoldated statement Otheritems 277 480 6.8Fi ali d
nsolidated statement . nancial income and expenses
of changes in equity Total 5470 5743 2]
Notes o th lidated taff EUR mill 2021 2020
@ Notes to the consol " T
financial statements 6.5Staff costs D"’:::;;mme o0 o0
1. Operaling result EUR mill 2021 2020 Totat 00 0.0
, Wages and solaries 1398 1689 :
2. Fleetand other fixed assets and leasing Pencion expanses 227, 273
arvangements -4 : - -
Other 05 125 2 i 55! 70
3. Capitalstructure and financing costs Total ' 1631 1637 From other companies f
4. Consolidation Net gains on debt instruments held mandatorlly ot FVPL 04" 33
Othernotes Y Chief| Officer ' Otherinterestincome 1 00 01
® 6. Parent company financial Oirectors : 5 Total i 50 104
‘Chief Executive Officer 13! 10 7 ;
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend Board of Directors 04! 04 share: ' 59
Auditors report 4248 4852 interest expenses :
460" 285
o L Total 460! 285
6.6 Planned depreciation and amortisation - ;
Otherfinancialincome H '
EURmill. 2021 2020 Financial ingome from disconfinued hedges i 116! 320
On otherlong: 115 134 Total 116 320
On buildings 10 10
[ i ! 33 40 o '
Totgl : 159 184 Financial expenses for discontinuedhedges i 52| -168.3
Other : 1941 311
. Total i 243" 1994
6.7 Other operating expenses T :
EURmill. 2021 2020 T 335, ’E]
| ircraft 181" 4426 :
Other rents for glrcrafi copacity : 714} 892 FinanclalIncome and expensestotal 249 -189.8
Office andotherrents . 278 299
Troffic charges 1204 1124
Solesand markefing expenses 3370 245
Other expenses : 904" 1136
Total 7617 8122
Finnalr = Annual Report 2021 86
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Consolidated income statement 6.9 Appropriations 6.12 Tangible assets
Consolidated statement EURmIIL 2021 2020 Tanglble assets 2021
f hensive i - -
of comprehensive income Change indepreciafion difference ; 150 50 Other Advances .
1 24431 1896 EURmill. Land _ Buildings equipment paid Total
Consolidated balance sheet Total- [ 245.9° 1946 1Januory 07 543 545 721 1167
Additlons 19 021 81!
Consolidated cash flow statement 0.9 R . 09!
6.10 Income taxes __Disposals 00 11 24 561 -102!
Consolidale‘d statement Acquisition cost 31 December 0.7 542 599 0.8 115.6°
of changesin equity EURmil. 2021 2020 i
forthe financlal year r 708 1382 January 63 170 232!
© Notes to the consolidated Changeindeferred T 74 36 Disposals. 06 00 06!
financlal statements n ¢
Total [} 785 1418 o -10 -33 -43
" Accumulated depreciation 31 December 6.7 -20.2 { -26.9
1. Operating result Accumule lep: ! !
2 Fleetand other fixed assets and leasing 6.11Intangible assets Bookvalue 31 December 07 a15 397 08t 867
arrangemenis 1 1
3. Capital structure and financing costs EUR mill. 2021 2020 The share of machines and equipment |
4. Consolidation v H inthe book value of tangible assets 31
Otherlong- = - December 423% ]
5. Othernotes Acquisifion cost1 January . 85.4 718
® 6. Parent financial Additions ; 46 19
Disposols B -39 03 Tanglble assets 2020
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend i L] 12 Other Advances
uisition cosf 31 December x 84.9 854 EUR mill, Land _ Buildings equipment paid Total
Auditor's report L Acquisition cost January 0y 543 436 51l 1038}
Accumulated depreciation 1 January ! 370 Additions 139 661 205}
Disposals. ! 03 Disposals =31 -451 .16
f -134 Acquisition cost 31 December 07 543 54.5 721 1167:
3 N -50.1 ] i
1 Januory -52 -16.0 i 213"
Book vatue 31 December N 271! 353 Disposals 16 1 16*
) ) O 1.0 25 1 -35%
Infangible assets Total 31 December ' 271" 353 - Accumulated depreciation 31 December -3 -17.0 ] 232
i ]
t Bookvalue 31 December 07 4.1 315 721 935)
i 1]
The share of machines and equipment |
Inthe book value of tangible assefs 31 '
. December 39.9% '

Finnalr - Annual Report 2021
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Consolidated income statement 613 Investments 6.15Deferred tax assets
Consolidated slatement EURml 2021 2020 EURmiL 2021 2020
of comprehensive income " T n
. D 1January 1474 00
Acquisition cost 1 January. ! 6406 4406 From resul for the financial year 708! 1382
1
Consolidated bafance shee Additions . 130} 2000 From temporary differences 76¢ 36
- Book value 31 December - 653.6" 640.6 Fromvaluation of derivates at foirvalue 1 -59! 58
Carsoidated cashflow stotement i i Offset against deferred tax abllties - : ' o1
Assaclotes andjoint ventures i Deferred tax assets 31 Decermber 2200 1474
Consolidated statement et 1 January v 25 25
of changes in equity = = T =
Disposals . 24! R
Bookvalue 31 December i 00, 25 6.6 Current receivables
® Notes to the consolidated
financlal statements : .
Sharesin othercompanies s 1 EUR mill. 2021 2020
isition cost January T 04! 04 Short-term receivables from, .
1 erating resutt Acquisiion cost o
Qeercling Bookvalue 31 December . 04! 04 Trode receivables 113! 75
2. Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing - . 284.3" 1896
amangements “Accrued 16! 15
3. Capital structure and financing costs Share of ol . 2290 85
4, Consolidation parent Total T 4862] 2071
5. Othernotes Associa'e.s und.i:.aini ventures company %
® 6. Parent company financlal statements Nosclie RegionolAlinesAB Sweden 4000 Short-term receivables from associates andjoint ventures !
r 00} 01
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend Share of Share of Prepaidexpenses . 671 72
parent parent Total - 681 73
Auditor’s report Group companies company % company % L f
Finnair Cargo Oy, Finland 100.00 Kilntelst3 Oy Lentokonehuolio, Finland 10000 Short-termreceivobles fromothers 1 ]
Finnalr Aircroft Finance Oy, Finlond 10000 Amodeus Finland Oy, Finland 95.00 4 656" 326,
Oy Aurinkomatkat - Suntours Ltd Ab, 60.61 408
Nerihport Oy, Finland 10000 Finland 100.00 Derivative financial instruments § 49 124
Finnair’ i rvices Oy, Finlond 10000 FTSFinanciol Services Oy, Finland 100.00 ther ] 361 33
Finnair Engine Services Oy, Finland 10000 Finnair ices O0, Esfonla 100.00 Total 13471 89.0
Finnalr Kitchen Oy, Finland 10000 R f
On1 July 2021, Finnalr 49.5% share of Oy tothe city of Portand S 621.6* 3035
of Finland. On 16 December ir P Oy td Ab,
Finland by 9,000,000 euro and to Finnair Kitchen Oy, Finland by 4,000,000 euro.
2021 2020
614 Non-current loan and other receivables . 43 189
. Employee related deferred charges and receivables t 16° 17
Other prepaid expenses { 270" 289
EUR mifl. 2021 2020 689, 2391
Fromgroup ! ] 2167
From other companies ! 18+ 15
Total 14 18: 2182

Finnalr = Annuat Report 202 . )
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617 Investments 6.20 Accumulated appropriations
. T m
ort-lerm s ol folr value Accumulated depreciation difference 1 January ] 210¢ 260
Changeln depreclation difference i 15} 50
618 Cash and bank equivalents Accumulated depreciation difference 31 : 195 210
EURmll 2021 2020 ! 25 no
v 73411 4642
6.21Provisions
619 Shareholder’s equit:
quity EUR mill. 2021 2020
Share restri Un- Provisions | January 1 15591 1570
Share premium Legal Hedging  equity Retained  Equity Provision for the period f 3451 364
EURmill, copital _account reserve reserve  funds eamings total Provision used ! -19.7) -252
Equity11.2021 ] 754 247 1477 -19.8 7720 -3305 609.5 _Exhange rafe differences : L7 122
‘Chonge infolrvalue of i _Provislons31 December 1 1824 1559
ity ! 235 235! Ofwhichlong-erm t 1703! 1417
Sha : 04 04! Ofwhichshortferm 1 1211 182
Purchose: . 11 110 Totol 1824° 155.9
Resut forthe financialyear & 3070 -307.0° . .
Equlty 3112.2021 i 754 247 147.7 37 7724987 3252  L°on9 ¥ 2033.
6.22 Non-current liabilities
Un-
Share restricted EUR mill 2020
. Share premium Legal  Hedging equity Refalped Equity Loans from financiol isfitutions N 6000
EURmill. | _account reserve reserve  funds eamings fotal Bonds T 2000
Equity11.2020 154 247 1417 33 2587 1755 6853 vybridloon i 5000
Changeinfolrvalue of — ’
equity nstruments 231 231 Ofherliabilies i 21
5117 5117 Total d 1,0021
16 16
Resultfor the financlal year -5660  -5660 Moturily of inferest-bearing iabilies i
Equity 31.12.2020 754 267 1417 198 7720 -3905 6095 1-5years : 7000 8000
afferSyears 2000 200.0
Total 9000 000.0
Distributable equity =
Finnalr 19.05.2021 of EUR . The d-year 19May
EUR mill : 200 Z_;’:g 2025, t carres a fixed annualinterest of 4.250 per cent.
Unrestricted equity funds 7724 7720
Retained eamings 3917, 1755
Profil/loss for T 3070 -566.0
Total : 737 3617
L i A . ; 10
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‘onsalliaed incaime sialement 6.23 Currentliabilities 6.24 Collateral, contingent liabilities and other commitments
S"’m“':mjﬁzi'x’e EURmill 200 2020 EURmIIL 2021 2020
[ i t 1 Guarantees and confingent liabilities i i
' 220! 225 Onbehalf : 510 321
Consolidated balance sheet s ond deferred income 1 160, 88 Totat ‘ 510 321
Group bank account liabllities i 5049 1072 ' )
Consolidated cash flow statement Total 1 5429, 1385 ‘Aircraftlease payments B i
i Within oneyeor ] 36481 367.8
g"xﬂg:ﬁ:gﬂ;“e“' Currentliabili venures + [ * __Afteraneyear andnatlaterthanS years 1 11730 12158
Trade payables i 041! 00 LaterthanSyears 1 6480 507.0
« Notes to the consolidated . 15 03 Jotd) ! 21855 20907
financial statements Total f 15! 03 1 i
‘ i _Parent company has e fieet from the fully y. [] !
I Operalingresult Ou:’ven' liabiiesto others _ : - 9! - - ; :
2 Fleetand elh;rnxed assefsand leasing T 457 338 "‘;(‘r . i 290" 275
3 Z::::f::: lure and financing costs ! 448.4"! 3085 Afferone year and notlaler than 5 years i 706! 87.0
Other liabiliies 1 59 42 Laterthan5yeors [ 1596 1624
4. Consolidation Total B 898.9 3365 Total . { 259.1" 2769
5. Othernotes H i B }
® 6. Parent company financial stataments Current liabllities total 1 14433 47153 Pension obligations | t
i 1 y 3333} 3459
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend 1 i ! Non-mandatory 1 -3333! -3459
Unflown alr transport revenues ] 2026 55.7 Total i 00! 0.0
Auditor's report Jet I 498 156 t i
Holiday payment iability 1 386! 440
Loyalty program Finnair Plus [ 552 520
D t 03 666
Otheritems v 119.4! 838
Total i 4659 3176
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Auditors report

6.25Derivatives 6.26 Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
2021 2020
Fair vatued I
Positive Negative Posttive Negative rarchy of finc atfalrvalue
Nomina! fair fair Falrnet Nominal falr fair Falrnet Falrvaluesat
EURmI. value volues volues  wvalue  value values  values value
Currency i EURmill. 31Dec202! Levell Level2
Operational cash flow hedging ] Financlalassets ol falr value
Consolidated cash flow statement 1s) 514 08 01 07 2684 42 “132 88 frading 5314 5124 190
Operational cash flow hedging,
bought options 45 00 00 805 00 00
Operational cash flow hedging, Derivotiv
soldoptions 43 00 743 19 19 08 08
d 663 08 01 070 4233 43 150 107 -of whichincash 08 08
Commodity derivatives a1 41
Operational cosh flow hedging . of which a1 a1
{forward confracts) 1739 41 31 10 Total 5363 5124 239
Operational cash flow hedging,
2 Fleetand otherfixed assets and leasing bought options 203 01 01 Financialliabililes ot falrvalue
Operational cash flow hedging, Derivalives
203 00 01 00 il
3. Capital structure and financing costs Balonce shest hedging (forword Currency derivatives 0.1
contracts) 57 00 00 -of whichls 0.1
tems outside hedge accounting Commodtty dertvatives 02
tofal 2204 43 32 11 ~of which I cash flow hedge occounting 02
- Total 03
tal Y 4 76435 85  -181 96
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend Currency derivatives fofof 863 o8 = 9.
_Commodity derivatives 6.27 Fuel pricerisk in flight operations
Jetfuel forward confracts, fonnes 68000 4.1 02 39! 240000 32 -173 -142
Bought options,jet fuel, tonnes Timing of lonal
Sold optlons, et fuel, tonnes Maturity
a1 02 39, 32 173 -142 Hedgedprice Notional
31 December202i $/tonne " amount (tonnes) Underiyear 1to2years
Jet fuel forward contracts, fonnes . 336000 06  -311 -305 Jet fuel consumption priced with NWE index 6250 68,000 66,000 2000
tems outside hedge accounting
total 06  -311  -305 Foreign exchange risk
= Maturity
Commodity derivatives total 39 41 -2i 38 484 446
Average
exchange rate
De 49 03 a6 124 666 542 Timing of the notlonal of hedging
y EURmill. instruments. Notional  Lessthan
31December 2021 againsttheeuro _amount {gross) lyear 1to2years
uso 114 613 613
JPY 12109 5.0 50
Ci y inf rofe
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Board of directors’proposal on the dividend

Finnalr Pic's distributable equity on 31 December 2021 amounts to 73,709,760.76 euros, of which the net result for
the financial year 2021is -307,023,080.56 euros.

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeling that i i
sheef fo be adopted for the financial year, which ended on 31 December 2021, and the result be retained in the
equlty.

Signing of the Report of the Board of Directors and the Financial Statements

Helsinkl, 16 February 2022

The Board of Directors of Finnalr Pl

0%4}& (e bl b CQ %gg

Jouko Karvinen Tiina Alahuhta-Kasko Colm Barringlon

Monlie Brewer Jukka Erlund Hannele Jakosuo-Jansson
i o

Henrik Kjellberg Mafja Strandberg

Topl Manner

President and CEO of Finnalr Pic
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Au d I 10 r s re po rf (This document is an English franslation of the Finnish auditor's report. Only the Finnish version of the report is legally binding)

To the Annual General Meeting of Finnair Plc Key Audit Matters
Consolidated cash flow statement Key audit those ,inour Judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
Report on the Audit of the Financlal Statements the i t the period. Th the context of our audit of the
vhole, and in opinion thereon, and provi rate opini
Consoldoled statement Opinion on The signficantisks of refemed{ointhe EL 53772014 point
of changesinequity "Weh fted the ity code 0108023-3) for the year ended (c)of Article 10(2) inth f ey aud elow.
31 December, 2021. Th h L We h s risk of d This includ
Notes to the consolidated statement income, stat ] quity, statement of cash flows and notes, whether ther bios that risk i duetofraud.
financial statements f significant policles, as well as the parent company’s balance sheet, income
statement, statement of cash flows and notes.
1. Operating result .l: our opinion - of fnancial The key audit matter How the matter was addressedin the audit
2 Fleetand other A o P s pod
ngements
omang bythe EU o (Refert i inciples for financi 33and35)
3. Capital structure and financing costs. —th fair view of the parent pany
4, Consolidation 1':.";"?1 Resulting from OVID: ithihei d
5. Othernotes 4 Croup hosincurredanello f i specialists, the financing
6. Parentcompany financial statements Our i submitted to the Audit Committee. € b AT d
€2,809 million.
Board of directors’ proposal onthe dividend Basls forQpinlan - g financiol siatements.
aud ith i tice in Finland. Our i good i i the financia
, are further inth ies for the Audit of the Financial Statements . ,
¢ Auditor's report sectlon of our report. o cosh flow scenarios, the
P pany f the with the ethical v ity of th
i to our audit, and we have fuffilled our other ethical i i the whneter efiec!
with COVID-19 pandemic, the Board of Directors have:
Inour ing, the it services that we have provi the parent reviewed the Y
pany k theBoord  used s that
these servi have ot provided any lation of D lbe abk i
plyytaaa st o o Arice S0 ofregul under allfhree scenaros as fhey falldue atlecst 12
financial statements. monthsafte thedale. h totest [
i id e basis for our b it
oplinion. Inaddilion, we assessed the appropriateness of the
Materlality and financial posifion.
audit wasi by our i i
our and is used fo determine the nature, fimi d extent of our qudit ol
t ffect of the ihole. The leve!
we setisbased of the mag could
be expected h de f the
Ve have also taken ink possible tha In our opin terial
for i of the
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The key audit matter How th the audit The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in the audit
Consolidated statement
of comprehensive Income Fleetvaluation Alrcraft maintenance provision
(Refer f for d 2) (Referto for i d Note 1.3.6)
Consolidated balance sheet
Th he pr Y
h y € made for dlo the'k of
Consolidated cash flow statement 49 % of total consofidated assets. The alrcrafi-related d h factor
€ 279 million. A ultof the Y clrcraft Y
) COVID- partof fleethas been the Group
Consolidated statement i i i engine
of changes In equity our MG ; Imited port and
Thy the the i checks.
196 million.
Notes o the consolidated o fl the odel We have ™
financial statements value, testing Th \ the
of whether and their o 2
) v the
" Y e redelivery ol the endof the lease
1. Operating result degree of moanagement judgement, the Board of Directors and our own views. molntenance costs occuringIn the future. The future Ty .
their .,
2 Eﬁgdn:nd amrfmed assets ond leasing . Toco o o ple, how future the mur:‘e' . of the caleulations as well as recalculated the
eme: the octud
3 Capital structure and financing costs dueto - We  the time of i -
the key event, Inaddition, we py
4. Consolidafion accuracy of the provision.
cash flows.
5. Othernotes the related
4 key audit matter y
disclosures.
6. Parent company financlal statements
assumptionsused n the calculation.
Deferred passengerrevenue
f directors’ proposal on the dividend : .
Boord of d P Referto 124) Definedbenefit pension plans
(Referto for finar dNote13.8.2)
® Auditor's report 291
million. Passenger process. ying Inrespect hihe
financiol . ticke! inrespect n
Further, Ch On &Y he hoblgat at the end of the reporiing on:
enueis e revenue of unflown ickets. benefitpension asset amountedto € 81 million. ;
yalty T method
folr Y
n poi ing yondinput data fhod ancibosed The ’
of : "
>
Ay " Bero! S Nohaualty lsted equily holdings against prevaiing marke! prices of
consistent moturtiles. closing date.
Lorge 1 of yolly prog
computer B -
pr passeng Judgment Inparficularrelating .
loss. " 1e
i i revenue. of
fiming of he revenu recognition. y matterinthe aluation,
audit of the Group due fo materiality of the refated n cddiion,we a h e
it matterin ed

Finnalr - Annual Report 2021

94



TheReport of he Corporate . N N
(o) ) e (o) p—— p—— —r

Consolidated income statement fih d dth forthe We ith th ged wit ri matters, th
f Directors and thy are forthe of fiming of the audit i audit findings, includi jenciesit wtrol that we
Consolidated stafement givea i i inanci i identify during our audit.
of comprehensive income (IFRS) d by the EU, and of i givea frue and fair viev i ith thy 150 provid lth retevant ethical
! o i j F i y i i d motters that may
Th f Direct d e Director for such tobearonour pe li related
Consolidated balance sheet s they determis vt encble th thertcrefree A Fromh " jththose charged wi deferminef ot
rmssmemem whether due to fraud or emor. were of most significance in the audit of the financi the current p
Consolidated cash flow statement [ ing the fir the Board of Direct d the Managing Director ible for We describe these mattersin our audlvols report unless law or regulation precludes publlc
assessing th vsand th ‘s ability to conti , disclosing, i dlsdosuye about the matter orwhen, umstances, we thatamatter
Consolidated statement iters relating to using e going ¢ pmrmuni repor because the ac 9 to
of changes in equity fo parent
company or the group or thereis no realistic allemative but to do so.
Other Reporting Requirements
Notes to the consolidoted Auditor for dit of th
financlal statements Our objectiv to obiai whether the ol free dif
frommaterial misstatement, whether due fo fraud or error, report that Inch the Annu Meeting on May 29,2020, and our appolnfment
1. Operafing result opinion. is a highlevel of , butis nota g dl e of twoyears,
i i i L] when if exists.. ther
2. Fleet and other fixed assets and leasing rise from fraud or error ond A . they could The Board of Di ible for Ihe ofheri The other
arrangements N i : iy d dth
v th users take the financiol of ol included In the Annual Report,
3. Copitalstructure and finoncing costs statements. but does not ! auditor’s report thereon. We have obtalned the report of
4. Consolidation As part of an audlt od auditing practice, the Board of Di date of this repor 1,and iheAnrqu Reperﬂsexpeded Vobemude
s Othernoles the audit. We also: ilable fo us after that date. Our opinis t cover the other
— Identify and assess the risks of of i whether due fo fraud or error, In audtt of the our istoread the other
6. Parent company financial statements desk P dit ive to hese risks, and obaln audit evidence thal and Identified abs d,in dolng 50, consider whether the other with the
deab ouropinion. The risk of resulting from the udi, or oty misstat
Board of directors’ proposal on the dividend fraud Is higher than for one resutting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, Intentional omissions, W"p::‘esped tothe 'epoﬂ M Oirecors, our ibi whether the
orthy de of i report of i i & i
., — Obfai f h inorder o desi that are inour opinion, the Informoﬂon inthe repori of the Bourdof Direcl i with in
o Auditor's report [y fotfor the purpo: the of the 'dthe report of the Board ith the
] or th e 1| . opplicable laws and regulations.
— Evaluat d th i i If, based on the work we onthe otheri that ior o the d this
auditor's report, lude thot there is a i of this other . dio
—Concludeonthe approprlaleness 01 the Bocrd of Directors’ and the Mnnug!ng Directorsuse of the go{ng report that fact, We have nothing fo report in this regard.
audit d, whether
related s thot moy cast onthe p 'hegroupsablllfyfo Otheropinions
" weu q thot the i o th i hould be adopted. The
ln our auditor’s report to i i h the Board of Direct fund: with the
'y aur opinion. Our the audit evidence obmined upto |heda|eofo«raudlml’s Limited Liability Companles Act. We support that the 1 f the Board of Di the parent company
report, However, future events or conditions may cause fhe parent company group and the Managing Director liability for i i us.
agolng concem.
Evaluale th ), structy d. ‘1he fnandul statements, including the disclosures, Helsinki, 16 February 2022
s so that the financial
statements give a frue and falr view. KPMGOY AB
—o i f busin
the group h \
for the directic of th ip audit. We ible for our audit
opinion. KIRSIJANTUNEN

Authorized Public Accountant, KHT
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Governance Statement

Regulatory framework

Finnair Plc (“Finnair” or "the Company) is a Finnish
public limited liability company domicited in
Helsinki. Finnair is the ultimate parent of Finnair
Group, and its shares are listed on Nasdag Helsinki
Stock Exchange. The State of Finland is the majority
owner in Finnair with 559% of the shares as of 31
December 2021.

Corporate governance at Finnalris based on
Finnish laws and the Company’s Articles of
Association. Finnair complies fully with and has
prepared this Corporate Governance Statement
in accordance with the Finnish Corporate
Governance Code 2020. This Corporate
Governance Statement is issued separately from
the Board of Directors’ report, and it has been
reviewed by the Audit Committee of Finnair’s
Board of Directors.

Finnair prepares consolidated financial statements
and interim reports in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards

(IFRS), the Finnish Securities Markets Act as well as

Finnair - Annual Report 2021

the Financial Supervision Authority’s regulations
and guidelines and Nasdaq Helsinki’s rules. The
Company's financial statements are prepared

in accordance with the Finnish Companies Act,
Accounting Act, Securities Markets Act, and the
opinions and guidelines of the Finnish Accounting
Board. The auditor’s report covers the consolidated
financial statements and the parent company’s
financial statements.

This Corporate Governance Statement and
otherinformation fo be disclosed in accordance
with the Finnish Corporate Governance Code
2020, the Company’s financial statements, the
Board of Directors’ report, the auditor’s report,
the Company’s Articles of Association and its
published policies are available at Finnair's
website.

The Finnish Corporate Governance Code 2020 is
available at the website of the Securities Market
Association.

{ Remuneration Report )

Sustalnabillly Appendix )

Regulatory framework for Corporate Governance at Finnair

External framework

Internal framework

.

Finnish Companies Act

Finnish Securities Markets Act

Market Abuse Regulation (MAR)
Finnish Corporate Governance
Code 2020

Regulations and guidelines issued by
the Financial Supervisory Authority
and by Nasdag Helsinki

Articles of Association

Code of Conduct

Charters of the Board of Directors
and its Committees

Charters of Infernal Audit and
Risk & Compliance

Policies, Rules, Manuals, and
Standards
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Governing bodies

The governing bodies of Finnair pursuant fo the
Companies Act and the Articles of Association are
the General Meeting of Shareholders, the Board
of Directors (the "Board”) and the Chief Executive
Officer (the "CEO").

The roles of the governing bodies are described
below.

General Meeting of
Shareholders

The ultimate authority in Finnairis vested in the
General Meeting of Shareholders. An Annual
General Meeting (the ‘AGM") must be held each
year by the end of May.

The competence of the General Meeting of
Shareholders is set out in the Companies Act and
in Finnair's Articles of Association. The AGM shall
annually decide on the following matters:

+ adoption of the financial statements and the
consolidated financial statements

Finnalr - Annual Report 2021

the use of the profit shown on the balance sheet

the discharging of the Members of the Board and
the CEO from liability

the appointment of the Members of the Board
and their remuneration

election of the Chair of the Board from among
the Members

the election and remuneration of the auditor.

The Board convenes the General Meetings of
Shareholders by publishing a notice no earlier
than three months and no later than three weeks
before the date of the meeting and always at least
nine days before the record date of the meeting.
The notice shall be published as astock exchange
release and ot Finnair's website.

Each shareholder whoisregistered on the record
date as ashareholderin the Company’s public
register of shareholders, maintained by Euroclear
Finland Oy, has the right to participate in the Generat
Meeting of Shareholders. A holder of nominee-

Governing bodies of Finnair

Shareholders

|

J I

Shareholders’ l

] General Meeting of

|
I

Nomination Board —l Shareholders N Auditor
— e SRS Y S — .
- R
i Directors 1 Committee
Committee | by : ‘

registered shares that wishes to participate in the
meeting has to register temporarily in the register

of shareholders. Furthermore, in orderto attend the
meeting, a shareholder must register for the meeting
inthe manner defined in the notice convening the

meeting. A shareholder has the right to have a
matter falling within the competence of the General
Meeting of Shareholders addressed by the meeting,
if the shareholder so demands in writing from the
Board by the date announced at Finnair's website.
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The minutes of the General Meeting of Shareholders
and the voting results, if any, shallbe made available
to shareholders at Finnair's website within two
weeks of the meeting.

2021AGM

Finnair's AGM 2021 was held at the headquarters
of the Company in Vantaa on 17 March 2021. The
Board of the Company has by virtue of Section

2, Subsection 2 of the temporary legislative

act 677/2020 to limit the spread of the Covid-19
pandemic approved by the Finnish Parliament on
15 September 2020 (“Temporary Act’), resolved
that the Company’s shareholders and their

proxy representatives may participate inthe
meeting and exercise shareholder rights only
through voting in advance as well as by making
counterproposals and asking questionsin
advance. A total of 204 shareholders, representing
661 per cent of the shares and voting rights of the
Company, participated by voting in advance. No
counterproposals by shareholders were made.
One question had been submitted to the Board,
which had been replied to at the Company’s
website on 8 March 2021.

Present at the meeting were Chair of the Board

Mr. Jouko Karvinen (remote connection), the CEO
Mr. Topi Manner, Chief Financial Officer Mr. Mika
Stirkkinen, SVP & General Counsel Mr. Sami Sarelius,.
Chair of the General Meeting Mr. Manne Airaksinen,

Corparate
Governance Statement
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person to confirm the minutes and to verify the
counting of votes Mr. Matias Oikarinen, and the
responsible auditor appointed by the Company’s
audit firm Ms. Kirsi Jantunen (remote connection). In
addition, the representative of the Company’s AGM
registration and voting service provider Euroclear
Finland Oy, Jarkko Heinonen, attended via remote
connection.

Auditor

The AGM 2021 elected KPMG as the Company’s
auditor, and Ms. Kirsi Jantunen acted as the auditor
with principal responsibility.

The audit fees paid in 2021 amounted to 347
thousand euros, and the fees for other services
rendered amounted to1thousand euros.

Shareholders’

Nomination Board

The AGM 2013 decided to establish a permanent
Shareholders’ Nomination Board. The term of the
Nomination Board continues until further notice.

The purpose and task of the Nomination Board

is to prepare and present to the AGM — and if
necessary, to an Extraordinary General Meeting —
proposals on the composition and remuneration of
the Board. In addition, the task of the Nomination
Board is to seek potential future candidates for

Board members. The Nomination Board shall
forward its proposals to the Company’s Board by 31
January eachyear.

The Nomination Board consists of four members
nominated annually. The Company’s three largest
shareholders appoint three of the members, and
the current Chair of the Board serves as the fourth
member. The Nomination Board appoints ifs
Chair from among its members. The Company’s
largest shareholders entitled to appoint members
to the Nomination Board are determined on the
basis of the registered holdings in the Company’s
shareholder register held by Euroclear Finland Oy
as of the first working day in September each year.
Inthe event that a shareholder does not wish to
exercise itsright to appoint a representative, such
right passes to the next largest shareholder.

The members of the Nomination Board are not
remunerated by Finnair for their membership inthe
Nomination Board. The members’ expenses are
reimbursable in accordance with the Company’s
expense policy. In addition, the Nomination Board's
costs of using external experts shall be borne by the
Company.

The Charter ¢f the Nomination Board is available
atthe Company website.
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i 2020 Nomination Board

The 2020 Nomination Board consisted of the representatives of the

‘ first, third and fourth largest shareholders as at the first working day

in September 2020, i.e. the State of Finland, limarinen Mutual Pension
Insurance Company, Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company, and
of the Chair of the Board. The composition of the 2020 Nomination
Board was the following:

* Ms.Minna Pajumag, b. 1963, Senior Financial Counsellor,
Govemment Ownership Steering Department (Chair}

« Mr.Esko Torsti, b. 1964, Head of Cross Asset Allocation, limarinen
Mutual Pension Insurance Company

« Mr.Timo Sallinen, b, 1970, Head of Listed Securities, Varma Mutual
Pension Insurance Company

« Mr. Jouko Karvinen, b. 1957, Chair of the Board of Finnair.

The Nomination Board convened three times and the participation
rate was 100%. On 26 January 2021, the Nomination Board
submitted to the Board its proposals for the 2021 AGM to be held on
17 March 2021. The proposals are available at Finnair's website.

|
|

2021 Nomination Board

The 2021 Nomination Board consisted of the representatives of the

first, second and third largest shareholders as at the first working day
inSeptember 2021, i.e. the State of Finland, Varma Mutual Pension
Insurance Company, lImarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company

and of the Chair of the Board. The composition of the 2021 Nomination
Board was the following:

+» Ms.Minna Pajumag, b. 1963, Senior Financial Counsellor, |
Government Ownership Steering Department (Chair)

« Mr.Timo Sallinen, b.1970, Head of Listed Securities, Varma Mutual
Pension Insurance Company

« Mr.Esko Torsti, b.1964, Head of Cross Asset Allocation, limarinen
Mutual Pension Insurance Company

« Mr.Jouko Karvinen, b.1957, Chair of the Board of Finnair.

The Nomination Board convened three times and the participation
rate was 100%. On 31 January 2022, the Nomination Board
submitted to the Board its proposails for the 2022 AGM o be held on
24 March 2022. The proposals are available at Finnair's website.
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The Board

The Chair and the Members of the Board are
elected by the AGM. According to the Articles of
Association, the Board consists of the Chairand
aminimum of fourand a maximum of nine other
members. The Board elects a Vice Chair from
among its members. The term of the office of the
members of the Board ends at the close of the first
AGM following their election.

According to the Companies Act, the Board
represents all shareholders of Finnair and has

the general duty to act diligently in the interests

of the Company. The Board is accountable to the
shareholders for the appropriate governance of
the Company and for ensuring that the operations
of the Company are run adequately.

Finngir ~ Annual Report 2021

The accountability for the Company’s governance
pertains specifically to the reliability of the financial
reporting and to the efficiency of the Company's
inferal control and risk management systems,
The main features of the internal control and risk
management systems are described later in this
Corporate Governance Statement. The Board has
extensive general competence in the governance
of the Company as its competence covers all
matters that are not within the powers of other
goveming bodies of the Company.

Corporcte
Governance Stotement

Remuneration Report
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The main duties of the
Board:

approve the Company's strategic targets
«and monitor the achievement of strategic
targets

ensure the administration of the Company
and the appropriate organisation of its
operations

confirm the values and top-level policies of
the Company

monitor and ensure the appropriateness of

. the accounting, financial administration and

riskmanagement

approve significant strategic matters,
business plans, partnerships and other
decisions exceeding the limits of the CEO’s
decision-making power

decide on guarantees and other
commitments for external parties' liabilities

+ appoint and dismiss the CEO and other

members of the Executive Board, as well as
evaluate theirperformance and determine
their remuneration, and attend to the
succession planning of the management

establish and regularly evaluate the
Company's personnel policies and its
compensation systems

evaluate its own work on an annual basis

prepare and approve the charters of the
Board and its Committees and confirm the
charters of the Internal Audit and Risk &
Compliance

The Charter of the Board is available at the
Finnair's Corporate Governance website.
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Members of the Board in 2021

Jouko Karvinen

b.1957,M.5¢c. (Tech)
Chalr of the Finnair Board since March 2017

Main occupation:
Bo

and member of the Board since March 2016

Key posltions of trust:

Member of the Board of Directors of

Solidium Oy, Member of the Foundation and
pervisory Boords of IMD Busi
Lausanne, Switzedand

Tiina Alahuhta-Kasko
+ D

b.1981,M.Sc. (Econ), CEMS MIM.
Main occupation:

Key positions of trust:

Member of the Finnair Board since 2019

President & CEO of Marimekko Corporation

Mengmeng Du
(member of the Board until AGM17
March 2021)

b.1980, M. Sc. (Econ.), M. Sc. (Computer
sclence)

Member of the Finnair Board since 2017

Finnair - Annual Report 2021

ColmBarrington
. ]

b.1946,M.Sc. (Econ)

Vice Chairand member of the Finnair Board
since 2017

Mainoceupation:

Senior Ambassador with BBAM Aviation
Services Limited

Key positions of trust:

Member of the Board of Directors of
Hibernia REIT Pic until July 2021

Montie Brewer

ER -]
b.1957, BA (Business Administration).

Member of the Finnair Board since 2018

Main occupation:
Boardprotessional
Key positions of trust:

Member of the Board of Directors of Allegiant
Travel Company

Jaana Tuominen

(member of the Board until AGM 17
March 2021)

+

b.1960,M.5c. (Eng).
Member of the Finnair Board since 2014

Jukka Erund
+

.1974,M.Sc.(Econ), eMBA.

Member of the Finnalr Board since 2019

Mainoccupation:

Executive Vice President, CFO, of Kesko Oyj.
positions of rust:

The Chair of the Tax and Economic Policy

C ittee of Finnish C i

Member of the Economy and Tax Commitiee

of Confederation of Finnish Industries EK,

Member of the Board of Directors of Imarinen

Mutual Pension Insurance Company

Hannele Jakosuo-Jansson
+

b.1966, MSc. (Tech)

; Memberof the Finnalr Board since 2021

| Mainoccupatiol

Senior Vice President Human Resources,
HSSEQ and Procurement ai Neste
Corporation

Key positions of trust:

Member of Board of Directors of Ahlstrdm-
Munksjs, Vice Chalr of Skilled work force
committee of the Confederation of Finnish
Industries, Chair of Skills and Competence
Committee of ihe Chemical Industry
Federation of Finland

Henrik Kjellberg
=

b.1971,M.5c. (Econ).
Member of the Finnair Board since 2018

Main occuy
CEO of Awaze
Key positions of frust:

MaijaStrandberg
4

b.1969,MSc. (Econ)

Member of the Finnair Board since 2020
Main occupation:

Senior Financial Counsellor Prime Minister’s
office, Govemment Ownership Steering
Department

Key positions of trust:

Member of the Board of Directors of Neova Oy
Member of the Board of Directors of SSABAB

Committees
= Audit Committee .
= People and Remuneration Committee:
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Members of the Board
and theirindependence

The 2021 AGM held on 17 March elected Mr. Jouko
Karvinen as Chair of the Board and Ms. Tiina
Alahuhta-Kasko, Mr. Colm Barrington, Mr. Montie
Brewer, Mr. Jukka Erlund, Ms. Hannele Jakosuo-
Jansson, Mr. Henrik Kjellberg, and Ms. Maija
Strandberg as other members of the Board. The
Board elected Mr. Colm Barrington as its Vice Chair.

Finnair complies with applicable requirements
regarding independence of the Board according
1o Finnish laws and regulations as well as
according to the Finnish Corporate Governance
Code. The Board has assessed all of its members to
be independent of the Company and its significant
shareholders except for Maija Strandberg, who is
not deemed to be independent of the Company’s
significant shareholder as she Is a civil servant of
the Government of Finland.

Flnnalr - Annual Report 2021

The ownership of the
Directors and companies
controlled by themin
Finnair

At the end of 2020 and 2021, neither the members
of the Board nor any companies under their control

held any shares or share-based rights in any
company within Finnair Group.

The Committees of the
Board

The Board delegates some of its functions to

the Audit Committee and to the People and
Remuneration Committee. The Board appoints the
Committee members and their Chairs from among
the members of the Board. The minimum number
of membersis three in both Committees.

Each Committee meets regularly under their
respective charters. The Commiittees report on
their work regularly to the Board but they do not
have decision-making powers independent from
the Board, except where expressly authorised by
the Board. Copies of the Committees’ charters are
available at Finnair's website.

Corporate
Governance Stotement

{ Remuneration Report ) Sustalnability Appendix )

Number of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings in 2021 and the attendance

rate of the members
People and
Board of Audit  Remuneration
Member Directors Committee Committee
Jouko Karvinen 10/10
Tiina Alahuhta-Kasko 10/10 10/10
Colm Barrington 10/10 7
Montie Brewer 10/10 n
Jukka Edund 10/10 nm
Hannele Jakosuo-Jansson (member since 17 n 8/8
March 2021)
Henrik Kjellberg 10/10 7
Maija Strandberg 10/10 10/10

In addition fo the 10 meetings, the Board made per copsulam decisions five times in 2021 without convening.

103



Review of the year 2021

The Report of the
Board of Directors

The diversity principles of
the Board

The Board has determined its diversity principles
for the use of the Shareholders' Nomination Board
when preparing proposals on the composition of
the Board to the General Meeting of Shareholders.

The diversity principles of the Board are:

+ The Board as a whole must have sufficient
expertise and experience to conduct the duties
carefully and effectively, taking into account the
quality, scope and international nature of the
Company’s operations, the Company’s strategic
targets and changes in the business environment
and society.

The members of the Board must be capable of
cooperating with the other members and the
management.

The members of the Board should have training
and experience that complement each other
and experience from industries that are
important for the Company.

Finnalr - Annuat Report 2021

Financial Statements

« The members should have experience of Board
work and conducting managerial duties in
business or other areas of society.

+ The Board shall have at least 40 per cent both
men and women. The composition should show
diversity alsoin terms of the age distribution,
length of service and cultural background.

« Sufficient continuity should be ensuredin
reforming the composition of the Board, but the
continuous term of any member may not exceed
10vyears.

Corporate
Governance Statement

Remuneration Report
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The diversity of the Board

B >013%

W 50-59:38%

W 30-3%:0%

B Men63%

Age

B 60-63:25%
B 40-49:25%

Gender

W women:38%

Nationality

M Finlond: 63%
W ousi3%

W Sweden:13%

W relond:13%

Tenure

W 1veor13%

W 2-3yeors:38%

the

5

y

y

:13%.
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Governance Statement

Audit Commitiee

The Audit Committee assists the Board in matters
relating to financial reporting and controlin
accordance with the duties specified for audit
committees in law and in the Finnish Corporate
Governance Code.

The Audit Committee monitors and evaluates
the Company's reporting process of financial
statements and the efficiency of the Internal
control and risk management systems as well as
the internal audit. The Committee monitors the
statutory audit and evaluates the independence
of the auditor. In addition, the Audit Committee
monitors the efficiency of the Company’s
compliance systems.

Pursuant to the Finnish Corporate Governance
Code, the members of the Audit Committee shall
have the quadlifications necessary to perform the
responsibilities of the committee, and at least one
of the members shall have expertise specifically in
accounting or auditing.

Finnalr - Annual Report 2021

The main duties of the
Audit Committee:

"« monitor the financial position of the

Company

monitor and assess the financial reporting
process

monitor and assess the efficiency of

the Company'sinternal control and risk
management systems as well asinternal
audit

monitor the statutory audit of the financial
statements

monitor and assess the independence of
the statutory auditor, and particularly the
provision by auditor of non-audit services fo
the Company

prepare the Board's proposal for resolution
onthe election of the auditor andits
remuneration

Remuneration Report
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review the auditor's and internal auditor’s
plansand reports

monitor and assess agreements and
transactions between the Company andits
reloted parties with respect to compliance
with the governance and disclosure
requirements of the same

review the Company’s Corporate
Governance Statement

prepare the Board's decisions on the
Company’srisk management policies

monitor and assess the status of information
security management including cyber
security

prepare the Board's decisions on significant
changesin the accounting principles orin the
valuations of the group's assets

assess the efficiency of the Company’s
compliance systems

maintain contact with the auditor

In addition to the Committee members, the CEO,
the CFO, the auditor, and the SVP & General
Counse! as secretary to the Committee attend the
Committee meetings. Other executives attend the
meetings as invited by the Committee.

Audit Committee in 2021

After the AGM of 17 March 2021, the Board elected
the following members to the Audit Committee:
Jukka Erlund as the Chair and Colm Barrington,
Montie Brewer and Henrik Kjellberg as members.
Between 1January and 17 March 2021, the
committee was chaired by Jukka Edund and its
other members were Colm Barrington, Montie
Brewer and Henrik Kjellberg. The Audit Committee
met seven fimesin 2021 and its attendance rate
was 100%.
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People and Remuneration
Committee

The People and Remuneration Committee

assists the Board in matters pertaining to the
compensation and benefits of the CEO and other
senior management, their performance evaluation,
appointment and successor planning. The
Committee assists the Board also in establishing
and evaluating the Company’s compensation
structures and other personnel policies. Pursuant to
the Board's authorisation, the Committee reviews
and confirms the achievement of targets for
short-term incentives and approves the payment
of the incentives to the CEO and other senior
management.

Finnalr - Annual Report 2021

The main duties
of the People and
Remuneration
Committee:

The Committee prepares the following matters
for the Board:

- the key principles of the Company’s
compensation policies and practices

» compensation, pension, benefits and other
material terms of the contract of the CEO
and the Executive Board members

+ CEO's and the Executive Board members'
incentive and retention plans

+ CEO's and the Executive Board members’
performance reviews

.

.

nominations of the CEO and the Executive
Board members

composition and responsibilities of the
Executive Board

CEO's and the Executive Board members'
succession planning and leadership
development

assessment of the people strategy and key
development initiatives

equity-based incentive plans

the remuneration policy forthe Company’s

governing bodies

annuai remuneration reporting based on the
recommendations of the Finnish Corporate
Governance Code for listed companies

People and
Remuneration
Committee in 2021

After the AGM of 17 March 2021, the Board

elected the following members to the People and
Remuneration Committee: Hannele Jakosuo-
Jansson as the Chair, and Tiina Alahuhta-Kasko
and Maija Strandberg as members. Between 1
January and 17 March 2021, Jaana Tuominen acted
asthe Chair of the committee and Mengmeng Du,
Tiina Alahuhta-Kasko and Maija Strandberg acted
as members. The committee met ten times in 2021
and the aftendance rate was 100%.
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Company management

Finnair’s corporate
structure

Finnair's core aifline activities are operatedin the
Group's parent company, Finnair Pic, whereas
technical services, travel services (package tours),
catering services and financial business services
are runin wholly owned subsidiaries. Finnair
business is considered one operating segment,
consisting of the Commercial and Customer

Experience, and Operations units. The shared
functions in Finnair's Group administration are
Finance, People and Culture, Digital Services,
Strategy, Communications, Legal Affairs, Risk &
Compliance, and Internal Audit.

The CEO

The CEOis appointed by the Board. The
CEO manages the Company’s operationsin

Company management \
Reportsto Board's Reports to Board's
Audit Committee Board of Directors Audit Committee

———

Risk & Compliance

L ]

i Internal qudit

Executive Management

Cornmercial and Customer Experience, Operaiions, Digital Services, People and Culiure,
Finance, Strategy, Communications, Legal Affairs

Finnair — Annual Report 2021

accordance with guidelines and instructions issued
by the Board. The CEO acts as the Chair of the
Executive Board.

The Board determines the CEO's compensation
and sets his short- and long-term incentive targets.
The main contents of the CEO's contract, including
his compensation and benefits, are described

in the Remuneration Statement and at Finnair's
webslte.

Mr. Topi Manner,M.Sc. {(Econ.), b.1974, has been

the CEO of Finnair since 1 January 2019. Prior
tojoining Finnair, Manner had along careerin
management positions at Nordeq, the largest
financial group in the Nordic countries, where he
worked as a member of Nordea's Group Executive
Management and as Head of Personal Banking.

The remuneration of the CEQ is described in
Note 1.3.8 to the financial statements and in the
Remuneration Statement.

Executive Board

The Executive Board of the Company isled by the
CEO, andit comprises the senior management
responsible for Finnair commercial and customer
experience activities, operations, digital

services, finance, people and culture, strategy,
communications and legal affairs.

The Executive Board members are appointed
by the Board, which also determines their
remuneration.

The Executive Board assists the CEO in the
strategy implementation, coordinates group-
wide development projects and defines policies
that guide the Company’s activities. The Executive
Board members report to the CEO and their

main task is to lead the daily operations of their
respective units or shared functions.
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Safety Review Board

Based on Finnair's statutory Safety Management
System {"SMS"), the Safety Review Board (“SRB")

is responsible for reviewing the Company’s safety
performance and monitoring that the SMS remains
effective and appropriate. The SRBis responsible
for setting the objectives for the SMS and assessing
the safety performance against the safety policy
and objectives. The SRB reviews and ensures that
appropriate resources are allocated to achieve the
targeted safety performance.

The SMSis under the responsibility of the
Accountable Manager as defined by the aviation
regulations. The SRBis headed by the SVP
Operations, the Accountable Managerin the SMS,
and it convenes four times peryear.

Investment Steering
Board

The Investment Steering Board ("ISB”) acts as the
forum for preparing investment decisions for the
Executive Board's approval. The ISB s headed by
the Chief Financial Officer.

Finnalir - Annual Report 2021

Corporate Council

The Finnair Corporate Council is principally a
communication and co-operation forum designed
for the personnel’s participationin the Company’s
governance processes, especially with regard fo
matters that affect the personnel. The Corporate
Council discusses the implementation of the
Company’s strategic objectives and development
projects that affect Finnair's personnel as well

as business plans, financial performance, the
operational quality and customer satisfaction.

The Corporate Council comprises the Executive
Board members, certain senior managers and the
representatives of all personnel groups. in 2021, the
Finnair Corporate Council met six times.

Corporate Governancein
Finnair subsidiaries

The subsidiaries of Finnair are presented in the
Financial Statements 2021 under Note 4.2,

Corporate
Governance Statement

RemunerationReport
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Governance principles
inkey partnerships and
outsourcings

Finnair has equity partnership in Nordic Regional
Airlines Oy through Nordic Regional Airlines AB
(Finnair's ownership 40 per cent as at 31 December
2021). 60 per cent of Nordic Regional Airlines AB

is owned by Danish Air Transport (DAT). Nordic
Regional Aiflines Oy is a Finnish regiona! passenger
airline operating ATR furboprop and Embraer 190
aircraft. Its route network is designed to provide
convenient feeder connections to Finnair’s
European and long-haul routes. Finnair's influence
over the governance of the Company isbased on
shareholding and contractual rights.

Finnair procures certain important operational
services from strategic partners, such as the
ground handling services in Helsinki hub from
Airpro and Aviator, and cargo terminal handling
services from Swissport Finland Ltd, as well as the
engine and component services from Airbus, Rolls-
Royce, SR Technics, and Lufthansa Technik. inthe
area of IT services Finnair partners with Amadeus,
1BM and Nordcloud, among others. The cost and
quality targets of these agreements have been
determined so as to correspond atleast to a good
general market level.

Finnair participates in joint businesses with certain
airlines belonging fo the oneworld alliance. In
addition, Finnair participates in a joint business with
Juneyao, an aitline not belonging to the oneworld
dlliance. These joint businesses seek toimprove
competitiveness and efficiency inamanner
benefitting the passengers. Finnair's influence
inthe joint businessesis based on contractual
arrangements, Decisions by the joint businesses
are sought fo be made unanimously.

All Finnair's service providers are expected to
comply with Finnair’s Supplier Code of Conduct.
Finnair cims to secure inits supply contracts the
rights to audit the Supplier’s governance and
security measures.

Finnair's Code of Conduct and Supplier Code of
Conduct are available at Finnair’s website.
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Executive Board members

in 2021

TopiManner

b.1974, M Sc. (Econ)
Main occupation:

CEO as of 1 January 2019

Johanna Karppi
b.1968, LLM, {trained on bench)
Main occupation:

SVPPeople 8 Culture asof 1
Key positions of trust: Oclober2019
Memberof the 1ATA Board of Key positions of trust:
Govemors -
Chair of the IATA Audit Shareholding 31 December
Committee 2021:
Member of the Board of
Directors, Ellsa Oyj 1615
Member of the Board,
Service Sector Employers Palta
Shareholding 31 December
2021
738270
Nicklas Hebrand Ole Orvér
.1980, M.Sc. (Computer Science) b.1966, Degree in Market
Mainoccupation: Economics
SVP Strategy as of 1 May 2019 Main oceupation:
Key positions of trust: Chief Commercial Officer as of
1May 2019 i
Memberof the Board of =
Directors, Skandiabanken AB Key positions of trust:
Shareholding 31 December ————
2021 Shareholding 31 December
121,238 2021
13570
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Tomi Pieniméki
b.1973,Dr.Tech, MSc. (Eng),
MSc (Econ)
Main occupation:

Chief Digitol Officer as of 1
October2019

Key positions of trust:

Chair of the Board of Directors,
Frendy Group Oy

Member of the Board of

Directors, Router Group Oy
Shareholding 31 December
2021

50025

SamiSarefius
.1971,LLM
Main occupation:
SVPand General Counsel as of
20 August 2010

Key positions of frust:

Shareholding 31 December

225,000

Jaakko Schildt

b.1970,B5¢. (Eng), MBA

Mainoccupation:

SVP Operations as of 1March

206

Keypositionsoftrust:

Chairof the Board, Nordic

Regional Airines Oy

Member of the Board of Direciors,

Finnish Aviation Academy Oy

{until 30 June 2021)

Member of the Board of Directors,

Kalliolnen Yhtiét Oy

Shareholding 31 December
021

127096

Mika Stirkkinen

b.1968, M Sc, (Econ)

Main occupation:

Chief Financlal Officer (CFO) as
of 1July 2019

Key positions of trust:
Memberof the Board of
Directors, Nordic Regional
Airlines Oy

Shareholding 31 December
2021:

140000

Paivyt Taliquist
.1970,MSc. (Econ)
Main occupation:

SVP Communications as of
1November 2020

Key positions of trust:

Shareholding 31 December

4939
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Key events in Finnair
governancein 2

Shareholders

The ownership profile of Finnair Pic changed
noticeablyin 2021. Among the name-registered
shareholders, the number of shares owned by
corporations and households increased by

17% and 27%, respectively, from year-end 2020,
whereas the number of shares owned by the
financial institutions and public bodies decreased
by 58% and 3%. The largest shareholder at the end
of the year was the Government of Finland, holding
5590% of the shares and votes, followed by mutual
pension insurance company Varma (3.56%),
mutual pension insurance company limarinen
{213%), and mutual pension insurance company
Elo (1.00%). The ownership share of nominee-
registered shareholders decreased from 7.39%

10 4.65%. The number of shareholders increased
from 85,590 to 116,139 between 1 January and 31
December2021.

Finnalr — Annual Report 2021

The shareholders’ AGMwas held on 17 March 2021,

Subsidiaries

There were no changes in Finnair Group structure
during 2021.

Auditor

On 17 March 2021, the AGM elected KPMG Oy Ab as
the Company’s auditor for the period ending at the
following AGM.

The Board and the
Executive Board

The composition of the Board changed in 2021
asone new member was elected by the AGM. In
2021, the Board and the Executive Board focussed
onresizing the Company, mitigating the negative
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on different areas

of business, ensuring liquidity, as well as defining the
Company’s post-pandemic rebuild plan.

The composition of the Executive Board did not
change in2021.

Corporate Council

The composition of the Corporate Council,
previously called the Management Board, changed
in2021 as some of the personnel groups replaced
their representatives and as non-Finnish speaking
members of the Executive Board were added

to the composition of the Corporate Council. At
the same time, the participation by the members
of the senior management was reduced by two
seats. The Corporate Council changed its meeting
language from Finnish to English. At the same time,
the English language name was changed fromthe
Management Board to Corporate Council. '

Internal Control and Risk
Management

Adherence to the Three Lines of Defence model -
with a clear division of roles and responsibilities with
respect tointernal control and risk management -
was further strengthenedin 2021. In the second Line
of Defence the Risk & Compliance function acts as
acontrol function that is responsible for developing
and maintaining the Intemal Control Framework
and Risk Management Framework as well as for
monitoring the implementation of the policies, rules,
procedures and key controls within the frameworks.

Internal Audit

Internal audit, the independent assurance function
inthe third Line of Defence, performed audits
according to the annual plan approved by the
Audit Committee of the Board and performed also
assignments requested by the management.

1o
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and risk management systems

Based on the limited liability companies act the
management of the Company shall act with due
care and promote the interests of the Company.
The Board shall see to the administration of the
Company and the appropriate organisation of
its operations. The Board is responsible for the
appropriate arrangement of the control of the
Company accounts and finances. The CEO shall
see to the executive management of the Company
inaccordance with the instructions given by the
Board. The CEO shall see to it that the accounts of
the Company are in compliance with the law and
thatits financial affairs have been arrangedina
reliable manner.

Internal control and risk management activities are
anintegral part of the management's overall duty
to ensure that the Company achieves its business
objectives. Through efficient systems of internal
control and risk management, deviations from
objectives canbe prevented or detected as early

Finnair ~ Annucl Reper! 2021

as possible. The Board is responsible for monitoring
and evaluating the efficiency of the Company’s
internal control and risk management systems.

Finnair’s Internal Control Framework is the defined
set and structure of the Company'sinternal
policies, rules, procedures and key controls. The
framework is systematically developed and
maintained fo ensure the efficiency of the internal
control system. The Internal Control Framework

is designed to ensure effective and efficient
operations, adequate identification, measurement
and mitigation of risks, prudent conduct of
business, including safeguarding of assets, sound
administrative and accounting procedures,
reliability of financial and non-financialinformation
both externally and internally, and compliance with
laws, regulations, supervisory requirements and
with Finnair’s internal policies and rules.

The role in the implementation of the internal controt and risk management systems.

External audit

Three lines of defence

Business units and shared functions
Day to day control and risk management activities.

Firstiine of
defence

Risk & Compliance
Oversight and continuous improvement of the internal control and risk
management environment.

Secondtine of
defence

N (e level

Internal Audit
Assessment of control environment, day to day control andrisk management
activities, and overall maturity of the i |l control i ystem.

Third tine of
defence

The Board of Directors
assurance of the:

't of Company’s strategic and op:
ational objectives, refiability of financial and operational reporting, as well as

nal policies.

Ultimate
responsibility

ith ke
withlaws,

w



( The Reportof the )
Review of the year 2021 Board of Diractors

Financlol Statements )

The primary governance principle is adherence
to the Three Lines of Defence model, with a clear
division of roles and responsibilities with respect
tointernal control and risk management. A proper
Three Lines of Defence governance ensures

thot the segregation of duties is defined and
established between risk management and risk
control.

In the first line of defence, the business
organisation and shared functions are risk
owners, and thus responsible for conducting
day-to-day control and risk management
activities inaccordance with the Internal Controt
Framework.

.

Inthe second line of defence, Risk & Compliance
acts as a control function that is responsible for
developing and maintaining the Internal Control
Framework and Risk Management Framework as
well as for monitoring the implementation of the
policies, rules, procedures and key controls within
the frameworks.

In the third line of defence, Internal Audit
performs audits and provides the Board with
anindependent assessment of the overall
effectiveness and maturity of the internal control
and risk management systems.

Finnair - Annuol Report 2021

Internal control and risk
management systems
inrelation to financial
reporting

The systems for internal control and risk
management of financial reporting are designed
to provide reasonable assurance about

the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financia! statements for external
purposesin accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, applicable laws and
regulations, and other requirements for listed
companies. internal! control and risk management
of financial reporting at Finnair can be described
in accordance with the COSO framework

which consists of the five components: control
environment, risk assessment, control activities,
information and communication, and monitoring.

Control environment

The contro! environment constitutes the basis
forFinnair’s internal control system. The control
environment encompasses the cutture and values
‘as well as a clear and transparent organisational
structure. Finnair’s Internal Control Framework is a
fundamental element in the control environment

Corporote
Governance Statement

Remuneration Report )
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and consists of the Code of Conduct, Finnair
Policies, Standards, Rules, and Manudls, as well as
the related key controls.

For the proper functioning of the intemal control
and risk management of financial reporting,
clearly defined roles and responsibilities are
critical. The risk owners in the first line of defence —
i.e. business units, Finance organisation as well as
certain other shared functions — are responsible
for the risk management activities, whereas Risk

& Compliance, being a control functionin the
second line of defence, facilitates the identification
and evaluation of risks, assists the first line of
defence in defining the controls, and monitors the
implementation of controls and risk management
activities. In the third line of defence, Internal

Audit provides the Board with an assessment of
the overall effectiveness of the governance, risk
management and control processes.

Risk assessment

Risks are continuously identified and analysed

as part of the risk management process. Risk
management is an integral part of running the
business. Performing risk assessments as part of
the business activities improves the relevance and
qudlity of risk assessment. Main responsibility for

performing risk assessments regarding financial
reportingrisks lies with the business organisation
and shared functions, i.e. the first line of defence.
Processes related to financial reporting are subject
to on-going risk assessment by the business
controllers, financial controllers and other shared
service staff as part of their activities.

Consistent with the Three Lines of Defence model,
the role of Risk & Compliance function is to develop
and maintain the Finnair Risk Management
Framework.

2
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Control activities

Financial reporting manuals and instructions
have been prepared to be followed across the
organisation. The manuals and instructions
outlining the content and schedule for the
reporting aim fo increase the overall controllability
of the financial reporting process and ensure

that financial statements fulfil the requirements
setinthe IFRS standards and other applicable

requirements.

Risks related to financial reporting are managed
through controls aiming to provide reasonable
assurance that the information of interim reports
and year-end reports are correct and that

they have been prepared in accordance with
legislation, applicable accounting standards and
otherrequirements for listed companies.

Control activities are applied in the business’
processes and, from the financial reporting
perspective, they ensure that errors or deviations
are prevented or detected and corrected.
Confrolsin financial reporting pertain to the
initiation, recognition, measurement, approval,
accounting and reporting of financial fransactions
as well as disclosure of financiat information. The

Finnalr = Annual Report 2021

general IT controls support the financial reporting
controls in areas like access control and back-up
management. Responsibilities are assigned in

the Finance function ensuring that analyses of
the business performance, including analyses on
volumes, revenues, costs, working capital, and
asset values are performed in accordance with
the control requirements.

Information and communication

The Finance organisation is responsible for
ensuring that the financial reporting manuals and
instructions are up-to-date and that changes are
communicated fo the relevant units and functions.
The process owners of the main finance processes
are responsible for informing about upcoming
changes in International Accounting Standards,
new accounting principles and other changesin
reporting requirements.

The key principles of Finnair’s Disclosure Policy
regarding disclosure to the stock markets are
reliability, openness, consistency and fairness.
Finnair publishes press and stock exchange
releases without undue delay and makes
them available to the markets and all principal
stakeholders simultaneously.

Corporcte
Governance Skatement

Remuneration Report
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Monitoring and improvement

The business units and shared functions regularly
assess the maturity of their contro! activities. The
contro! function — Risk & Compliance - facilitates
the identification and evaluation of risks, assists
business units and shared functions in defining
the controls, and monitors the implementation of
controls and risk management activities.

The design and effectiveness of the internal control
and risk management systems are also assessed
as part of the audits by Infernal Audit. Audit results,
corrective actions and their status, are regularly
reported to the Executive Board and to the Audit
Committee.

Internal Audit

The Internal Audit is established by the Board,
and its responsibilities are defined by the Audit
Committee of the Board as part of their oversight
responsibility.

Internal audit, the independent assurance function
in the third Line of Defence, performed audits
according to the annual plan approved by the
Audit Committee of the Board and performed also
assignments requested by the management.

The mission of Internal Audit in Finngir is to provide
independent, objective assurance and consulting

Finnair - Annual Report 2021

services designed to add value and improve the
organisation’s operations. Intermal Audit helps
the organisation to mitigate factors that might
undermine its business objectives by bringinga
systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and
improve the effectiveness of risk management,
control and governance processes.

Related party
transactions

Related party transactions are regulated by

the Finnish Companies Act and the Corporate
Governance Code issued by the Securities Market
Association, aswell asin the 1AS 24 Related parties.
Finnair related parties include the subsidiaries,
associated companies and joint ventures. Also,
the members of the Board, the CEO and other
members of the Executive Board, their close
family members and entities controlled directly or
indirectly by them, as definedinIAS 24, are related
to Finnair. Major shareholders with more than 20
per cent ownership of shares or of the total voting
rightsin the Company, are included in related
parties. Finnair has defined procedures in place for
identifying related party transactions.

Inrelation to any transaction with the Company
the related parties must obtain permissionin
advance. The permission can be given by the
Executive Board, orif the permission concermns

Corporale
Governance Statement

{ Remuneration Report

Sustalnabily Appendix

the CEO ora member of the Board, by the Board.
The person concerned may not participate in
discussing the matter on the Executive Board or
the Board or participate in preparations, decisions
orimplementation of the matter on behalf of the
Company.

In addition, the members of the Executive Board
and the Board are required to file an annual
report of transactions conducted by them or their
related parties with Finnair during the financial
period, as well as of transactions anticipated for
the next period. The permission and notification
procedures only apply to negofiated transactions.
Hence, they do not apply to service or product
purchases available on normal commercial terms
ortonormal employee discounts.

Significant transactions between Finnairand

its related parties are announced with a stock
exchange release in accordance with the rules
of Nasdaq Helsinki. Information on transactions
with related parties is also providedin note 4.5 to
the financial statements. Transactions have been
carried out ot market prices.
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Managers’ transactions
and key insider
management procedures

Inside information within the Company and
transactions on Finnair financial instruments by
persons discharging managerial responsibilities
inthe Company or their closely related persons
are managed in accordance with the Market
Abuse Regulation (MAR) and the insider guidelines
of Nasdaq Helsinki and of the Company. The
Company'sinsider rules also apply to employeesin
the so-called informative core of the Company.

The Company maintains a list of persons
discharging managerial responsibilities in Finnair
{managers),including their closely related parsons
and entities, who must notify the Company

and the Financial Supervisory Authority of

their transactions on the Company’s financial
instruments within three business days of the

- execution of the transaction. The Company must
disclose these transactions in a stock exchange
release within two business days from having
received the notification of the transaction. The
Company's managers are the members of Finnair's
Board and of the Executive Board.

Finnair — Annual Report 2021

The Company’s managers and employees in

the so-called informative core of the Company
are bound by a closed window on trading, which
begins 30 days before the release of interim or
annual results and continues until the end of the
release date. The Company may also impose
other trading restrictions and grant exemptions in
accordance withits insider rules.

The Company’s managers and employeesin the
so-called informative core of the Company must
give an advance notice fo the Company before
the execution of a planned transaction. in addition,
they canrequestan advance assessment of the
legality of a planned transaction. The advance
nofice obligation and advance assessment
opportunity are intended to reduce the risk of
trading during a closed trading window orata
time when the Company has undisclosed inside
information. Giving an advance notice does

not affect the responsibility of the Company’s
managers and employeesinits so-called
informative core regarding the abuse of inside
information.

The disclosure policy of the Company requires,
in accordance with the Market Abuse Regulation

{MAR), that the Company discloses any inside
information it may have as soon as possible.
However, the disclosure may be delayedif the
requirements specified in MAR are met. The
identification of inside information and decisions
regarding the disclosure or delay of disclosure are
made by the Company'’s Disclosure Committee,
whichis comprised of the members of the
Executive Board. The Disclosure Committee
assesses the Company’s information typically
twice amonth and otherwise whenever necessary.
If the Company delays the disclosure of inside
information, it establishes a project-specific insider
list and enters the persons with access fo the
relevantinformation on the insider list.

The personresponsible forinsider issues within the
Company is the SVP & General Counsel. Finnair’s
insider rules are available at the Company’s
website.

ns
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Directors’' Remuneration
- Report 2021

This Remuneration Report presents the
remuneration paid to members of the Board

of Directors and the CEO of Finnair during 2021.
Remuneration paid to members of the Executive
Board is presented on investors.finnaircom
website. The report has been prepared based on
the Finnish Corporate Governance Code 2020,
which also correspond to the requirements of the
EU’s Second Shareholder Rights Directive.

Introduction

Remuneration at Finnairis based on the principles
of performance, fairness and competitiveness.
Remuneration shall support the achievement of
Finnair's strategic goals and sustainability strategy,
align the management's priorities with the interests
of Finnair's shareholders, encourage behaviors
consistent with Finnair's values, and reward for
excellent performance. These principles alse guide
the work of Finnair's People and Remuneration
Committee.

FInnair - Annual Report 2021

Year 2021 continued as an exceptionally challenging
year for Finnair due to the Covid-19 pandemic and
its"impact on Finnair’s business. This had a major
impact also on the remuneration for the CEO,
Executive Board members and allemployees at
Finnair. The fast-changing business environment
and the European Commission's (Commission)
restrictions onmanagement remuneration require
special attention, especially for the variable pay
structures and target setting. The People and
Remuneration Committee follow the validity of
remuneration structures on aregular basis, and

if needed, takes appropriate steps to ensure that
remuneration aligns with the defined remuneration
principles.

Despite animprovement in Finnair's business
performance compared to 2020, the levelis

still significantly below the pre-pandemic era.

In addition to the business performance, the
remuneration of the CEO Topi Manner and other
Executive Board membersiis directlyimpacted

by the restrictions set by the Commission on
management remuneration, The Commission
issued on 9 June 2020 adecision that the
participation of the State of Finland in Finnair’s
Rights Offering is compatible with the EU state

aid rules. Under the Commission’s decision, the
Company agreed to certain conditions following
the Offering, which include, among other things,
limitations on management remuneration during
the financial years 2020, 2021 and 2022. These
limitations resulted in Finnair not being able to
implement the Short Term Incentive (STl) and Long
Term Incentive (LT) structures as described in the
Directors’ Remuneration Policy. To comply with the
defined limitations, Finnair cancelled the ongoing
STland LTI plans for the CEO and Executive Board
members and launched a new performance share
plan forthe CEO and Executive Board members
for the period 7/2020-6/2023. At the same time, a
rebuild incentive plan for personnel was launched
that is based on the same period and target
setting.

The Board's voluntary annual fee cut by 15%,
that was decided in 2020, continued until the
2021 Annual General Meeting.

Development of
remuneration 2017-2021

Annual fees for the Board of Directors (Board)
were last changed in 2020 and before that, in2008.
The average paid remuneration to the Board,
presented in the table below, has varied fromyear
to year mainly based on the number of Board and
committee meetings held during eachyear. The
total amount paid to the Board has increased as
the number of Board members increased from 7
to8in 2018 and from 810 9in 2020, and from 9 to
8in 2021. The Board's decision in 2020 to forego
the annual fee increases and additionally cut

their current annual fees by 15% impacted the
remuneration paid to the Board in both 2020 and
2021
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Asignificant share of the CEO's remuneration
is based on variable pay and is linked to the
achievement of set business targets, including

TheReport of the.
Board of Directors

Financial Statements

Average paid remuneration of employees has
been impacted by anumber of factors during
the past 5years.In 2020 and 2021, extensive

Corperate
Governance Statement

Remuneration Report

Financial performance 2017-2021

both financial, operational and sustainability temporary lay-offs decreased the paid average Revenue
performance. Remuneration of the CEO increased remuneration per employee including active emillon
strongly during 2017-2018 mainly due toincreased (atwork) and inactive {leave of absence). Paid
variable remunerationreflecting the Company’s average remuneration per active employee on the 3500
improved financial performance. The 2018 other handincreased as the temporary lay-offs 3000
CEO remuneration includes both CEO Pekka were extensive in operative employee groups 2500
Vauramo's and interim CEO Pekka Vahahyyppd's where the salary levelislower than average. The 2000
remuneration. CEO Topi Manner joined Finnairon other mainitems impacting average employee
January 2019, and hence did not receive any STl or remuneration over time include CLA-based 1500
LTI payouts during 2019 based on previous years’ annual salary increases, personnel incentive plan 1000 584
performance. In 2021, the CEO’s paid remuneration payouts as well as the volume of recruitments and 500
decreased by 33% compared fo 2020 and included retirements especially in those employee groups o
only base salary and benefits, infine with the where remuneration structures are heavily based 17 18 19 20 21
restrictions set by the European Commission. on senlority.
Paid remuneration
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Chair of the Board 68,228 71968 77907 89,308 74,223
Vice Chair of the Board 43410 52,365 55984 70,500 51,367
Othermembers of the Board average 41,695 46,02 43878 53873 49982
1,456,648
Pekka Vauramo
11.-3110.2018
CEO 756,713 1,125,233 769,205 123714 1,241910
TopiManner TopiManner TopiManner  Pekka Vahahyyppd Pekka Vauramo
49.-3112.2018
Finnair employees (average active)* 62,016 66,072 57,608 56,131 62,880
Finnair employees (average employed)** 32,522 33835 54,852 53333 59,866

* Average salary is calculated by dividing the total paid salaries with the average number of active (at work) employees during the
o

** Average salary is calculated by dividing the total paid solaries with the average numberof all employees (inc

year.
des both acfive (ot work) and inactive (leave of

absence) workers) during the year. Temporary lay-offs have a significant impact on average paid remuneration of all employees.

Finnair - Annual Report 2021
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Comparable operating result

€million

17 18 19 20 21

Earnings per share

150

100

17 18 19 20 21
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the Board of Directors

in 2021

The Board fees were paid in cash. The Board decided in 2020 to forgo
annual fee increases and made a voluntary annual fee cut by 15%,
whichimpacted paid fees until the 2021 Annual General Meeting.

RemunerationReport

Sustalnability Appendix

Meeting

Annual Commitiee compensationsin
Members 11.—3112.2021 remuneration’ Board meetings meetings total Taxable benefits? Total
Jouko Karvinen (Chair) 60,255 10110 0/0 7800 173 68,228
Colm Barrington (Vice Chair) 31410 10/10 Vi4 12,000 43410
Montie Brewer 29100 10/10 i 13800 42900
Henrik Kiellberg 29100 10/10 7 12,000 41100
Jukka Erlund 31410 10/10 ur 10,200 41610
Tiina Alahuhta-Kasko 29100 10/10 10/10 12,000 41100
Maija Strandberg 29100 10/10 10/10 12,000 41100
Members 17.3.~3112.2021
Hannele Jakosuo-Jansson 24525 n 8/8 9000 33,525
Members 11.-17.3.2021
Mengmeng Du 6,375 3/3 2/2 3,000 9375
Jaana Tuominen 6,885 3/3 2/2 3,000 9,885

! The annual remuneration is expressed at the annual level but paid in monrthJv instalments.

2 Taxable benefits include Finnair staff tickets. The members of the Board an:

stoff ticket rule.

Finnalr — Annual Report 2021

their spouses have a right fo use staff tickets in accordance with Finnair’s

w
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Paid remuneration of
the CEOin 2021

The changein the CEO's base salary is mainly due to the 15% voluntary
and temporary base salary cut during 2020 and to holiday bonus

cut during 2021. The change in company car during 2020 increased
taxable benefit value but reduced the base salary.

Financial Statemonts.

Corporata
Govemance Statement

The 2020 and 2021 STl as well as 2018-2020, 2019-2021 and 2020—
2022171 plans were cancelled for the CEO due to the limitations set by
the Commission. Hence, there are no due short orlong-termincentive
payments that are made in 2021 and 2022.

The CEO and the Executive Board members are participants of
the performance share plan that was launched for the CEO and
the Executive Board members during 2020. The program contains
athree-year performance period (7/2020-6/2023). The potential

CEO 2021 CEO 2020

Remuneration paid, euros peryear Topi Manner Topi Manner
Base salary' Infotal, euros 735615 724,866
Benefits? Infotal, euros 21,098 14,821
Short Term Incentives® Based on 2020 Based on 2019
performance performance

Intotal, euros 0 216,727

as % of paid base salary 0% 28%

Long Term Incentives* Basedon Basedon
2018-2020 2017-2019

performance performance

Key personnel LTI, monetary and share reward, euros 0 168,819

Fly Share, monetary and share reward, euros 0 0

intotal, euros 0 168,819

as % of paid base salary 0% 22%

Supptementary pensions Intotal, euros 0 [\)
Remuneration paid in total 756,713 11252233

! Base salary includes holiday bonus.

2 Benefits include company cor, phone, stoff tickets and possible voluntary health insurance.

32020 Short Term Incentive plan was cancelled,

42018-2020 Long Term Incentive plan was cancelled for the CEO and Executive Board members.

Finnair - Annual Report 2021
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rewards will be delivered to the participants in a pre-determined
proportion of shares and cash after the end of the performance
period and the rewards are at the participants’ free disposal ofter the
delivery. The CEO and the Executive Board members also participate
inthe annually commencing LTI pians starting with the 2021-2023
plan, where the potential reward would be paid in 2024.

The pandemic’simpact on paid variable compensation was not yet
visible in 2020 as STl payouts were based on 2019 performance and
LTI payouts were based on 2017-2019 performance.

The contractual base salary of the CEO has not changed during
2020 and 2021. The change in paid base salary compared to
2020 is mainly due to the 15% voluntary and temporary base
salary cut during 2020 and to holiday bonus cut during 2021.
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This Sustainability Appendix is integrated into the Annual Report and
together they form Finnair’s sustainability reporting. This appendix
has been prepared in accordance with the GRI Standards: Core
option and Global Compact’s Communication on Progress (CoP).
The report covers the parent company and all Finnish subsidiaries.
The descriptions and information presented in the Annual Report
provide an overview of the operations sustainability context, while this
appendix provides the reader with more detailed information and
figures for the reporting year. The priorities of the reborf arebased on
the materiality analysis described on GRI-table chapter 102-47 list of
Material Topics.

Finnair group does not report on the operations of foreign
subsidiaries, because they are deemed not to be of key significance
interms of the group's sustainability issues as minor operators. Any
exceptions to this should be mentioned separately in connection with
each indicator. Finnair does not report on outsourced operations,
either.

The information of the report has been collected from the group’s
internal statistics systems and from various subcontractors. In terms
of measurement and calculation methods, the GRI fopic-specific
accounting principles have been adhered to whenever the ovailable
data have so allowed. If some other measurement or calculation
method has been used, this shall be mentioned in connection with the
key figure concerned. The figures have been presented in time series
when this has been appropriate and reliably possible.

Suslainability Appendix J

There have been no significant changesin the data compared with
the previous report. Small amendments have been made to provide
reader with more reliant comparable data between reporting
periods. Information on changesinindividualindicator datais
provided under the section onthe indicator in question.

Changes pertaining to Finnair's organisational structure and the
calculation of financial statement data are described in more detailin
connection with Finnair's financial key figures.
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Human rights & Labour

Principle 1: Businesses should support and respect the protection of intemationally prociaimed human rights; and
Principle 2 Make sure that they are not complicitin human rights abuses.

Principle 4: The elimination of all forms of forced and compulsory labour;

Principle 5: The effective abolifion of child labour.

Practical actions Finnair's human rights management is described in the Finnair Code of Conduct, The Supplier Code of Conduct, and the company’s personnel management
principles. The company aimsfo prevent any violations of human rights and the use of forced or child labour both withinits own operations andiits supply chain.

Sustainability Appendix: 102-1€,103

Labour

Principle 3: Businesses should uphold the freedom of association and the effective vecogniﬂon of the right to collective bargaining;

Practical actions i of ion and t1e coll right ¢ on lissues are recognised as fundamental rights In Finland. There is along
tradition of trade unlon activity in Finnair. Labour market culture in the company has been constructed in such a way that the organisation of workers and
collectiver i s b Finnairand l groups are part of normal practice. All Finnair employees have the right and opportunity to agree
onterms of employment collectively.

The terms of employment of management employees are cgreed onlocally. Personnel and management remt d are. ibedinthe
Remuneration statement.

Annual Report, pages 116—120; Remuneration Statement
Sustainability Appendix: 103, £07

Principle 6: The elimination of discrimination in respect of employment and occupation.

Practical actions Equality and non-discrimination are embedded in the Finnair values, and Finnair is committed fo providing its customers, personnel and partners with
equal opportunities. Finnair does not discriminate based on gender, age, ethnic or national origin, nationality, language, religion, conviction, opinion,
heatth, disability, sexual orientation or other personal attributes or circumstances,

Finnair offers everyone equal opportunities for recruitment, work performance, career pi 1 and de Finngirimp ts the equal pay
principle based on the Finnist Equality Act and gives both men and women equal opporiunities for balancing work and family life. The working group for
equality frequently updates the Equality and non-discrimir i iblished internally and Y.

Sustainability Appendix: 103, 206
Company’s Equality and Non-discrimination Plan




( ) ( The Reportof the ) Corporate i
Reviow of the year 2021 Board of Directors Financlal Statements Governance Statement RemunerationReport Sustainability Aps

Global
Compact;
Communication
onProgress
-report

Reporting Principles

* Global Compact; Communication
on Progress -report

GRiContent Index

GRI102 Generol disclosure
GRI103 Management approach
GRI200 Economic

GRI300 Environmental

GRI400 Social

Independent practitioner's assurance
report

Finnalr - Annuol Report 2021

Environment

Principle 7: Businesses should support a precautionary approach to environmental challenges;
Principle 8: Undertake initiatives to promote greater environmental responsibility; and
Principle 9: Encourage the development and diffusion of environmentally friendly technologies.

Practical actions Finnair's goalis to be an engaging leader in the field of environmental responsibility. Finnair strives belng a pioneer in evaluating, reducing and reporting
environmental impacts. Company is also committed complying with current environmental legislation, but its environmental work aims at exceeding
statutory requirements.

Modern alrcraft are always more fuel-efficient and silent than previous-generation aircraft, and hence Finnalr's most significant environmental action
has been continuous, ongoing investments in a modern fleet. Company’s fong-term target is to fly carbon neutral year 2045,

Sustainability Appendix: 102-1,103, 300 series (Environmental Toplcs)

Anti-corruption
Principle 10: Businesses should work against all forms of corruption, including extortion and bribery.
Practical actions Anti-corruption policies are outlined in Finnair’s Code of Conduct and Supplier Code of Conduct as well as in the Rules for Anti-Bribery, Corporate

Hospitality and Hosting of Public Officials. Receiving and giving of bribes is strictly prohibited at Finnair.
The group’s Conflict of Interest Guidelines cover the identification and avoidance of conflicts of interest and related conduct.

Sustainability Appendix 103, 205-2, 206-1

Implementation and Measurement of Outcomes

Finnair has a Whistleblowing line called Finnair Ethics Helpline in use, through which concerns for ethical business conduct can be raised. This is open for
bothinternal and external stakeholders.

During 2021 no material incidents of material misconduct were notified through the Finnair Ethics Helpline nor were there any investigations ongoingin
the company.

Annual report, pages 21-27, Non-Financial Performance
Sustainability Appendix: 102-17, 300 & 400 series (Social & Environmental topics)

124



( ) ( TheReportof the ) Carporate . N ‘
Review of the year 2021 Boarde! Diractors Financlal Statements Governance Statement RemunerationReport Sustaine Appendix

1102: Organisation Profile
GRI Conienf 102-1 Name of the organisation

Finnair Plc
I n d ex 1 102-2 Activities, Brands, Products and Services
Annual Report, pages 6-8,10-11
" 102-3Locationofthe ters
Tietotie 9, Vantaa, Finland
+ 102-4 Location of the Operations

Annual Report, pages 68,1012

{ 102-5 Ownership and Legal Form

Annual Report, pages 29-31

i 102-6 Markets Served

AnnualReport, page 11

7 102-7 Scale of the Organisation

Annual Report, pages 10-17, 23-24
Reporting Princlples 102-8 i ind other workers

Annual report, pages 21-27, Non-Financial Performance

Global Compact; Communication

on Progress report Number of employees Share of females, % Share of permanent contracts, %
Employees 5041 57% 99%
® GRIContentindex Management 269 47% 100%
Executive Board 9 2% 100%
# GRI102 Ganeral disclosure Board of Directors 8 38% 0%
GRI103Management approach
GRI 200 Economic
GRI300 Environmental Distribution of employee groups, %
GRI 400 Social Employee Group 2021 2020
Share from fotal, % Share of females, % Share from fotal, % Share of females, %
Independent practitioner’s assurance Cabin Crew 40 90 38 89
report Pilots 16 3 15 3
White Collar Employees 14 42 14 a4
Ground services and Finnair Kitchen 9 60 n 59
Abroad 6 73 7 70
Technical Services 7 5 7 5
Technical Employees 3 2 17 3 13
Aviation Employees 2 81 2 81
Management 1 28 1 34
Travel Guides 1 1il 1 76
Travel Agency Staff 1 86 1 95

Indicators on personnel ore based on active employment relationships as at 31 December 2021 and are derived from company’s HR system. The figures exclude dormant employees.

Finnalr - Annual Report 2021
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[o2% Supply chain
GR' ‘ onieni Areport of the organistaion's supply chain can be found under the chapter 103 Approach.

{10210 to thi dits chain

Annual Report, page 28
Index Tae

Finnair has signed the Global Compact initiative, according to Principle 7 of which we support a precautionary approach to environmental challenges. To apply this approach,
Finnair has an Environmental Policy in place and has included syst ic risk. L mar and communication inits environmental management system. All
environmental objectives, targets,impacts and promotion are managed and continuously developed through Finnair's Environmental Management System (EMS).

1102112 Externatinitiatives

UN Global Compact

UN Universa! Declaration of Human Rights

UNWoemen's Empowerment Principles

Finnish Government's Society’s Commitment 2050 (UN Agenda2030)
Nordic Network for Electric Aviation _

IATA's 25by25

IATA resolution against modern slavery and human irfficking
Diversity Charter Finland (by FIBS)

Wildlife Transport Taskforce; Buckingham Palace Declaration
Helsinki Declaration

Reporting Principles

Global Compact; Communication

onProgress-report | 102-13 Membership of associations

Alrlines for Europe (A4E)

International Air Transport Association (LATA)
Global Compact Finland Network

Climate Leadership Council (CLC)

Nordic Initiative for Sustainable Aviation (NISA)
Finnish Business & Society (FIBS) .
Nordic CEOs for Sustainable Future

* GRi Content index

® GRI102 General disclosure
GRI103 Management approach
GRI 200 Economic

GRI300 Environmental
GRI 400 Social

Independent practitioner's assurance
report

Finnalr = Annual Report 2021
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oz Strategy

110214 it lor decisl h

AnnualReport, pages 3—4, CEO Review
Annual Report, pages 6—9, Busines Model and Operational Environement

The sustainability strategy is geared at preserving the license to operate from key stakeholders and contributing to the good reputation and long-term shareholder value of Finnair.
It also helps profect Finnair from the downside risk that breaches of environmental regulations, climate change, human rights abuses or governance issues, such as corrupfion, can
bringto acompany.

102-15 Key impacts, risks, and opportunities (comprehensive)

AnnualReport, page 9, Value creation

Annual report, page 6, Megatrends

Annual report, pages 32-35, Risk management

Company’s website: https://investors.finnail fen/c efrisk-management

] 102: Ethics and integrity

| 10216 Values, pri . ar f

Annuadi report, page 9, Value creation model.

Finnair's corporate sustainability is reflected in its purpose, strategy, mission, vision and values of commitment to care, simplicity, courage and working together. Sustainability is
integral to all Finnair operations, as stated inits strategy’s farget; Sustainable, profitable growth. The target of Finnair's sustainability strategy is to reduce the environmentalimpact
and increase the financial and social return for society.

The Finnair Code of Conduct and Finnair Supplier Code of Conduct lay the foundation of how the company conducts its business responsibly, in all areas. The values, Codes of
Conduct and policiesimplemented thereunder set the standard for Finnair and its employees across the jurisdictions and environments in which the company operates.

The sustainability strategy is geared at preserving the license to operate from key stakeholders and contributing fo the good reputation and long-term sharehelder value of

Finnair. It also helps protect Finnair from the downside risk that b hes of environmental ! s, climate change, human rights abuses or governance issues, such as corruption,
canbring fo acompany.
The key areas of the strategy fall under ihe following themes: Environment, Social and Economic. Finnairis committed to complying withi ional and national legisiationinits

operations and the ethical business principles iaid out in the Code of Conduct, as well as continuously developing fs sustainability performance. The most significant environmental

aspects are the combustion of fuel, aircraft nolse, energy usage in corporate facilities and waste generation. The most important social responsibility areas concern sofety, personnel

and customers, as well as ethical business conduct and responsible sourcing.

Finnalr respects the UN Universal Declaration on Human Rights and the core conventions of the International Labour Organization (ILO). Finnair has also signed the United Nation's

Global Compact initiative and as required by the Global Compatct principles, the company aims fo prevent any violations of human rights and the use of forced or child iabour both
within its own operations and its supply chain. Finnair has been reporfing onits corporate responsibility pursuant to the GRI G4 reporting guidelines since 2015 and from 2018 have

followed the GRistandard framework.
' 102471 isms for adh d bout ethics (comp! )

Finnair conducts its business in a responsible way and in accordance withits Code of Conduct. In order to protect the company and our business, all employees with knowledge of
suspected violations of the law, misconduct or fraudulent or unethical conduct in violation of the Code of Conduct are encouraged to raise the concern and report it in accordance
with the reporting procedures provided. Primarily, all employees are encouraged to raise concerns and report possible violations through normal reporting procedures. Supporting
this, Finnair has a Whistleblowing line called Finnair Ethics Helpline in use, through which concerns for ethical business conduct can be raised. This is open for both internal and
external stakeholders. All reports through the Ethics Helpline are received and handled directly by the Compliance function.

The identity, oranonymity as the case may be, of the person raising concerns will be protected and Finnair has astrict policy of non-retatiation against anyone raising a concern
in good faith. Third party that hosts Ethics Helpline will never disclose voice-files, IP addresses or phone numbers, unless authorities are involved. The right of non-retaliation is
guaranteed under the Finnair Code of Conduct and violation of this right will not be tolerated. Filing a report will not, however, automatically result in immunity for misconduct.

i
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1102; Governance

10218

Finnair'sm isaimed at achievi goals, creating added value for the company’s owners and other managing op:

improving the company’s performance.
A detailed description of Finnair governunce model can be found from Company internet pages: hitps://investors finnaircom/en/govemance

102-19 Delegating Authority (comp

AnnuatReport, pages 98-99, Governing bodies

The company management structure can be viewd on the Company’s website: https://ir NQirg /g T e/company-management
102-20 level llity for | and Social Top!

The ive-level ibili fing can be viewed on the company’ ite: i finnail fen/c ce
102-30 Effe of risk

The internal control and risk management system at Finnair - corporate-wide coverage, hence 100% of operations - Is the following:

Finnair’s internal Control Framework is the def ned se! and structure of the company’s intemal policies, rules, procedures and key controls, including those in place in the area of

sustainability. The rkis d and maintained o ensure the efficiency of the internal control system. The Internal Control Framework is designed to ensure
effective ond efficient operations, adequate identification, measurement and mitigation of risks, prudent conduct of business, including sofeguarding of assets, sound administrative

and accounting procedures, reliability of financial and non-financial information both externally and internally, and compliance with lows reguloﬂons superwsory requirements

and with Finnair'sinternal policies and rules. The Finnair Internal Control Framework covers the whole Finnair group, and thus all

Defence governance ensures that the segregation of duties is defined and risk management and risk control.

principle
Is adherence to the Three Lines of Defence model, with a clear division of roles and responsibilities with respect to internal control and risk munagemem AproperThree Lines of

| 102: stakeholder engagement

102-40 List of stakeholder groups

Stakeholder groups are listed in a table presented in 102-43; approach to stakeholder engaement.

102-41 Collective bargaining agreements

Annual Report, pages 21-27, Non-Financial Performance

Employees canagree ontheirterms of employment through collecﬂve bargaining in countries in which that is the local practice. Finnair does not limit its employees' rights to

participate in trade union activities. Senior cor an ion to 1his, as its ferms of employment are agreed onlocally orindividually.
102-42 yingand hold
Anopenand transparent dial with variou: keh ides the basis for an active (! ification and responding process. We pro-actively provide and

gatherinformation through social media, print, and other Iorrns of communication medias.
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1102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement 1
StakeholderGroup  Topics Channels
Customers Safety, Travel experience, customer service issues, product quality, on-time Surveys, research, written feedback, Finnair website, social media, customer
performance, emissions and noise reduction, recycling, responsible sourcing, events, customer service encounters at every stage of the journey, messages
responsible tourism, corporate responsibility projects via Finnair Plus. to Finnair Plus customers, Finnair mobile app, Blue Wings inflight magazine,
In-flight Entertainment system (IFE).
Personnel Occupational health and wellbeing at work, tcvget setting, Code of Conduct Intranet, internal blogs, theme weeks, Yammer, personnel events,
and ethicalissues, safety and security, chang Is] ility, values innair- W ing at Work -survey, occupational heolih
ond business practices, increasing trust, reducing environmental impact on services, per luati d planning, di: sions
the job, corp: ponsibility inpar ips, chang ting personnel.  with labour Leadership forum.
Shareholders and Market environment and competitive landscape, the company’s ions, Sfock |g= bulleﬂns der icand or discl
investors corporate responsibility, goals, reporting, strategy and financi ition. intes ris, fir , report of the Board of Directors, Corporate
Govemance Statement. Annual General Meeting; investor, analyst and media
meelings and events; corporate website; Carbon Disclosure Project.
Aviationsector Safety, emissions and noise reduction, emissions reduction schemes, air traffic ip in |ATA and A4E; forum for sustainable tourism;
management, biofuel and supply chain development, sustainable tourism, membershlp inonewortd alliance; Joint Businesses; cooperation with
economicimpacts of the sector. Finavia and other airport operators; sector seminars and working groups;
manufacturers.
Authorities and Competitiveness, market access, safety, emissions frading and reduction Diclogue with local, national, EU-level authorities and governments; dialogue
government schemes, air fraffic management, supply chain responsibility, reporting, economic  with govemments and authorities in destination and overflight countries,
contribution of cvmhon impactof. opevuﬂons onenvironment and noise, events and other cooperation with the Finnish Consumer Agency, Flight Safety
disruptions. it ities, biofuels, employs |ations, the Transport Code. Authority (Traficom), embassies and other relevant Finnish and foreign actors.
NGOs house gas er d public Cooperation with the WWF, Finnish Association for Nature Conservation,
health measures, human nghts disaster relief, wﬂdllfe pro'echon common UNICEF, Finnish Red Cross, Cancer Society of Finland and other NGOs.
inferest projects for: lity and di it ion, supply chain ~ Membership in the Carbon Disclosure Project and the Climate Leadership
responsibility. codlition, Commitment 2050 -cooperation, Science based Target
-cooperation.
Research, Greenhouse gas emissions and environmental impact reduction, common Finnairwebsite, social media, customer events.
Development and interest projects for sustainability and development cooperation, supply chain

Innovation Partners

responsibility.

C i fforts to reduce and other environmentalimpacts, Contractual P! ion, Finnair | 't guidelines and Supplier Code
monitoring of responsibility and business ethics everywhere in the value chain.  of Conduct.
Media Company strategy and business, Finnair products and network, daily operations  Press releases, press conferences, visits by reporters, press trips, interviews,
iregularities, investments, emissions reduction, personnel relations, financial Finnair media desk calls and emails, websites social media, Blue Wings
| ity, economic contril f aviation, ethics, cooperation projects magazine,
with NGOs, trends in travel and traffic, biofuek gand
schemes, noise, impact of aviation oniocal economy and mobility.
General public Customer service, product quality, labour relations, economic contribution Communications via media, websites, email and lectures; social media

of aviation, ethics, emissions reduction, presence in local economies,
cooperation projects with NGOs, corporate citizenship.

including blogs, Facebook, Twitter and Sina Weibo.

1 102-44 Key topics and concerns raised

Key Topics of the stakeholder groups are listed in a fable presented in 102-43;

1to
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Annual report, pages 79-80, Consolidation

I n d ex 1 102-46 Defining report content and topic Boundaries
Finnair has performed materiality analysis to identify the key economic, environmental and social values and impacts in Finnair's value chain as well as impacts on business and
stakeholder decision making. The molenullty analysisi issues have beenidentified through an analysis of industry frends, legistation, sustainability reporting guidelines, the reporting
of peer companies and issues highlighted by holders. Priorities have been given for the identified sustainability topics based on their business impact and stakeholder
interest. The material topics defined, as a result of the materiality analysis, have been grouped under four themes and have been used as the basis for 2021 reporting. Finnair's
sustainability focus areas, material topics, and related GRI star and b ies can be found in the table below (102-47).
1 102-47 List of material topics
Focusarea Material topics GRI topics Topic boundaries
{ Ethical business and responsible sourcing
Code of Conduct ) Ethics andintegrity
Anti-corruption and bribery Environmental compliance
Ethical business and responsible C with antt ! i ! " lance Finnair's own ons, partners and
Reporting Principles sourcing Anti-corruption supply chain
Anti-competitive behaviour

Supply chain sustainability

Global Compact; Communication Supplier social assessment
on Progress -report Human right: )
o GRIContent Index | Environmental
Energy Fuel efficiency Energyintensity
® GR1102 General disclosure Noise Flight noise
GRI103 Management approach Protection of the natural environment Biodiversity Biodiversity
GRI 200 Economic - Climate change mitigation Finnair's own operations, supply chain,
GRI300 Environmental Emissions Renewable fuels GHG Emissions(Scope1.2and 3),Reduction  indirectimpacts on greenhouse gas
GRI400 Social Offsctiing of GHG on emissions and biodiversity
n Reusing products
I'mendem practitioner's assurance Reducing waste
Woste Effluents and waste

Reducing disposable plastics
Recycling of materials

Finnalr — Annual Reporl 2021 . 30
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Sustainability App

Focusarea Material topics GRItopics Topic boundaries
| Social
Employee experience Employment
) Employee brandimage Labour/management relations
Caringfor our ! Employee well-being Occupational health and safety .
Finnair's own
‘Working conditions Training and education
Equality Diversity and equal opportunity
Human right:
Flight safety Stakeholder engagement
Respecting our customers Customer experience Customer health and safety .
Equality Marketing and labelling Finnair’sown operationsand
Responsible Lse of customer data Customer privacy ¢
Human rights assessment
Stakeholders Finnair's own operations, society and
Public policy local communities
' Ecominic
Economicimpact Economic responsibility Economic performance Finnair's own operations, society and

Indirect economicimpacts

local communities
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102-48 f informat

in 2021 there restatements have been made to the 2020 figures concerning the facilities' energy consumption and emissions. More detailed information on these minor changes are
provided under the sections on the indicator in question.

102-49 Changes in reporting

There has been no significant changes in the material topics in year 2021.

102-50 Reporting period

1January — 31 December 2021

~102-51Date of most recent report

February 2021

102-52 Reporting cycle

Annually

102-53 Contact point for garding the report

Finnair strategy, Finnair Pic, Tietotie 9,01053,
e-mail: Finnalrcomms(at)finnaircom

- 102-54 Claims of reportingi wil

This sustainability ix has been d 1ce with the GRI : Core option

102-55 GRI content index

The easy-to-navigate index of this GRl appendix content isimplemented with a fable of contents in the left margin.

102-56 External assurance

Sustainability Appendix, pages 154-155
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[103: Management approach 1
+ 103-1 Explanation of the material toplc andifs Boundurv t
103-2Thy dits

11033 ion of th

ane |

Company management sytem at Company Infernet pages: https://i finnaircom/en/goverr npany:
Annual report, pages 6-9; Business model and operational envlvonmem

Annualreport, pages 32--35; Strategy

Annual report, pages 21-27; Non-Financial Performance

GeneralManagement Principles

Company Intemet pages: i -

Sustainability Management

Finnalr's purpose is fo create value for alt its stakeholders by bridging the world In a sustainable and safe manner. Finnair's standpoint in sustainability is reflected in its purpose,
strategy, mission and values. Sustainability is Integral to all Finnair operations. Finnair sustainability strategy’s target is to reduce the environmentalimpact and increase the financial
and social retumn for. somefy The material topics of susfmnablllw fall undev the following themes: Ethical business, Social, Economic and Environment. Sustainability of Finnair

col yone and we strive fo the sustainability equallyinallour d product design.

ETHICAL BUSINESS .

Human Rights and Code of Conduct

Finnairis committed to comply with international and national legislation in its operations, os well as the ethical business principtes laid out in the Code of Conduct and the
Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) set by The United Nations General Assembly The Code of Conduct applies to all Finnair personnel and alllocations. Further, Finnair's
Supplier Code of Conduct provide clear principles to ensure e.g. \asing and zero-folerance for corruption. The company requires that its suppliers comply with ethical
standards that are essentially similar to those that Finnair complies with in its own operations. Finnair is working to further integrate sustainability and ethical business conduct into all
business processes. Finnair's Code of Conduct includes an anti-corruption section according to which the receiving and giving of bribes is strictly prohibited. Preventing corruptionis
everyone's responsibility at Finnalr, including the heads of business operations, compliance function and the internal audit.

Finnair respects the UN Unit 1D ionon Hi Rights and the core conventions of the Infernational Labour Organization (ILO). The company has signed the United Nation's
Global Compactinitiative and as required by the Global Compact principles, the company aims to prevent any violations of human rights and the use of forced or child labour both
withinits own operations andits supply chain.

Pubtic affairs and lobbying

Aviationis a strictly requlated industry. Therefore, it isimportant for Finnair to participate in discussions and decision-making regarding its operating conditions. Itis part of the
company’s growth strategy to aim towards securing adequate traffic rights. Finnair pursues its interests in an ethically sustainable manner by appropriately introducing its views,
perspectives and expertise. The company does not pressurise or support political decision-makers In any way in pursuing its inferests. The legality and ethicality of lobbying activities

' Iscontrolled as part of the company’s general supervision and audit processes. The aim of Finnalr’s lobb: tivitiesIs to maintain Ips concerning relevant policy and
to parficipate inrelevant iations and th ations of adh organisations. When lobbying on varlous civil aviation and industry regulation issues, Finnair typically
with various organi and chambers of commerce. Finnair is an active member of various aviation industry organisations, such as A4E and IATA, but also in the

Confederanon of Finnish Industries (EK), and its sub-associations and in several chambers of commerce.
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Finnair aims at open, h ty 5. Inline with these principles, Finnalr's communications are also in compliance with regulations governing listed companies
and limited liabllity companies, as well asihe obliguﬂons of the Finnish Act on Cooperation within Undertakings and the communications guidelines of the State Ownership Steering

Index Department,

Finnair takes different perspectives into consideration and respects all stakeholders’ views of its operations. Finnair’s internal communications are based on reciprocity. Every
employee has the duty to communicate matters related to their area of responsibility to the relevant target groups. Those in supervisory roles have a further dufy to communicate
goals, operations and results to their own work community and create a work environment that enables genuine constructive discussion. The company developsits
communication channels to enable more efficient communications and fo facilitate constructive discussion.

Ethics Helpline
Finnair has o Whistleblowing line called Finnair Ethics Helpline in use, through which concemns for ethical business conduct can be raised. This is open for bothinternal and external
stakeholders. During 2021 no material incidents of material misconduct were notified through the Ethics Helpline nor were there any investigations on-going in the company.

ECONOMIC RESPONSIBILITY

Finnair has substantial direct and indirect financial implications on Finland's national and Iocul economies. Aviation is a significant industry for Finnish society and the national

economy. The accessibility created by airline traffic is a necessity for Fir s global andits. impactiscor ; aviationis estimated to account for
Reporting Princlples 35-4 per cent of GDP, employment and mx revenue.

Finnair’s. iveistocreate dded value by producing flight services profitably, cost-competitively and in harmony with the needs of the environment

Global Compact; Communication and soclety. St \able i the of business activity, and Finnalr considers the effects of its operations on society.
onProgress-report Finnair's Board of Directors set the company‘s fil ncncrul mrgets which are provided with investors. As a public limited company, Finnair is committed to earning a profit forits

shareholders. The company’s profit il in Finnair's dividend policy. Finnair’s financial reporting aims to transparently provide information about

® GRiContert Index Finnair's financial position and development.

GRI102 General disclosure Infinancial reporting, Finnair applies the rules relating to listed companies as well as infernational financial reporting standards. Most of Finnair's operational activities are based on

® GRI103 Management approach the official regulations and are subject to official supervision. Within the group, the legality and acceptability of operations is monitored as part of Finnair's general control and audit
GRI 200 Economic . processes.
GRI300 Environmental
GRI400 Social ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY
Finnair's. goul is fo be an engaging leader in the field of environmental responsibility. Finnair’s environmental responsibility management is based on the principle of continuous and
- t. The P hasi i the key environmental aspects of its operations, theirimpacts, risks and opportunities involved, and set targets related to them.
Independent praciioners assurance Finnair shall enforce circular principals and pollution ion hierarchy inits functions; prevent, reduce, reuse, control. Finnair Group is committed to the airline.

industry’s common goal of carbon neutral growth from 2020 onwards, to haive the carbon net emissions by 2025 compared to the 2019 level, and fly carbon neutral by the end 2045.
Finnair strives being a pioneer in evaluating, reducing and reporting environmental impacts. Company is also committed complying with current environmental legislation, but its
environmental work aims ot exceeding statutory requirements.

The biggest environmental impact of an airline s its aircraft engine air emissions. Another easily observed impact is aircraft nolse ot the areas surrounding airports. Other material
environmentalimpacts arise from common company ions, including dif t 1s and corp buildings’ energy consumption. Finnair considers environmental
aspects and impactsin allits flight and grouid In addition to solutic ind energy use that reduce the environmental impact, Finnair's environmental strategy includes
also the implementation of circular economy principals and the preservation and promotion of natural diversity, known as biodiversity thinking.

Finnalr — Annual Report 2021 34
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{1103: Management approach 1
G R I Co nie nt Finnair participates actively in civil avmﬂon environmental committees as well as inindustry workgroups in Flnlond and the Nordic countries, promoting the reduction of the aviation
sector’s envil talload. Pt with different stakeholders, contin 1t of op: to the latest available information and being active in

1ting new technols arethe qt for environmental responsibility.

Index

Finnair report on environmental Impacts regulay as part of the annual reporting and as a part of the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP). Company also communicate directly with
various parties about its operations and gladly answers any questions arising fromits stakeholders.

Allthe above-mentioned environmental objectives, 1avge's impacts and promotion are managed and conlinuously developed through Finnair's Environmental Management
System (EMS). The system h IATA Envil t Program {IEnvA) Stage 2 and ISO 14001. IEnvA is an environmental management system developed by IATA
specifically for airlines, which helps the company to make use of the best practices in the industry.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Finnair's operations is by nature very diverse and in many ways highly technical. Company organisation and partners are present in dozens of countries around the globe and
are subject to a wide range of laws and regulations. The core areas of the company’s social responsibility include safety, care for our employees and customers, and supply chain

management.
Safety
Reporting Principles Safetyis atthe core of all Finnair's operations. Flight safety and giving priority to it are part of all decision-making at every stage. Finnair has implemented a Safety Management
System (SMS) through which it continuously develops the safety performance of the operations. It covers all aspects of flight safety: palicy, risk management, training and
Global Compact Communication communications for the entire personnel and subcontractor chain, continuous compliance evaluation of operations and the assessment of the potentialimpact of new factorsin the
onProgress ﬁpon operating environment. Official regulations and standards set the minimum standards for Finnair’s safety management, which the company aims to exceed in all areas.
« GRIContent Index One of the central elements in Finnair's safely system is the safety reporting concerning the entire staff. The its el and fo actively report
ary events they come across that could potentially compromise safety. Eachreport is analysed, classified and assessed forrisk, followed by necessary corrective or preventive
GRI102 Generol disclosure actions. The person submitting the report will be nofified of the outcome of the investigation. Alongside subjective observations, Finnair extensively monitors and analyses objective
indicators, such as flighl data. Ongoing monitoring and analysis enable a ransparent risk level in all areas, whichin fum enables prompt aclion on any indication of altered safety
* GRI103 Management approach level.
GRI200 Economic
GRI300 Environmental Events that seriously j i fety ar rare and almost without exception animpartial safety investigation is launched on each such event. Serious incident
GRI400 Social Investigations are coordlnoted by publlc officials (Safety Invesngcnon Authority) or, if the authorities elect not to investigate the event, Finnailr will conduct its owninternal safety
ir 1. The sofetyi lways youtthei ion independently and the company’s management has no opportunity to influence the investigation outcome.
Independent practitioner’s assurance A y culture, objecti itoring of the company* perations, continuous d pment and impl ing improving measures as well as open dialogue with the
report authorities guarantee safe and high-quality airline operations.

Personnel Experience
A core part of Finnalr's social responsibility iInvolves taking care of its

and theirworking Finnair personnel management policies cover all aspects of social
y thathave beeni ified as material. The impacts affecting the personnel and the working conditions are managed as based on the respective national regulations,
Finnair values, guidelines and policies.

Finnair does not discriminate based on gender, age, emn!c ornotional origin, ncﬂonohty language, religion, conviction, opinion, heatth, disability, sexual orientation or other personal
otiributes or circumstances. Finnair does not condone h: 't in the work ity. Reporting infractions is employee’s basic right and the company is defermined to take
steps to intervene In all cases brought to its knowledge. Every employee is responsible for acting in a way no one is accorded unequal status.

Finnair - Annual Report 2021 135
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[103: Management approach ]
Finnair offers equal opportunities to everyone with regard to recruitment, work per careerpl ionand 1! . Finnairimplements the equal pay principle based
on the Finnish Equality Act and gives both men and women equal opportunities for balancing work and famiily life. In 2011, Finnair signed the United Nations Women's Empowerment
Principles, which give guidance on the empowerment of women in the workplace, marketplace and community. Year 2019 Finnair signed on an aviation initiative 25by2025, pledging
that by 2025 we will have either 25% orwomen in all work groups or a 25% improvement in the gender equality.

Finnair complies with procedures jointly agreed by the employer and employees for the prevention of harassment, inappropriate conduct, and conflicts. Finnair has also promoted
the prevention culture and p of easily ac i vices. The procedures are based on the Finnish Act on Occupational Safety and Health and complies with the model
recommended by the Finnish Ministry of Social Affairs and Health.

Leadership and competencies are developed on anindividual, team, unit and organisation level. Leamlng cnd developmem solutions are fvplcclly either adopted by the entire
personnel or failored for specific development needs within a unit. They may also be cimed at loping pr I skills, based on official requ orinsupport of personal
development. Development needs in teams and the organisation are identifled and the wellbeing and commitment of the personnel are regulurly monitored through a personne!
survey.

Finnair has employee wellbeing high on the agenda. Company’s People & Culture p covers all the aspects of Leadership and Management, People
development, Strategic resource management, Compensation and Benefits and driving Workability. In workability area sick leave development and means to improve early
pensions due to workability reasons have been top on the agenda and Occupational health and safety has kept on building even more safe working environments at afl Finnair
locations.

At Finnair, the Finnair Health Services unitis responsibie for the |mplemen1o1|on of occupanonol health care services. analr Health Services focus on preventive care. The model
of early caring and the occupational ability risk manag it wles of ive health lines. The operational and service quality of Finnair
Health Services is based on the European Foundation for Quality Management's EFQM Excellence Model. The quality system is used to ensure that Finnair Health Services meets the
requirements for good occupational health care practice in both aviation health care and aviation medicine services.

Freedom of association and the collective righttor on al issues are recogr as fundamental rights InFinland. There is a long tradition of frade union activity
inthe company. Labour market culture in the company has been constructed in such a way that the organisation of workers and collective negotiations between the company
and employee groups are part of normal practice. All Finnair employees have the right and opportunity to agree on terms of employment collectively. The terms of employment of

management employees are agreed on locally. Personnel and management remuneration pi plesare il Remt d
Customer Experience
Finnairis committed in transporiing customers, their and cargofo inted destinati ty, smoothly and punctually. The most material product responsibility aspects

inthe Finnair Group operations are flight safety, health safety, one-time-performance, food safety, responsibility for individual customers, and responsibility for the cargo carried. The
oviationindustry consists of regulated value chains comprised of multiple suppliers of products and services. As an airline and service company at the top of this value chain, Finnair
creates added value for the customers by providing them with a variety of product and service choices together withits partners.

Customers must be able to trust in the fact that they will be cared for throughout the entire service chain. Finnair has the responsibility for the customers’ overall quality experience,
although some services are produced by its partners rather than the company itself. Therefore, Finnair pays increased attention to the selection of its partners and they are required
to comply with Finnair's quality assurance policies and ethical guidelines. Monitoring and supervision of customer service is based on regular auditing, customer feedback and
customer satisfaction surveys, as well as extemal measurements. Finnair's partners’ operations are also continually evaluated. Monitoring is systematic and is based on set targets
and evaluating performance. Finnair continuously develop these and assess ilities to use new tect ies o improve the experience and operational
efficiency. At Finnalr, situations that deviate from the norm are prepared for in advance. The group has developed processes for various unexpected situations, and they are
continually updated and maintained. Flight traffic irregularities are handled with care, and efforts are made to minimise inconvenience to the customer. Finnair has recently invested
in new tools to both serve the customers better and perform the operations in a more optimized way.

36



The Reportof the
Review of the year 2021 Board afbirectors

GRI Content
Index

Reporting Princlples

Global Compact; Communication
onProgress report

® GRiContent Index

GRI102 General disclosure
* GRI103 Management approach
GRI200 Economic
GRI300 Environmental
GR1400 Social

Independent practitioner’s assurance
report

Finnair - Annuai Report 2021

Corporate

[103: Management approach
Finnair respects the privacy of its customers and is committed to ensuring that personal details and other i ion are appropriately. Finnair has
implemented the requirements of the EUs General Data Protection Regutation (GDPR) in all its business processes. Company do all its best to guarantee the confidentiality, security
and accuracy of customer data under all circumstances. Company processes personal details at all stages of travel in compliance with the legislation on personal data and
regulationsissued by the authorities in the countries inwhich we operate.

FinnairKitchen is responsible for food- and product-safety for all Finnair inflight services. Quality and safety of the catering operations are covered by Finnair Kitchen Quality
Management System. Official regulations and industry standards set the minimum requirements, which the company aims to exceed in all areas.

Finnair's Ground Operations unit s responsible for the acquisition, quality criteria and quality control of ground handling services required at airparts. The unit's task is to ensure that
the ground services used by Finnair fulfil the requirements set for them, bath in terms of quality and with respect of safety and official regulations.

To deliver on thelr service promises, Finnair Cargo, Kitchen and Ground O s unit apply a luation process to select subcontractors and partners. Partners are
required, for example, to ensure and maintain the competency of their personnel, and to ensure that vehicles, equipment and premises are appropriate. In addition to quality audits,
Finnair regularly performs quality inspections to continuously monitor both its own and subcontractors’ work. Finnair Cargo and Ground Operations are responsible for maintaining
and updating their own quality systems and ensuring that operations comply with the requirements.

Supply Chain

The sustainability of the supply chain is very important for the airline as Finnair uses partners and service iders to aninc ing deg itexpandsitsi ional route
network. As provided in Finnair's Code of Conduct, its procurement ions are based on the fair of fiers. Finnair has lfs own ethical guidelines for suppliers, the
Finnair's Suppiier Code of Conduct, and expects all suppliers and pariners to comply with the Supplier Code or i thi Allpartners and subcontractors,

moreover, are obliged to comply with the principles of the UN Universal Declaration of Human Rights as well as local Ieglslahon Flnnulrs Responsible Sourcing Manual complements
the Supplier Code of Conduct as internal instructions forimplementation.

The persons making sourcing decisions must always stay independent in relation with business partners concerned. Finnair employee must declare themselves disqualified due to
blas whenever they are required to make a decision pertaining to a contract or business relafi ip involving family i ips, ownership in the company concerned (with the
excepfion of areasonable share of ownership in a listed company), or any other business or debt relafionship extemal to Finnair. Finnair does not accept corruptionin any form and
requires that its personnel and partners comply with the principles of the UN's Universal Declaration of Human Rights. Finnair has a process end guidelines for continuously improving
the sustainability of supply chain and for handling ible non- iances. C aspires to continuously develop practices ensuring negative sustainability impacts can be
mitigated and responsible sourcing is favoured.

Finnair's Executive Board group is responsible for the steering of the group’s procurement activity, The management of the Procurement unit has the duty to ensure that the personnel
carrying out purchasing has access to valid purchasing guidelines and that the guidelines are observed. Audits are performed in certain product and service groups and especially
among strategic and key suppliers. Auditing focuses on quality and safety factors.

Finnair is aware of the risks related to environment and human rights in geographical and industry-specific areas and aims at continuousimprovement of preventive actions. The
dialogue with the suppliers is continuous via themed supplier events.
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} 201: Economic Performance

2011 Direct alue g dand d
EURmill. 2021 2020 2019 2018
Direct economic value generated
Revenue 8384 8292 30977 28361
Other operatingincome 392 484 56.4 737
Sales gains and losses on aircraft and other transactions 56 08 02 427
Financialincome 128 387 33 22
Total 896.0 9172 31576 2950.3
Materials, services and other operating expenses 7877 8318 21283 18993
Stoff costs 2230 1586 5309 4947
Payments made to andloan id 160.8 2472 1201 1810
Dividend 00 00 350 384
Hybrid bond interests and expenses 205 185 158 158
Financial expenses 140.3 2286 694 1268
Payments to governments. 71 87 180 192
Donations and other charitable payments 00 0.0 00 0.0
Total 1178.6 1,246.3 27913 2,594.2
I tained for op i di -2826 -3291 360.3 356.2
Investments in tangible and intangibl ts and isitions of idiari 4345 5159 4438 4740
C i il -4689 -5953 1628 2184
Return on capital employed (ROCE), % 139 -15.2 6.3 93

Figures on economic responsibility are mainly derived from the financial statements and collected from company’s reporting system.

201-2Fi iali d d opp ities due fo climate change

Annualreport, pages 32-35, Risk management
Company Internet -pages: https://investors finnaircom/en/govemance/risk-management

Finnairhasii teda ic Er ise Risk Mal (ERM) and process, which is based on the COSO ERM framework. The process considers all potential
risks, including climate change-related risks and evaluates their ial financial impacts. The summary of the process and the list of most significant risks are presentedin the
Company internet -pages. Finnair has identified and assessed various short- (1-2 years) and mid-term (3-5 years) climate-related risks and opportunities against [EA WEO 450

and IPCCRCP4.5 scenarios. in brief, Finnair prepare for jet fuel price increase, advocate on global or regional sustainability charges instead of national ones and upkeeps active
dialogues between different stakeholders fo secure the reputation and basic need of the aviation industry.
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1201 Economlc Performcnce

201-4Fi fromg

The Finnish Government does not support Finnair's operations financiafly.

Public subsidies consist of subsidies received for training and they are primarily related to the aviation training services provided by Finnair. The Finnair Aviation College, founded
in1964, is a speciatvocational educational establishment maintained by Finnair Plc, which operates as a special educational establishment under the Act on Vocational Adult
Education (631/1998). The reported public subsidies do rot include subsidies paid to the airline business by the authorities in various countries, as they are considered business
secrets.

2021 2020 2019

Public subsidies received 3 44* 13

* 2.5 million euros relate to COVID-19 subsidies.
** 33 million euros relate fo COVID-19 subsidies.

Figures are derived from the financial nents.

[203: Indirect economic impacts

203-2 Significant indirect economic impacts

anclrs sustamoble gmwth «and current route network utilising Helsinki Hub's geographical position enable Finland to have better connections to other parts of the world than

e could . This has a signi impact on the fravel opportunities of Finns and on the Finnish business sector competiveness. In addition, the aviation
sectoris a majorjob creatorin Finnish society.
Blue Wings: Why travelis essential for Finland (https://www.finnaircom/it-en/bluewings/travel-experience/why-travel-is-essential-for-finland-2167526)

[205: Anfi-corruption ~

il

205-1 Operatit dfor risks related fo pti

During 2021, no incidents of corruption were notified through Finnair Ethics Helpline, available to both internal and external stakeholders, nor were there any material investigations
on-going in the company.

205-2Ce ication and trainil bout anti-corruption poticies and procedures

Finnair's Code of Conduct includes an anti-corruption section, and the receiving and giving of bribes is strictly prohibited. During 2021, Finnair confinued to train its employees on
Finnair's Code of Conduct, and all new employees receive the mandatory e-learning module on the Code of Conduct,

205-3 Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken

NoIncidents of corruption were reported in 2021.

[206: Anti-competitive behaviour

206-1Legal actions for anti titive beh r, anti-trust, and monopoly practices

Noincidentsidentified.
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Finnair's principle is to pay, collect, remit and report the indirect and direct taxes it is subject fo in each country ding o and lati The aim of Finnair's tax
I d principles is to support business decisions and to ensure their appropriate implementation, also from the perspective of foxation.
n ex ; 207-2 Tax governance, control, and risk management

High-quality tax retums and reports are essential to Finnair and, as a result, the company prepares tax returmns carefully and submits them on time. Finnair also discusses openly with
tax authorities. Finnair group does not have any structures in place to transfer taxable income from Finland to jurisdictions with lower tax rates. Finnair's tax related risk management
is based on a responsibility assignment martrix (RACI matrix) and in addition to Finnair group's tax function, the risk management processes are monitored by the internal audit
function. Potential tax risks are reported also for the Executive Board of Finnair as well as for the Audit Committee.

| 2073 and of 1 totax [}
Noincidents

1 207-4 Country-by-country reporfing 1
Finnair'sinternational business operations are mainly related fo the sales of flight tickets and cargo services through Finnair Pic's foreign sales units, as well as local sales promotion
activities. Sales units are not separate legal entities. The operations of Finnair's foreign subsidiaries have primarily been related to back office services, and they are very minorin
scale relative to the group’s business operations as a whole. Finnair has also had minor holdings (less than 20 per cent) in some Insurance captives located in Guernsey for business
reasons, the results of which are subject fo taxation in Finland.

Reporting Principles
Finnair's taxable operationsin mdtvnduuloounfnes outside of Finland are minorin scale, which can be seen from the tables presented in the tcbles below
fr':’;’rg'g c;:g:;régownumcmlon Finnair 's only forei bsidiary is located in Estonia, where income tax is due in connection with distribution of dividend: for

external revenue, result before taxes, income tax payable and number of personnel is presented in the adjacent chart.

Profits of sales units are taxed in accordance with regulations and double tax treaties pertaining fo the international airline business and, hence, revenue, result before taxes,
income tax payable and number of personnel in other countries are not separately adopted in financial statements. Specification of taxes paid and collected in other countriesis
presentedin the table below.

* GRIContentIndex

GRI102 General disclosure

GRI103 Management approach Other toxes primarily includi iironr land icity taxes. Due to the nature of the intemational airline business, jet fuel is tax-free.

» GRI 200 Economic Finnair has confirmed losses in taxation from previous tax periods amounting to approximately 706 million euros. The estimated amount of confirmed tox losses from 2021is 376
GRI300 Environmental million euros and thus, the total esi tax losses are appi 1,082 million euros. The col can be utilised ag positive taxable income over the next ten
GRI400 Social years. )

More information on direct taxes, such as the taxes pursuant to the consolidated income statement, deferred tax assets and liabilities and the adjustment of the effective tax rate is
presented in Note 5. in Finnair's consolidated financial statements.

The most significant indirect taxes collected during the financial yeorare withholding tox liabilities and value added tax.

The passenger fariffs coll d fromflight are not cor tax-like remitted to the authoriti
poyments are usually remitted to the private or public party responsible for airport operations.

Country specific information for 2021 is presented in the chart below only regarding countries where the amount of taxes paid, collected or deducted was at least 0.05 million
euros. Countries where this threshold was not met are presented as two separate geographical areas. The figures below include taxes paid and coliected by subsidiaries and sales
units.

Independent practitioner’s assurance
report

ibject to reporting as part of the tax footprint as these

Employer contributions paid relate to mandatory paymer ing located outside of Finland. Withholding taxes on salary are collected based onlocal
legislation. Value added tax on sales and purchases relate mainly to passenger sales and cargo services.
Total amount of excise taxes outside Finland in 2021 has been less than 01 million euros and, hence, this information is not presented on a country-by-country basis.

Finnair — Annual Report 2021 140
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2021 2020
G R I Co nte nt Finnair's operationsinFinland andin other Finland® Estonia** Other Total Finland® Estonio Other Total

countries countries countries

Revenue, EUR million 838.5 -01 - 8384 8290 02 00 8292
I n d ex Result before taxes, EUR million -5821 02 - -5819 -654.6 03 00 -6544

Number of personnel 5152 72 290 5614 5982 217 374 6,573

* Infernal revenue has been eliminated.
** Negative revenue is due to a subsidiary being liquidated in Estonia which caused expenses that have been recorded as an adjustment fo revenue.

2021 2020
Direct taxes payable, EUR million Finland Other Total Finland Other Total
countries countries
Employer contribufions 38 15 53 47 23 70
Property taxes 08 0.0 08 07 00 07
Othertaxes 10 00 10 09 00 10
Public subsidies received* -16 -15 31 -9 25 -44
Reporting Pinciples includedin direct operating ond subsidiesin fotal 39 o1 20 45 02 43
Global Compact; Communication Income taxes payable 00 00 00 00 00 00
on Progress report Total direct taxes payable 39 01 40 45 -0.2 43
* 2.5 million euros of public subsidies received 2021 werz COVID-19 related.
# GRi Contentindex
2021 2020
(G;:: :gi ::';::::’:’::m ch Indirect taxes collected for the financial year, EUR million Finland Cm?er Total Finland OVr}ev Total
countries countries
¢ GRI200Economic Value added laxes, sales 459 12 an 631 01 632
2’;:223 i:‘:h"’l""‘e““' Value added toxes, purchases 621 21 642 848 26 873
Value added taxes, net -16.2 -09 71 =217 -25 -24.2
Independent practitioner's assurance Withholding taxes onwoges and salaries and 516 13 530 648 20 66.8
otherindirect faxes
Exclse taxes 00 00 00 01 00 01
Total 354 04 359 432 -0.5 428

Finnair — Annual Report 2021 w
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2021 Employer Value added Value added Vals taxes, taxeson Total
Country ion, EUR million ibuti taxes,sales  taxes, purchases net wages and salaries

Countries

Estonia 08 02 0.2 -01 00 07
China 02 00 00 00 02 04
Japan 02 04 06 -02 03 02
USA 00 00 00 00 01 02
Spain 00 00 00 00 01 o1
Germany 00 00 00 00 01 o]
Belgium 00 00 00 00 01 01
UK 00 00 00 00 01 01
SouthKorea 01 01 01 00 00 01
Sweden 01 04 01 -01 (Al 01
Italy 00 00 00 00 01 00
Poland 00 0.0 o1 00 00 00
Norway 00 0.0 01 -01 00 -01
Thailand 00 03 07 -04 00 -03
Areas

Other European countries® 01 01 01 00 01 02
Rest of the world** 00 o1 01 00 01 00
Total 15 12 21 -09 13 20

* Austria, Czech Republic, Denmark, France, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Latvig, Lithuania, Portugal, Slovenia, Switzerland.
** Australio, Canado, India, Singapore, Russia.

Figures on economic responsibility are mainly derived from the financial statements. Otherinformation

operators.

fo economic

ility is derived from the group’s various




‘The Raport of the ( ) Corporate " ‘
Reviow of the year 2021 Bourd of Directors Financlal Statements Governamen Statement Remuneration Report Sustainabililty Appendix

GRI Content ey G

For the detailed descriptions see: 302-1, 305-1, 305-2, and 305-3

2021 2020
I n d ex Direct Energy use and GHG Emissions {Scope 1) Consumed Mass, tons Energy use, G) CO:z Emissions, Consumed Energy use, GJ CO, Emissions,
tons Mass, tons tons
Fossil Jet Fuel 364,096 15987466 1147903 365492 15,643,051 151,299
Ground vehicle Fuel 229 9357 732 69 2836 218
Solar Power (Renewable) - 1079 0 - 1,003 0
Renewable Jet Fuel® 382 16,813 0o 0 0 0
Renewable Ground Fuel" 37 1570 [ 26 m9 0
Total 364,744 16,016,285 147,635 365,587 15,648,009 1151517
indirect energy use and GHG Emissi (Scope 2)
Electricity? - 76068 - - 76,533 -
Reporting Principles Market-based emissions® - - 4902 - - 4932
Location-based emissions™ - - 2768 - - 2998
grl‘ogglg (r::ssm:::g gommunlcaﬂon Heal? - 87,255 A - 66,929 N
Market-based emissions® - - 3236 - - 2482
» GRIContent Index Location-based emissions® - - 3587 - - 2,863
Total 0 163323 8138 0 143463 744
GRI102 General disclosure
GRI103 Management approach OtherIndirect GH (Scope 3)
GRI200 Economic Fossil fuel transportation & production - - 254264 - - 255197
 GRiz00 Env_lnnmnlul Renewable fuel transportation & production - - 334 - - 9
GRI400 Social Business Travel - - 52 - - 109
Independent practitioner’s assurance Total 0 0 254650 o o 255315
report Grand Total 364,744 16,179,608 1410424 365,587 15,791472 1414,246

" Biogenic CO, emissions are reported in the separate table below.

2From district heat 30% and electricity 8% come from renewable sources (in addition 52% Is nuclear). The figures have been received from the energy providers.

AThe 2021 emissions have been calculated with 2020 emission factor. Respectively, the 2020 figures have been amended with correct factor used. See the figures used from the
chapter 305-2.
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2021 2020

Biogenic CO, LCA-emissions Consumed Mass, tons. LCAEmissions, CO Emission Consumed LCAEmissions, CO;Emission

tons* Reductions, tons** Mass, tons tons tons

Index Sustainable Aviation Fuel, Finnair purchases 72 33 247 0 0 0
Sustainable Aviation Fuel, Customer purchases 310 305 909 0 0 0

Renewable Ground Fuel, Finnair purchases 37 12 130 26 9 92

GROSS Total 419 350 1,286 26 9 92

* The fuel life cycle analysis (LCA) emissions have been calculated on the batch-based LCA-figures received from the fuel producers.
** CO, emission reductions have been calculated against the fossil fuel LCA comparator.

302-1Energy cor within the i

Annual report, pages 21-27, Non-Financial Performance.

For the figures see: GRI Appendix 302, Energy

Finnair's primary energy consumption consists of the use of transport fuels. Aviation is very energy-intensive, and Finnair's largest environmental load arises from flying and
particularly from the use of fossil jet fuel. Finnair’s fotal jet fuel consumption comprises flights operated by Finnair itself, flights operated by Norra on Finnair's behalf as well as
so-called wet-lease flights leased on a short-term basis from other operators due fo lack of fleet or crew. In addition, jet fuel is consumed on fransfer and training flights, as wellason
test runs.

Reporting Principles

Global Compact; Communication

onProgress -report Fuel consumptfion and emission figures for flight operations are derived from the company’s own monitoring systems and based on actual fuel consumptions (Annex 1 EUETS
Directive 2003/87/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council,'Method A’ EU ETS Monitoring and Reporting Regulation (EU) N:o 601/2012).
o GRIContent Index The used ‘Method A formula: Fuel consumption for each flight = Amount of fuel contained in aircraft tanks once fuel uplift for the flight is complete — Amount of fuel contained in
aircraft tanks once fuel uplift for subsequent flight is complete + Fuel uplift for that subsequent flight. This method is used in order to capture the fuel consumption by the aircraft's
GRI102 Generdl disclosure auxiliary power unit (APU) on the ground also. Where the Method A cannot be used, estimated average fuel bum per block hour per aircraft type is used. For wet-leased flights fuel

burn has been requested from wet-lessor. If not received, respective fuel burn has been calculated by aircraft manufacturer specifications or lessor's information on aircraft fype fuel

GRI103 Management approach burn per block hour. Data gaps and erroneous data have been handled using substitution data as close to actual values as possible.

GRI 200 Economic

© GRI300 Environmental Ground vehicles' fuel consumption figures have been derived from the y's own fuel tation. The densiti ported by different fuel vendor(s) have been used for
GRI400 Social different fuel qualities. Where technical data sheets for fuels used in ground vehicles (biodiesel, petrol, fuel oil, diesel) have not been available from the manufacturer, UK Government
Conversion Factors for greenhouse gas (GHG) reporting 2021 have been used.
Independent praciitioner’s assurance Solar power production figures have been received fromthe facility’s inverters.
report
Organisations’ indirect energy consumption includes those corporate facilities wt pany place. The proper d and leased by Finnair are mainly

located in the Helsinki Airport area. The data include electricity and heating consumption. The figures have been obtained from service providers and is based on paid invoices.
Energy consumption figures are not available for Finnair’s offices abroad (which are mainly sales offices), as their energy consumptionis typically invoiced as a fixed part of rent.

Finnair — Annual Report 2021 “a
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| 302-3Energy intensity 3
G R I Co nte nt Annual report, pages 21-27; Non-Financial Performance.

Inthis report jet fuelis treated interms of its purpo: o it tal effects it is sensible to understand jet fuel as stored energy. Finnair’s measures to improve
l n d ex its fuel efficiency focus onflights operoted by the company itself. Finnair monitors Qhe fuel efficiency of its flights primarily by the payload indicator (RTK), which accounts for the

passenger load factor, the mass of cargo transported and the distance bet vthe originand .

Jet Fuel consumption 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

g/RTK(total, pax +cargo) 2955 3014 2493 2513 2477

g/RPK (allocated) a7 293 250 252 250

liters / Pax / 100km {allocated) 52 37 31 32 31

RTK =Revenue Tonne Kilometer,
RPK=Revenue Passenger Kilometer

PAX =Passenger
The allocated mrenslty figures have been calculated by dividing the burned fuel beiween ourgo and passenger masses. The total revenue mass of the fransport activity has been
ing the ICAQ emi 1 prinziple; A isassumed as 100 Kg, plus a 50 Kg add-on to account of the on-board

Reporting Principles equipment and infrastructure associated with passengzruse (fovexompie the welgh' of seats, tollets, galleys and crew). Allocation of fuel consumption between passenger and

cargo aclivities derives from this reluhon
Global Compact, Communication ] 302-4 ion of energy |
onProgress report Annual Report, pages 21-27, Non-Financlal Performance

® GRIConfentindex Finnair di itsp inemissions and duction work in detail through CDP reporting. Those who would have interest and have CDP membership can found detailed
at https://wi net/en,
GRI102 General disclosure T302% —— ayrequi o Seovices i

GRI103 Management approach
GRI200 Economic
© GRI 300 Environmental

AnnualReport, page 25; Fuel Efficiency Graph

i Finnairis a network airline that specialises in passengerand cargo fraffic between Asia and Europe. It also offers package tours underits Aurinkomatkat and Finnair Holidays brands.
GRI400 Social The energy consumption of Finnair's services is easiest fo observe with the jet fuel consumption infensity figures presentedin the fable 302-3,

Independent practitioner’s assurance
report

Finnalr — Annual Report 2021 5
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| 304: Biodiversity ] — 1
{ 304- icanti f activifies, products, and servi Biodersity 1
Finnair takes envil clsinto i ion on the ground and in the air. Besides energy solutions that reduce the environmental load, Finnair's environmental policy also
includes the preservation and promotion of natural diversity, known as biodiversity thinking. Finnair b the tem services, or benefits provided to people by nature,

that are most relevant to its business, and its operations most significant impacts on them. Of the different iesof the temn services, cultural ices and regulating

services are the most relevant to Finnair's business. Cultural services include tourism, human value and aesthetic value. Regulating services include the regulation of air quality and
climate, disease control, pest control and pollination.

Finnair's core business and key product areas benefit ecosystem services in various ways. Cultural services are particularly important for travel services. Accordingly, Finnair's
travel agency, Aurinkomatkat, has participated in various local projects to maintoin biodiversity at various destinations for several years. When planning its destination programmes,
Aurinkomatkat carefully evaluates their potential effects on the environment and biodiversity. For example, it has stopped all frips to zoos and other attractions where animals are
held capfive. The i imalso to id ions to s visits could pose a threat to biodiversity. The customers are informed at destinations on appropriate conduct
fo preserve biodiversity.

Inthe airline business, Finnair has supported both cultural and regulating services by prohibiting the transportation of hunting trophies or memorabilia originating from endangered
species or their parts in its cargo network. Also, primates and canines intended for laboratory, experimental or other exploitation use will never be accepted for transport.
Furthermore, Finnair has signed the United for Wildlife (UFW) Buckingham Palace declaration of the Duke of Cambridge to prevent the illegal wildiife trade. As a signatery, the
company has topromote th wess of different stakeholders about this topic. ’

The significance of biodiversity in Finnair's airline business will be highlighted further in the coming years through climate change mitigation measures. When s Aviation
Fuels (SAFs) replace fossil fuels in the future, the company wants o ensure that the primary production of feedstocks for renewable energy sources is used in line with the principles
of sustainable development and does not compromise ecosystem services. For example, in the manufacturing of biofuel, measures must be taken not directing fo Indirect Land Use
Change (ILUC). The objective is to ensure that arable land used for growing food crops is not used to produce raw material for biofuel, which would result in either the clearing of
forests or wetlands to create space for food production or a decline In food production. Regulating services have a significant Impact on both the airline business and travel services.
The local decline of biodiversity erodes the operating condifions of the tourism industry and increases the risk of infectious diseases.

{ 304-3 Habitats protected or restored

No activities duting 2021.
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305: Emissions - l

t

305-1 Direct {Scope 1) GHG emissions i

Annual report, page 25, graph: D 't in Finnair's emissions and emissi iency

Nearly all of Finnair Group's greenhouse gas emissions crise from flight operations. Flying primarily causes two kinds of direct greenhouse gas emissions: carbon dioxide and water

vapour. Watervapour is the most imporiant greenhouse gas in the atmosphere, but it is not generally examined directly as a human-derived greenhouse gas emission, because the

watervapourin the atmosphere is mainly the result of natural evaporation. Airtransport is in a special position in this respect because the water vapour generated by the enginesis
1! highin th P , whichi the atmosphere’s H20 content above the cloud layer. However, not enough is yet known about the impacts of water vapour and

other GHG temissions han CO; from aviation and while more sclentific results are available company report the CO, emissions only.

Emission factorforjet fuel used in the report has been 315 kg CO2/kg (Default IPCC emission factors, taken from the 2006 IPCC Inventory Guigelines).

Fuel mass has been converted to volume using densities provided by fuel vendor. If density has not been available a default value of 0.80 kg/i has been used.

Ground vehicles’ emissions {biodiesel, petrol, fuel oil) have been calculated using emission conversion factors for different fuel qualiti iginating from UKG Conversion
Factors for greenhouse gas (GHG) reporting 2021.

305-2Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions |

For the figures see: GRI Appendix 302, Energy

Market-based emission fact dhove been ived fromthe energy company. Since the energy company update it's emissions factor after Q1/2022, the 2020 emissions factors
have been used for 2021, 2020 factors being 232 kgCO./MWh for electricity and 133,5 kgCO,/MWh for heat. Respectively, 2020 figures above have been updated compared to the
previous year's reporting.

Location-based emission factors have been received trrough Motivo, factors used for year 2021 being 131 kgCO,/MWh for electricity and 148 kgCO,/Mwh for heat.

305-3 Otherindirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions H

For the figures see: GRI Appendix 302, Energy

Finnairhas assessed its Scope 3 emissions based on GRG Protocol's Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard). The most material scope 3 emissions
derives from Category 3 (Fuel and Energy related activiiies not included in Scope 1-2). Emission factor source: SFS-EN 16258 standard Table A1 for Jet A4, petrol and fuel oil. Biodiesel
emission factor (transport and production emissions) has been received from the manucaturer.

Business travel by Finnair employees primarily are made by the company’s own flights, the emissions of which are reported under Direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1).
Business iravel made by other airline services is reported under the Other indirect (Scope 3) greenhouse gas emissions. Th issi i calcul utilising Finnair fuel
consumption data from the same or similar {distance-based) Finnair route network.
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| 305-4 GHG emissions intensity
G RI Co nte nt Annual report, pages 21-27, Non-Financial performance

Finnair prefers to use RTK (revenue tonne kil to divide if: (! nissions, since it measures emissions in relation to the distance travelled and the combined mass of
Index and cargo. Emission intensity incude scope 1emissions only (TTW).

Jet Fuel consumption 2021 . 2020 2019 2018 2017

g CO,/RTK (fotal pax + cargo) 931 949 785 792 780

g CO./RPK (Allocated) 131 92 79 80 79

g CO,/RTKCargo {Allocated) 606 514 488 493 492

RTK =Revenue Tonne Kilometer,
RPK =Revenue Passenger Kilometer
PAX =Passenger

The allocated intensity figures have been calculated by dividing the burned fuel between cargo and passenger masses. The total revenue mass of the fransport activity has been

calculated following the ICAO emissions allocation principle; A masswithb d as 100 Kg, plus a 50 Kg add-on to account of the on-board

equipment and infrastructure associated with passenger use {for example, the weight of seats, toilets, galleys and crew). Allocation of fuel consumption between passenger and
Reporting Principles cargo activities derives from this relation.

} 305-4 GHG emissions intensity

Glabal Compact; Communlcation Annual Report, pages 21-27, Non-Financial Performance

on Progress report
Rl d Finnair discloses its progress in emissions and energy reduction work in detail through CDP reporting also. Those who are i and have CDP hip can found detaited
© GRiContentindex disclosures at hitps://www.cdp.net/en.
«
GRI102 General disclosure 1 305-6 Emissions of (ODS)
GRI103Management approach Airfine operators are bound touse alrcroﬁ manufocturers’ cer?lﬂed and safe fire extinguishers. The manufacturers are constantly working on replacing halons from aircrafts but
GRI200 Economic currently there are i in decent rents aren't yet found. There were two reorted operational events where halon 1301 and halon 1211 was emitted to

the air during the year 2021. The amount of halen 1301 emission was 2.3 kg (used in engines) and halon 121111 kg (portable cabin fire extinguisher).
* GRI300 Environmental

GRI 400 Social

Independent practifioner's assurance
report

Finnair - Annual Report 2021 - 8



The Report of the. ( ) Corporate ( ) . ity N ﬁ
( Review of the year 2021 ) ( Board of Directors ) Flnancial Statements Govemoncestatement Remuneration Report Sustainability Appendix

GRI Content B o i

Annual report, pages 21-27, Non-Financial Performance:

IndeX E— _ : 2020

t , kg 5, kg Hazardous, kg Non-hazardous, kg
Energy Recovery 48,559 658335 45227 1130.864
Recycling 7,805 159,331 1213 279515
Composting 0 25933 0 64,540
Landfill Y 0 0 0
Other 305 13800 216 [
Total 56,669 857,399 57,556 1474919
The waste volt have been obtained from the service providers' reporting channel.
1 307:Environmental compliance _
{ 30711Non-~c ith envil
Reporting Principles Noincidents
Global Compact; Communication
onProgress-report | 400: Social Standards
| 401:Employment o _
© GRiContentindex i 4011 New 3 his d 1! turnover
GRI102 General disclosure Annuol report, pages 21-27, Non-Financial Performance
GRI103Management opproach . under30years 30-50years over50years Total
GRI200 Economic Men Women Men Women Men Women Men Women
» GRI300 Environmental New employee hires 13 44 23 36 5 6 4 86
© GRI400 Social Employee turnover (including both voluntary and 104 264 303 460 37 301 724 1025
involuntary terminations)
Independent practiioner’s assurance The figures have been retrieved from Finnair's HR information system.
report

[ 402: Labour/management relations

| 402-1 Minimum notice periods regarding operational changes

Significant changes in Finland are g 1ed by the Finnish Act on Cooperation within undertakings. Depending on the matter In question, the minimum time period
applied can range from one day to six weeks. The colle=tive bargaining agreements that concemn Finnair do not include provisions that runcounter to these legislative provisions.

Finngir — Annual Repor! 2021 s
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[ 403: Occupational health and safety |
GRI Content [43510ccupotensineihndfey ensgemeni e ;

Finnair h ! ited an internal health and safety management system in order 1 maintain and impi ional health and safety related

I d workiin all Finnair units in Finland.
n ex | 403-2Hazard risk d i i

Work-related hazards are identified through systematic risk assessment process. Risk assessments have been carrted out for our operations and they are being regularly reviewed
andupdated, also if a significant change to its scope isimplemented.

Allour employees have access to the occupational safety reporting system through which they can report incidents, near misses experienced and hazardous conditions noticed.
Alireports are investigated, and corrective and preventive actions set fo prevent recurrence. This approach applies similarly to injuries, near misses and occupational safety

observations reported.
§ 403-3 Occupational health services }
Occupational health services regularly carry out workplace surveys in order to assess the operations’ impact onworkers ional health. Regular health checks are provided for
employees that are exposed to health hazards through !helvwork such as noise, chemicals and working during nighttime. The exp: levels are kept aslow: ible
1 403-4 Worker participation, ltation, and ational health and safety ]
The company’s occupational health and safety management systemis developed in close contact with the empls Th e have accessto the ional safety
reports and the risk assessments. There is a formal regular occupational health and safety committee in place with the employee occupational heaith and salery representatives
Reporiing Principles from all Finnair units as members.
1 403-5 Worker trainingon i health and safety f
Global Compact; Communication The basic fraining of occupational health and safety is mandatory for all employees os an e-learning module. In addition, the cccupuhonul healthand safety is part of all work-

on Progress report related trainings depending on the task.

{ 403-9 Work-related injuries |

© GRiContentIndex

Occt Loss time injury frequency®
GRI102 General disclosure Airline’s flight personnel 13 108
GRI103 Management approach Airline’s ground personnel** 13 41
GRI 200 Economic Aurinkomatkat Ltd [ 0
GRI300 Environmentat Total 26 56
* GRI400 Social * Loss time injury frequency (LTIF) refers to the number of workplace accidents per million working hours.
** Airline’s ground personnelinclude group management, support services, ground crew, and operative ground personnel.
Independent practitioner’s assurance Accident statistics are obtained from the insurance company and they are updated retroactively, as a result of which the 2021 figures may be subject o further adjustment.
report { 403-10 Work-related ilt health i
Number of work-related il health cases Number of work-relatedill health fatalities
Airline’s flight personnel 1] 0
Airline’s ground personnel* 0 0
Aurinkomatkat Ltd 0 0
Total 0 0o

* Airline’s ground personnelinclude group management, support services, ground crew, and operative ground personnel.
Accident statistics are obtained from the insurance company and they are updated retroactively, as a result of which the 2021 figures may be subject fo further adjustment.

Finnair - Annual Report 2021 150
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[ 404: Training and education

. 404-1 Average hours of training per year per employee

Annual report, pages 21-27, Non-Financial Performance

Tehare b A h

Alltraining men f training Count of employees
&women
Total,h Women, % Men, % Total,h Women, h Men,h Total,ea Women,ea Men,ea
Office staff 9091 30% 70% 6 3 9 1515 828 687
Cabin 42,853 89% 1% 18 18 19 2352 2099 253
Pilots 90,245 1% 99% 97 36 98 934 27 907
Other Employees 14,065 30% 70% 10 8 12 1,394 542 852
Total 156,254 29% % 25 16 34 6,195 3.496 2,699
The training figures have been re1neved from Finnair's HR nnformchun system.
1 404-2 yee skill ce
Impvovmg employee competence husu signifis ccln1 effect on the strategy implementation and finding critical di it itselfis anir tof
The pment requires with various parties. Thus, in Finnair, learning and development plans are built ot the
company, unit, team and mdequ Ievels These are further discussed during the annual My Joumey developmem discussions.
Personnel 1CY i d using varieties of different learning methods includi training, on-the-job learning, e-leaming, workshops, coaching,

shadowing, and mentoring. On-the-job learning, for example, is o widely utilised effective |eumlng method in ever changing working environment where continuous self4earning is
required.

Permanent learning themes include the Code of Conduct, flight safety management, occupational safety and health in aviation, work induction, occupational safety and health
awareness for supervisors, and occupational safety card training. Other vocational training includes outstation training, first ald and emergency training, basic and recurrent
trainings, systems training. Also, cooperation with various educational institutions is organised.

The vocational training for Finnair flight crew is conducted in cooperation with Finnair Flight Academy, while Finnair’s Techmcul Services-Unit handles its own technical-specific
training requirements. Our Leaming & Development team s responsible for sirategic and general busi

The Finnair Aviation Academy, founded in 1964, is a special vocational educational establishment maintained by Finnair Plc, which opevu'es as aspecial educational
establishment under the Act on Vocational Adult Education (631/1998). Its task is to arrange further vocational training leading to a vocational or special vocational qualification as
well as other further vocational training required for the practice of Finnair Pic's and its s (Further Ve Training Arrangement Permit 551/530/2006,13
December2006).Asa pnva'ely—wvned educahonol es’lubllshmen? the Aviation Academy funds its operations in accordance with government aid practices and it is a member of
Business d ELO (Elinkeinoelémir i Elory).

f 404-3 Per f ! iving regular p d career development reviews

Performance and career development reviews (called My Journey) cover all Finnair personnel. The My Joumey process is a management tool based on {bi-Jannual
discussions that guide Individual performance reviews, target setting, development and wellbeing.
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Corporate

1 405: Diversity and equal ogporiumfy |

405-1 Diversity of g d employees
age 104, The di y of the Board of Directors
Annuclrepor' pages 21—27 Non-FnancIal Performance
L406 Non-discrimination |
4061 of discriminati d i taken

Duvlng 2021, noincidents of discrmination were notified through Finnair Ethics Helpline, available to both Internal and external stakeholders, nor were there any material mvesﬂguhons
'on-going in the company conceming non-discrimination.

[ 407:Freedom of Assocmhon -and Collective Bargaining B _ i
t Di 4071 Operati iers in which the right ¢ of Iati d gt g may be at risk :

During 2021, It was assumed that Finnair's operations did not pose arisk o employees’ freedom of association or collective bargaining rights.

| 408: Child Labor _

* Di 408-1 Operati d iers at significant risk for incidents of child labor
The responsibility of our supply chain is very important in the airline’ 15, as Finnairisinc thers and service providers while its infernational route network
expands. In accordance with the UN Globa! Compact initiative, Finnair strives to prevent human ngh's vlolcnlons and the use of child labor or forced labor both in its own operations
andinits chain of operations.

The supply chain, which is directly related to aviation, operates in accordance with aviation regulations, thus these suppliers are closely monitored. interational aviation safety
regulations require that all airport employees must be registered and always carry an official identity card. This creates a basis for the fact that Finnair's own operations do not
directly involve a significant risk to children’s rights.

However, there may underlie indirect risks and with the supply chain and outsourced operations. Aviation rules require us fo inspect aircraft component
suppliers and service faciliti Ives. In these i i we have not any use of child labor.

We use some mant i iesin Asian ies where local laws may not exist to protect children’s rights, so full assurance of supply chain cleanliness cannot be
guaranteed.

During 2021, no cases of child labor were reported and there were no ongoing investigations in the company.

|414'Suggliersocialassessmem _ e '

1+ 414-1 New suppliers that d fal criteri
1 414-2 Negative socialimpactsin the supply cham and actions taken

During 2020 Finnair discontinued using Sedex in assessing suppliers’ social criteria. The company is developing new processes and gmdelmes to continuously improve supply chain’s
sustainability and handling of non-compliances. The company is constantly striving fo develop to mitigate negat ility Impacts and encor sible
sourcing.

[415: Public policy e e _ |

4151 Political contributions
Finnalir does not support any political parties or persons.ts,
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416: Customer health and safety
GRI Content 4161 of the health and sofety impacts of product and servi

Sustainability Appendix; Chapter 103 -Customer expericene
In conneclion with the coronavirus, the has cor ly d the health safety of travel In 2021, instructions related to sofe fravel are available on the company’s
n ex website at: https://www.finnaircom/en/safe-travel-during-coronavirus
Blue Wings: Covid and Flying (https://www finnaircon/it-en/bluewings/travel-experience/five-facts-about-the-risk-of-a-coronavirus-infection-during-your-flight-2248876)

 416-2Inci f non- i conceming the healthand s yimpacts of products and services

Noincidents

[La17: Marketing and labelling

* 417-3Incidents of non-compliance conceming markefirg communications

Noincidents.

| 418: Customer privac

4181 i complaints cor i o pri\}acyond losses of customer dato
Reporiing Principles Nolincidents.
Glabal Compach Communlcation | 419: Socioeconomic compliance ) — j -
9 PO . #19-1 Non-compliance with laws and regulations in the social and economic area
® GRIContent Index Noincidents.

GRI102 General disclosure
‘GRI 103 Management approach
GRI200 Economic
GRI300 Environmental
# GRI400 Social

Independent practifioner’s assurance
report

Flnnair - Annual Report 2021
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VERIFAVIA SARL ('VERIFAVIA) has been engaged
by Finnair to perform an independent verification
with limited assurance of the scope 1,2 and select
scope 3 carboninventory data for the calendar
year 2021 (January 1,2021 - December 31,2021) as
presented in the sustainability appendix of Finnair’s
annual report. Scope 2 emissions were calculated
using location-based and market-based emission
factors but for reporting purposes, only the
market-based emissions factor was used. Scope 3
emissions consisted of the fossil fuel transportation
and production, the renewable fuel transportations
and production, and the business travels.

Except for the section "302: Energy” and for the
year 2021, ali other information in the sustainability
appendix of Finnair's annual report is not subject to
our assurance engagement and we do not report
and do not opine on this information.

The Strategy and Business Development
Department of Finnair is responsible for the
preparation and presentation of the sustainability
appendix of Finnair's annual report. We are
responsible for providing an Assurance Statement
onthe reported annual environmental data
presented in the appendix. VERIFAVIA disclaims
any liability or responsibility to a third party for
decisions, whetherinvestment or otherwise, based
on this Assurance Statement.

Criteria

We conducted the independent audit based on
the following verification criteria:

1SO14065:2013 - Greenhouse gases —
requirements for greenhouse gas validation and
verification bodies for use in accreditation or
other forms of recognition

1SO 14064-3:2019 - Greenhouse Gases —
Specification with guidance for the validation
and verification of greenhouse gas emissions
and removals

Chapter 10 of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol — ‘A
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard”
{Revised Edition)

Responsibilities

Finnair is solely responsible for the preparation
and reporting of their carbon inventory data, for
any information and assessments that support

the reported data, for determining the group’s
objectivesinrelation to carbon information and
management, and for establishing and maintaining
appropriate performance management and
internal control systems from which reported
informationis derived.

In accordance with the verification contract, it is
our responsibility to form anindependent opinion,

Susta Appendix

J

based on the examination of information and data
presented in the sustainability appendix of Finnair's
annual report, and to report that opinion to Finnair.

We also report if, in our opinion:

« the carboninventory datais ormay
be associated with misstatements
(omissions, misrepresentations, or errors) or
non-conformities; or

« the verification team/verifierhas not received all
the information and explanations that it requires
to conduct its examination; or

+ improvements can be made to the company’s
performance in monitoring and reporting of
carbon inventory data.

We conducted our examination having regard to
the verification criteria documents listed above.
This involved a virtual site visit on 10 December
2021, toinferview the staff responsible fo give us
reasonable assurance that the amounts and
disclosures relating to the data have been properly
prepared in accordance with the requirements of
the Greenhouse Gas Protocol in terms of relevance,
completeness, consistency, transparency, and
accuracy. This also involved assessing where
necessary estimates and judgements made by
Finnair in preparing the data and considering the
overall adequacy of the presentation of the data

in the sustainability appendix of Finnair's annual
report.
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Independent statement

We confirm that VERIFAVIA and the verification
leam are independent of Finnair and have not
assisted in any way with the development of the
carboninventory or in the preparation of any text
ordata providedin the sustainability appendix of
Finnair’s annual report, except for this Assurance
Statement.

Opinion

We conducted a verification of the carbon
inventory datareported by Finnairin the
sustainability appendix of Finnair's annual report
and presented above. Based on the verification
work undertaken to limited assurance, these data
are fairly stated and contain no material
misstatements or material non-conformities.

Paris, 09 February 2022

ERFAVIA SARL

Nicolas DUCHENE, COO & VP Technical,

VERIFAVIA SARL VERIFAVIA SARL

Sustainabilily Appendix

Mathias GROSSMANN, Aviation & Airports Director,
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Contact information

House of Travel and Transportation
Finnair Oyj

Tietotie 9 A (Helsinki Airport)

01053 FINNAIR

Tel. +358 600 0 81881
{1,25 €/answered call + local charge)

companyfinnaircom
investors.finnaircom

www.facebook.com/finnair
www facebook.com/finnairsuomi

www twittercom/Finnair
wwwiwittercom/FinnairSuomi

https://blog finnaircom/en/
https://blog finnaircom/

QN €+ |

www.instagram.com/feelfinnair/
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